Place name: Arden and Woodside Citation No:
Other names: - 2331
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Address: 2 and 12 Hotham Grove, Heritage Precinct: Not applicable
Ripponlea
Heritage Overlay: HO418
Category: Residential: House
Graded as: Significant
Style: Victorian

Victorian Heritage Register: No
Constructed: 1886, 1889

Designer: Unknown
Amendment: C206port

Comment: Updated citation

The houses Arden and Woodside at 2 and 12 Hotham Grove, Ripponlea, are significant. No. 2 was built in
1889 by Joseph William Wild for himself and no. 12 was built in 1886 by John Reynolds and George
Davidson Wright.

The detached, single-storey weatherboard houses, although of different designs, are both double-fronted
and have with symmetrical compositions.

No. 2 has a T-shaped footprint enveloped on three sides by a double return verandah (supported on
timber posts on roughcast rendered piers and likely rebuilt during the Interwar period) with projecting
gabled wings to each side. The slate-clad hipped roof has three rendered chimneys with moulded caps. The
doorway has highlight and sidelight windows, flanked by rectangular windows with timber-framed double-
hung sashes. The projecting side wings have a pierced timber bargeboard to the gable ends with a finial, a
quatrefoil vent (missing cover/register), and each has two. To the rear is a skillion roofed section with an
angled side in response to the triangular site.

No.I2 has a slate-clad hipped roof with paired brackets to the eaves and a single rendered chimney (the
other chimney has been removed). The rectangular windows are timber-framed, double hung sashes (single
pane). The doorway has highlight and sidelight windows, flanked by rectangular windows with timber-
framed double-hung sashes. To the rear are skillion sections that can be seen from the laneway. The full
width skillion verandah has been altered, probably during the Interwar period.

Alterations and additions are not significant. The current paint colour schemes are not significant.
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The houses at 2 and 12 Hotham Grove, Ripponlea are of local historical and representative significance to
the City of Port Phillip.

The houses are historically significant for their association with an early phase of development in Ripponlea
during the prosperous peak of Melbourne’s boom period of the 1880s which saw subdivision and land
speculation intensify across the suburbs in areas such as Elwood, Balaclava, Ripponlea, and St Kilda East,
although this did not always eventuate in development. In Ripponlea, despite intensified interest, the
absence of a station stalled widespread development until into the 20t century - the small pocket of mid-
late 1880s subdivisional development in Hotham Grove was a rare exception and likely arose due to its
proximity to the station in the neighbouring suburb of Elsternwick. (Criterion A)

They are of representative significance as largely intact examples of modest late Victorian timber housing in
Ripponlea. They have a double-fronted symmetrical composition, a less common format for this period
when asymmetrical compositions were favoured, but are otherwise typical with hipped roofs, rendered
chimneys and front verandahs. No. 2 is a somewhat unusual and distinctive example notable for its atypical
plan form comprising a T-shaped footprint with a double return verandah to three sides of the building.
While 1880s timber houses are not uncommon elsewhere in the municipality, there are few comparable
examples in Ripponlea and adjacent suburb Elwood which saw limited development until the early 20th
century. They are part of a small proximate group of surviving 1880s timber houses which also include 7, 9
and 10 Hotham Grove and |-5 Bell Street. (Criterion D)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.1 Early dwellings, 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development),
5.3 Diverse Housing (5.3.2 Workers and artisan housing)

The development of St Kilda began following the first land sales in 1842 and by 1854 there were over two
hundred houses. The plan compiled in 1855 by James Kearney shows that most of these were situated to
the west of Brighton Road (later High Street and now St Kilda Road). By comparison, the land east of
Brighton Road was largely undeveloped.

In 1859, the railway to Brighton was opened and the establishment of the Balaclava station spurred
subdivision and development in the St Kilda East and Balaclava areas. While a station was also evidently
proposed at Ripponlea at this time (on Glen Eira Road) (Age 7 Sep 1859 p7) it did not eventuate until 1912.
Consequently, the Ripponlea area remained dominated by larger estates such as Erindale and Quat Quatta
and development was limited until into the 20t century.

During the peak of Melbourne’s building boom in the 1880s, prosperity saw land speculation intensify
across the suburbs in areas such as Elwood, Balaclava, Ripponlea, and St Kilda East. Despite the eager
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subdivision of land however, the actual building of homes in these more remote subdivisions was often
slow. For instance, the 1888 subdivision of the East St Kilda Estate in the northern part of Ripponlea
created 100 allotments between Glen Eira Road and Grosvenor Street, but relatively few of these were
developed during the |9t century.

The late 19t century pocket of development in the southern part of Ripponlea, in the vicinity of Hotham
Grove, was supported by the nearby station at Elsternwick (established in 1859) which is situated just
outside the municipality’s boundaries.

The subject sites formed part of Crown portions 259 (52 acres) and 268 (3% acres), Parish of Prahran at
Elsternwick, County of Bourke, purchased at an unknown date (presumably 1850s) by ] M Holloway, who
also purchased a third adjoining allotment, 269, to the south (PP). Holloway, of Northampton Buildings in
Acland Street, subsequently had the area surveyed for subdivision by surveyor, Sydney W Smith (SP).
Hotham Grove at the time was named Susan Street. John Reynolds, a gentleman of Windsor, purchased the
allotments associated with Susan Street.

The 1873 Vardy plan shows that Susan Street was not yet formed and there was no development in its
vicinity. By the following year however Susan Street was listed in the rate book (RB 1874 Nov. no. 1918),
although the street remained undeveloped. In 1887 the street was renamed Hotham Grove (RB). Hotham
Grove was fully developed during the second half of the 1880s, mostly with timber houses, including a
group of ten built in 1888 (of which only nos 7, 9 and 10 survive). The only brick house was no. 23, built in
1887 and set on a larger allotment.

No. 12

By 1877, a 2 roomed timber house with a NAV of £12 had been erected on the then combined site of nos
12 and 14 for owner occupier James Gerald Bailey, a painter (RB 1877 Dec. no. 2061; CT v.1353 f. 423). In
1884, the allotment comprising nos 12 and 14 was transferred to William Murray, gentleman of Caulfield,
and the following year, in 1885, was transferred again to John Reynolds and George Davidson Wright, both
builders of Windsor and Prahran respectively (CT v.1766 f.149). By the end of 1886, the earlier house had
been replaced with a pair of five-roomed timber houses at nos.12 and 14 (presumably built by Reynolds and
Wright) each with a NAV of £40 (RB 1886 Dec. nos 2810, 281 1). No. 12 was initially tenanted by Kate
Broom, a tailoress. In 1889, nos 12 and 14 were transferred to Thomas Cragg, gentleman of East Brighton
(CT v.2141 f.141). By the end of the 1890s, Cragg was residing at no. 12 which he named ‘Woodside’ (SM)
In 1919, the property was subdivided and thereafter nos. 12 and 14 were in different ownership (CT v.4093
£.559).

No. 2

Much of the other land in Hotham Grove, which at the time was owned by timber merchant John Perry of
Russell Street Melbourne, formed part of a residential subdivision that was gazetted in August 1887 (LP
1622; CT v.1765 £.955). In May 1888, the site of no. 2 was purchased by the builders John Reynolds and
George Davidson Wright, as were some other allotments on the north side of the street. Two months
later in July 1888, it was transferred to Joseph William Wild who in rate books was variously described as a
builder or carpenter (CT v. 2028 £.596). The November 1888 rate book records Wild as the owner of a
still vacant lot, while the 1890 rate book records Wild as the owner occupier of a four-roomed timber
house with a NAV of £36. Unlike no. 12, Wild seems to have been responsible for the house’s construction
rather than Reynolds and Wright.

Subsequent occupants included James Miller, plumber (1893), Miss Constance Giles, costumier (1894-95)
and Alfred Brett (1897-98), Roger Cleghorn (1900-03), John Loller (1904) and F C R Spottiswood (1905).
During this period, the house was listed in directories as 6 Hotham Grove and, in the first few years of the
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twentieth century, was also identified as ‘Arden’ (SM). By 1910, the street address had been renumbered as
no. 2.

General

The 1905 MMBWV plan shows the footprints of the two subject houses. No. 2 (then numbered 5) is shown
with a front verandah that returns on both sides, while no. 12 is shown with a front verandah that extends
the full width of the fagade. Freestanding water closets were located to the rear boundaries.

i 1134 @

'i“!H‘!\!“W‘?"!')"\]r""‘”""‘:! T O T T T

SN
SR,

T S

133¥LS

Figure 1- MMBW Detail Plan No. 1465 (dated 1905). The two subject sites are indicated with stars. (Source: State Library of
Victoria)

The 1945 aerial photograph shows a similar situation to the earlier MMBW plan. Many of the houses in
Hotham Grove were subsequently replaced.
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Hotham Grove

-

Figure 2 - Aerial photograph dated 1945, showing the subject sites. (Source: Landata, Proj No 5, Run 16, Frame 57847)

Certificates of Title (CT)

Newspapers, various

Parish Plan - at Elwood, Parish of Prahran, P81-13 (PP)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021
Sands and McDougall’s street directories (SM)

St Kilda Rate Books (RB) 1859-1900 viewed at Ancestry.com

Subdivision Plan (SP): ‘Plan of subdivision of portions 259, 268 and 269, parish of Prahran, forming part of
St. Kilda’. Held in Vale Collection, State Library of Victoria. Undated, but estimated to be 1860s.

The houses at 2 and 12 Hotham Grove are located on the south side of the street. Although of different
designs, the houses are both detached single-storey double-fronted late Victorian timber villas with
symmetrical compositions. The front fences are not original but are sympathetic low timber types.

No. 2

Occupying a triangular-shaped corner site, the house has a slate-clad hipped roof penetrated by three
rendered chimneys with moulded caps. The walls are clad in weatherboards. The house is of note for its
relatively unusual form, with projecting gabled wings to each side, clad in corrugated sheet metal, forming a
squat T-shaped footprint, enveloped on three sides by a double return verandah. The verandah, likely
rebuilt during the Interwar period, now comprises a low-pitched hipped roof, clad in corrugated metal
sheeting and supported on turned timber posts (and one stop-chamfered post) that are surmounted by
capped brick piers with a roughcast rendered finish. Otherwise, the symmetrical fagade has a central
doorway (with highlight and sidelight windows) flanked by rectangular windows with timber-framed double-
hung sashes. The projecting side wings have a pierced timber bargeboard to the gable ends with a finial, a
quatrefoil vent (missing cover/register), and each has two windows — one of which opens onto the
verandah space. To the rear is a skillion roofed section.

No.l2
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The house has a slate-clad hipped roof with paired brackets to the eaves and a pair of rendered chimneys.

The walls are clad in weatherboards. The windows to the front are timber-framed, double hung sashes
(single pane) with moulded timber architraves. The front door - panelled with upper glazed panel is not
original (typical of the early 20t century) is surrounded by highlights and sidelights. The rear skillion parts
survive and can be seen from the laneway.

The full width verandah has been altered a few times. It has a skillion roof clad in slate, which is unusual and
likely an alteration (the minimum pitch for slate is 20 degrees), and projecting rafter ends, which is
suggestive of an Interwar period modification. Currently it is supported by square timber posts and has a
low screen/balustrade however until recently, there were circa mid-20th century decorative metal pilasters.

The subject group of houses are intact examples of modest late Victorian timber housing in Ripponlea.
They were part of the same 1880s subdivision and survive as remnants of a pocket of late |9t century
housing in the southern tip of the municipality close to the Elsternwick station (which lies outside municipal
boundaries). While not an uncommon building type elsewhere in the municipality, there are few examples
in the southern most suburbs (that is, Ripponlea and Elwood) which saw limited development until the
early 20th century.

The houses have double-fronted symmetrical compositions, a less common format for this period when
asymmetrical compositions were favoured. They are otherwise typical of the period with hipped roofs,
rendered chimneys and front verandahs. While they have undergone some alteration, as almost invariably
occurs with early timber cottages, importantly they retain original building formats and chimneys. Where
fabric has been replaced it has generally been in a similar manner or in keeping with the original
character/period.

Other individually significant late Victorian timber houses in and around Hotham Grove include 7, 9 and 10
Hotham Grove (Citation 2332) which adopt a more typical asymmetrical composition and |-5 Bell Street
(Citation 2346) which are narrow single-fronted gable roofed cottages. Other surviving Victorian houses in
Ripponlea tend to be masonry and more substantial. The most pertinent nearby comparisons in terms of
building type are in John Street, Elwood, including no. 10 (not in heritage overlay), and the cohesive row at
nos 24-30 (Citation 2333) which have bay windows to one side lending a suggestion of asymmetry. There
are two examples at | and 17 Clarke Street, Elwood, neither of which are included in the heritage overlay.

None of the above examples however are truly comparable to 2 Hotham Street, which is of particular
interest for its unusual plan form: namely, a T-shaped plan with a return verandah on three sides of the
building. The MMBW map of Elwood (c.1897) shows that there were once a number of such villas in the
area, albeit invariably of masonry rather than timber construction. Most of these, however, have been
demolished. By far the most comparable example was the double-fronted symmetrical timber villa lvica at
95 Ormond Road, which had a double return verandah and canted bay windows, however has been
demolished.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.
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Amend HO418 in the HO schedule and map to include 12 Hotham Grove, Ripponlea.

Apply external paint controls in the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay (to ensure complementary colour
schemes are employed).

RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review
Stage 2, 2021

Heritage Alliance, Elwood Heritage Review, 2005
Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

12 Hotham Grove
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Place name: Houses

Other names: Citation No:
2332
INSERT MAP
Address: 7,9 and 10 Hotham Grove, Heritage Precinct: Not applicable
Ripponlea
Heritage Overlay: HO419
Category: Residential: House

Graded as: Significant

Style: Victorian: Italianate

Victorian Heritage Register: No
Constructed: 1888

Designer: Unknown
Amendment: TBC

Comment: Updated citation

The housesat 7, 9 and |0 Hotham Grove, Ripponlea, built 1888 by Patrick John Murphy for the Premier
Permanent Building Land and Investment Association, are significant.

Detached, single-storey, double-fronted timber houses with asymmetrical fagades. Hipped roofs with
bracketed eaves, pairs of rendered chimneys, and hip roofed verandahs. Nos 7 and 10 retain a slate roof,
while no. 9 has been reclad with metal sheeting. Walls are clad in shiplapped boards to the facades and
weatherboards to the sides. Verandah detailing, including cast iron friezes, differs to each (unclear what
elements may be original). Front windows are in a tripartite arrangementand are timber framed double
hung sashes (single pane) with moulded timber architraves. The front doors are timber panelled
surrounded by highlights and sidelights. The rear skillion parts survive to no. 10.

Alterations and additions are not significant. The current paint colour schemes are not significant.

The housesat 7, 9 and 10 Hotham Grove, Ripponlea are of local historical and representative significance
to the City of Port Phillip.

The houses are historically significant for their association with an early phase of developmentin Ripponlea
during the prosperous peak of Melbourne’s boom period of the 1880s which saw land speculation intensify
across the suburbs in areas such as Elwood, Balaclava, Ripponlea, and St Kilda East, although this did not
always eventuate in development. In Ripponlea, despite intensified interest, the absence of a station stalled
widespread development until into the 20t century - the small pocket of mid-late 1880s development in
Hotham Grove was a rare exception and likely arose due to its proximity to the station in the neighbouring
suburb of Elsternwick. The three houses are remnants of an original group of ten identical timber houses
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which were built to both sides of Hotham Grove for the Premier Permanent Building Land and Investment
Association, one of the largest building societies operating in Melbourne at the time. (Criterion A)

The three houses are of representative significance as largely intact examples of modest late Victorian
timber housing in Ripponlea, which, typical of the 1880s, have double-fronted asymmetrical compositions,
hipped roofs, rendered chimneys and front verandahs. Originally built to the same design, they demonstrate
the recurring use of standard designs in speculative Boom-era subdivisions such as these. While not an
uncommon building type elsewhere in the municipality, there are few comparable examples in Ripponlea
and adjacent suburb Elwood which saw limited development until the early 20th century. They are part of a
small proximate group of surviving 1880s timber houses which also include 2 and 12 Hotham Grove and | -
5 Bell Street. (Criterion D)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.1 Early dwellings, 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development),
5.3 Diverse Housing (5.3.2 Workers and artisan housing)

The development of St Kilda began following the first land sales in 1842 and by 1854 there were over two
hundred houses. The plan compiled in 1855 by James Kearney shows that most of these were situated to
the west of Brighton Road (later High Street and now St Kilda Road). By comparison, the land east of
Brighton Road was largely undeveloped.

In 1859, the railway to Brighton was opened and the establishment of the Balaclava station spurred
subdivision and development in the St Kilda East and Balaclava areas. While a station was also evidently
proposed at Ripponlea at this time (on Glen Eira Road) (Age 7 Sep 1859 p7) it did not eventuate until 1912.
Consequently, the Ripponlea area remained dominated by larger estates such as Erindale and Quat Quatta
and development was limited until into the 20t century.

During the peak of Melbourne’s boom period in the 1880s, prosperity saw land speculation intensify across
the suburbs in areas such as Elwood, Balaclava, Ripponlea, and St Kilda East. Despite the eager subdivision
of land however, the actual building of homes in these more remote subdivisions was often slow. For
instance, the 1888 subdivision of the East St Kilda Estate in the northern part of Ripponlea created 100
allotments between Glen Eira Road and Grosvenor Street, but relatively few of these were developed
during the 19t century.

The late 19t century pocket of development in the southern part of Ripponlea, in the vicinity of Hotham
Grove, was supported by the nearby station at Elsternwick (established in 1859) which is situated just
outside the municipality’s boundaries.

The subject sites formed part of Crown portions 259 (52 acres) and 268 (3% acres), Parish of Prahran at
Elsternwick, County of Bourke, purchased at an unknown date (presumably 1850s) by | M Holloway, who
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also purchased a third adjoining allotment, 269, to the south (PP). Holloway, of Northampton Buildings in
Acland Street, subsequently had the area surveyed for subdivision by surveyor, Sydney W Smith (SP).
Hotham Grove at the time was named Susan Street. John Reynolds, a gentleman of Windsor, purchased the
allotments associated with Susan Street.

The 1873 Vardy plan shows that Susan Street was not yet formed and there was no developmentin its
vicinity. By the following year however Susan Street was listed in the rate book (RB 1874 Nov. no. 1918),
although the street remained undeveloped. In 1887 the street was renamed Hotham Grove (RB). Hotham
Grove was fully developed during the second half of the 1880s, mostly with timber houses (the only brick
house was no. 23, built in 1887 and set on a larger allotment).

In August 1887, a residential subdivision was gazetted comprising much of the land in Hotham Grove, which
at the time was owned by timber merchant John Perry of Russell Street Melbourne (LP 1622; CT v.1765
f.955). Rate books show that, by the end of 1887, six allotments on the north side of the street (numbered
5-10) and four allotments on the south side (numbered 29-32), each 40ft wide, were owned by P | Murphy
(presumably Patrick John Murphy), each valued at £9 (RB 1887 Dec. nos 3257-3262, 3274-3277). Patrick
John Murphy was a building contractor associated with (or financially backed by) the Premier Permanent
Building Land and Investment Association who were the officially recorded owners on the Certificate of
Title (Argus 24 Jun 1890 p9).

The Premier Permanent Building Land and Investment Association was one of the largest building societies
during Melbourne's land boom of the 1880s, and one of the first to collapse in March 1890 when it was
liquidated having accumulated large debts. Subsequently, the society was the subject of a court case in
response to alleged fraudulent activity and general mismanagement, in which Murphy was implicated and
numbered amongst the defendants (Kerang Times 2 May 1890 p3).
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Figure | - Diagram showing the 10 allotments (shaded red) developed by the Premier Permanent Building Land and Investment
Association (Source: Certificate of Title vol. 201 | fol. 154)

The 1888 rate book records that 10 five-roomed timber houses (including the three subject houses), each
valued at £40, had been built on these lots (RB 1888 Nov. nos 3778-3783, 3789-3792). The new houses
were either leased or sold. The rate book for 1891 records that all three houses were owner occupied: no.
7 by gardener Jacob Bacon, no. 9 by tanner Peter Cherry, and no. 10 by bookkeeper John Clark (RB 1891
Jan. nos 3943, 3944, 3953).
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The 1905 MMBWV plan (Figure 2) shows the three subject houses, then numbered 2, 3 and 10. All ten of
the houses in the subdivisional development had the same asymmetric footprint at the front with part-
width verandahs, although there was variation in the configuration at the rear probably due to later
additions/alterations. Water closets and other freestanding outbuildings were located to the rear

boundaries.
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Figure 2- MMBW Detail Plan No. 1465 (dated 1905). The subject houses are indicated with stars. (Source: State Library of
Victoria)

The 1945 aerial photograph (Figure 3) shows a similar situation to the earlier MMBWV plan. Subsequently,
seven of the ten houses were demolished.

Hotham Grove

Figure 3 - Aerial photograph dated | 945, showing the subject houses. (Source: Landata, Proj No 5, Run |6, Frame 57847)
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Certificates of Title (CT)

Newspapers, various

Parish Plan - at Elwood, Parish of Prahran, P81-13 (PP)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021

Sands and McDougall’s street directories (SM)
St Kilda Rate Books (RB) 1859-1900 viewed at Ancestry.com

Subdivision Plan (SP): ‘Plan of subdivision of portions 259, 268 and 269, parish of Prahran, forming part of
St. Kilda’. Held in Vale Collection, State Library of Victoria. Undated, but estimated to be 1860s.

The three sitesat 7, 9 and 10 Hotham Grove are rectangular and located on both sides of Hotham Grove.
The houses are detached single-storey double-fronted late Victorian timber houses. They are, or were,
more or less identical in their form and detailing: hipped U-shaped roofs with bracketed eaves and pairs of
rendered chimneys, and asymmetrical facades with hip-roofed verandahs. The houses at nos 7 and 10 retain
a slate roof, while no. 9 has been reclad with metal sheeting.

The verandah detailing varies to each, and it is unclear what elements may be original - all have cast iron
friezes (different designs), and nos 7 and 9 also have cast iron posts (plain and fluted respectively) while no.
10 has square timber posts.

The walls are clad in horizontally orientated shiplapped boards to the facades and weatherboards to the
sides. The windows to the front are in a tripartite arrangement and are all timber framed double hung
sashes (single pane) with moulded timber architraves. The front doors are timber panelled surrounded by
highlights and sidelights. The windows to the projecting bays have canopies in different formats.

The rear skillion parts survive to no. 10 and are visible from the east side which is exposed. The rear parts
to nos 7 and 9 have been replaced.

The front gardens have various plantings including trees and bushes. The front fences are neither original
nor early, with nos 7 and 10 being timber and no. 9 being brick.

The subject group of houses are intact examples of modest late Victorian timber housing in Ripponlea.
They were part of the same 1880s speculative development and survive as remnants of a pocket of late |9t
century housing in the southern tip of the municipality close to the Elsternwick station (which lies outside
municipal boundaries). While not an uncommon building type elsewhere in the municipality, there are few
examples in the southern most suburbs (that is, Ripponlea and Elwood) which saw limited development
until the early 20th century.

The houses are typical of the 1880s, having a double-fronted asymmetrical composition, hipped roof and
front verandahs. While they have all undergone some alteration, as almost invariably occurs with early
timber cottages, importantly they retain original building formats and chimneys. Where fabric has been
replaced it has generally been in a similar manner or in keeping with the original character/period.

Other individually significant late Victorian timber houses in and around Hotham Grove include 2 and 12
Hotham Grove (Citation 233 1), which have a symmetrical fagade, and |-5 Bell Street (Citation 2346), which
are narrow single-fronted gable roofed cottages. Other surviving Victorian houses in Ripponlea tend to be
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masonry and more substantial. The most pertinent nearby comparisons in terms of building type are 20-28
Moore Street, Elwood, a group of five late Victorian houses which have a similar asymmetric composition
however with ashlar boarding to the fagade (Contributory within HO404 precinct).

The subject group of houses also provide evidence of the former extent of a typical Boom-era residential
subdivision and, moreover, the repeated use of standard designs in such estates. In this regard, the houses
can be compared to a few surviving rows or pairs of Victorian housing across Elwood, including the
aforementioned row at 20-28 Moore Street, the row at 24-30 John Street of double-fronted symmetrical
timber villas (Citation 2333, HO420), and the two pairs at 54-56 Spray Street (Citation 2343, HO434) and
99-101 Tennyson Street (not in Heritage Overlay) (all double-fronted asymmetrical rendered brick villas,
since much altered).

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Amend HO419 in the Heritage Overlay schedule and map to include 10 Hotham Grove, Ripponlea.

Apply external paint controls in the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay (to ensure complementary colour
schemes are employed).

RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review
Stage 2, 2021

Heritage Alliance, Elwood Heritage Review, 2005
Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

No. 7 (left), no. 9 (right)

Page 6 7 opwnd



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: 2332

Page 7 T pwt



Citation No:

Place name: Sheffield Manor & Wansbeck
2431

Other names: -

818104
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Heritage Precinct: Not applicable

Address: 110 &125 Westbury Street,
Balaclava
Heritage Overlay: HO561
Category: Residential: Flats
Graded as: Significant
Style: Interwar: Old English
Victorian Heritage Register: No

Constructed: 1938
Designer: James H Wardrop
Amendment: C206port

Comment: New citation

Sheffield Manor at | 10 Westbury Street and Wansbeck at 125 Westbury Street, Balaclava, designed by
James H Wardrop are significant.

Sheffield Manor was constructed by | A Trencher for owners Myer and Sarah Lasky in 1937-38. It is a brick
building with a terracotta tiled roof, expressed as two volumes: a single-storey section at the front and
double-storey behind it. The front section is clad in clinker brick, while the two-storey section employs
clinker and salmon bricks used in bands and other decorative patterns. Both sections have a hipped roof,
though the two-storey volume also has gables to two elevations. Applied ornament to both sections
consists of large timber brackets supporting window and door hoods. The driveway is entered via a clinker
brick gateway, with the building’s name in mild-steel lettering. The garages are also contributory elements.

Wansbeck was created out of the conversion and extension of a 1914 single-storey house for owner John
Clough in 1938. It is a two-storey apartment building with a complex hipped roof and projecting front
gabled volume, all clad with terracotta tiles. There is a front chimney, sitting to one side of the front gable.
Walls are of red brick, with a vertical band of clinker and salmon bricks to the front facade. The north side
of the front fagade has a curved balcony, set below a tiled hood on large timber brackets. The garages,

brick fence and metal pedestrian gate are also contributory elements.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

The flats at | 10 (Sheffield Manor) and 125 (Wansbeck) Westbury Street, Balaclava are of local historical
and aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.
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Sheffield Manor and Wansbeck are of historical significance as representative of flats constructed during the
Interwar period when huge growth in flat development characterised St Kilda and Elwood as the transition
from detached single family dwellings to flat living became increasingly popular encouraged by the proximity
to the beach, parklands and good public transport networks. Sheffield Manor was designed to appear like
‘one large home’, with a single-storey front volume transitioning to a two-storey rear section. This
contextual design allowed it to fit into the Westbury Street streetscape which was still transitioning from
single-family homes to denser development. Wansbeck illustrates another characteristic manner in which
this transition took place: the conversion of an earlier dwelling into flats, which is a distinctive building
typology in the St Kilda. While some conversion designs were of poor-quality, both aesthetically and in
regard to amenity, Wansbeck was designed seamlessly with great skill, resulting in a skilfully massed
composition that incorporates the red-brick materiality and window details of the 1914 house. (Criterion
A)

Sheffield Manor and Wansbeck are of aesthetic significance as intact examples of the late 1930s fashion to
combine historicising styles, in this case Old English/Tudor Revival, with the ahistorical Moderne style. They
exemplify the idiosyncratic approach of the architect James H Wardrop who was adept at working with
these two styles, both individually and in combination to create hybrid designs, and who was responsible
for a number of flats in the municipality. Both buildings exhibit characteristics of Old English, such as
vergeless gables, and timber brackets to porches and hoods, and characteristics of Moderne such as
multicoloured brickwork in horizontal and vertical bands, and the use of small parapets and chimneys as
vertical accents. The curved rendered balcony, with incised horizontal lines at VWansbeck is also strongly
Moderne. Both flats are distinguished by their lively use of multicoloured brickwork. Wansbeck employs a
broad vertical band of alternating solider courses of salmon and dark clinker bricks on a backdrop of red
bricks with a curved brown glazed centre element. Sheffield Manor features salmon and clinker brickwork,
used as banding, recessed vertical lines and in soldier courses. Sheffield Manor is further aesthetically
distinguished by the sculptural massing of the two-storey volume, with a vergeless gable abutting a short
length of parapet and a corner chimney. (Criterion E)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.5 Higher-density housing)

The early twentieth century saw a marked decline in the viability of large mansions across Melbourne’s
suburbs in general, but it was particularly felt in the more affluent inner southern suburbs such as St Kilda
and Brighton, where land was highly sought-after by a new generation of homebuilders seeking smaller
detached dwellings, duplexes or flats. The trend toward higher-density living in St Kilda began with the
conversion of mansions and terrace houses into boarding houses in the early 1900s and continued with the
first purpose-built flats that appeared at the beginning of World War I. A 1919 newspaper article noted:

It was held to be no longer necessary to labour with a house and all the domestic drudgery that entailed
when by borrowing Continental ideas, people who could afford it could live in flats... Land has become so
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valuable the villa of the Victorian days, in a crowded thoroughfare, no longer shows anything like an adequate
return of interest on the land’s present capital value. It is more profitable to pull the house erected thereon
down, and to erect flats. When the flat became popular in England the experiment was made in St Kilda,
and it did not take long to discover there was a genuine demand for flats (Prahran Telegraph 18 Oct 1919

p4)

Higher-density housing in the form of boarding houses paved the way to flat development. Flats first
appeared in Melbourne around 1906 and slowly spread to the suburbs. They followed a strong pattern of
development, appearing close to transport routes, particularly along or within walking distance of tram
routes, to allow easy travel to the city. With their proximity to the beach and parklands, good public
transport networks and seaside character, the suburbs of St Kilda and Elwood were especially popular
locations for flats. Flats became a dominant characteristic of St Kilda and Elwood, and still make up a high
percentage of dwellings in those areas. They include some of the earliest surviving flats in Melbourne, some
of the best examples of architectural styles and types of flats, and as a group demonstrate the increasing
popularity of the lifestyle of flat living from the early twentieth century (TEH).

There was huge growth in flat development in St Kilda and Elwood in the 1920 and 1930s, attracting
migrants, single people, and people of diverse sexuality. In 1920 there were 527 purpose-built flats in 92
blocks in St Kilda municipality. By 1925 this had increased to 884 flats in 164 blocks, including large
complexes such as the Ardoch flats in Dandenong Road. By 1935, despite a slowing of development due to
the Great Depression, there were more than 2,800 flats in over 500 blocks. A further 2,000 flats were
added by 1940; however, the onset of World War Il slowed development. Nonetheless, by 1947 St Kilda
contained 5,500 purpose-built flats, a quarter of all flats in Melbourne (TEH).

Westbury Street, with access to Alma Park and tram routes at either end, and close to Balaclava Railway
Station, became a popular location for flats during the Interwar period. The first block, constructed in 1927
at the south end of the street (now 147 Westbury Close), was to remain the only flats until 1934, when a
further three blocks were built. This was the start of minor boom in flat building in the street, which saw at
least a further 12 blocks constructed in the five years from 1935 to 1940 (SM).

The subject sites formed part of Crown portion |53A, parish of Prahran at East St Kilda (PP). The four-acre
allotment was purchased in November 1853 by W R Belcher. No development is shown on this land on
the 1855 Kearney Plan of Melbourne. Westbury Street was originally known as Bull Street until 1865 when
the name was changed at the request of the street’s residents (Herald 30 March 1865 p3).

The 1873 Vardy plan (Figure |) shows there was residential development along much of Carlisle Street.
The land that now comprises 125 Westbury Street was part of the rear yard of a villa facing Carlisle Street.
The extensive land of this villa (blocks 171-173 on the Vardy Plan) was owned by George Rolfe. The land
that that now comprises |10 Westbury Street was the rear yard of an attached pair of dwellings. This land
was also owned by George Rolfe (blocks 190 & 191), as was the large block to the north (No. 189) and
several blocks of land to the west fronting Blenheim Street (Nos. 177-179).

George Rolfe and his son, also George Rolfe, were partners in Rolfe and Co., merchants, headquartered on
Bourke Street, Melbourne. George Sr. had emigrated from England to Adelaide in 1848 and was a member

of the Victorian Parliament in the 1860s. His daughter, Marian Australia, was married to Frederick Thomas

Sargood (the first owner of Ripponlea house), who was also a partner in Rolfe and Co.

In 1870, George Sr. and George Jr. lived quite near the subject sites - George Jr. on the north side of
Carlisle Street, just east of Balston Street, while George Sr. lived on the south side of the street, around
239 Carlisle Street (neither of these houses survive). By the time of his death in December 1871, George
Sr. resided on Balaclava Road (Telegraph, St Kilda, Prahran and South Yarra Guardian 23 Dec 1871 p8).

From his probate, it is clear that it was George Rolfe Sr. who owned the subject sites, and not his son. At
the time of his death in 1871, George Sr. had extensive landholdings in the area. This included land and two
houses on Blenheim Street, his own house on Carlisle Street as well as ‘lrona’, ‘Aston Lodge’, ‘Woodslee’
and two more unnamed houses on that street, and vacant land at the corner of Alma and Brighton roads,

TY
A O,

%;\, i >

v
Page 3 pu’



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: 2431

at the corner of St Kilda Road and Carlisle Street, and on Westbury Street. George Sr. also owned the
company headquarters on Bourke Street, and land elsewhere in Victoria.
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Figure | - Plan of the Borough of St Kilda, No. 2 south-west (J.E.S. Vardy, 1873). Showing part of Crown allotment |53A, and
the approximate location of the subject sites (outlined) (Source: St Kilda Historical Society).

From late 1879, the blocks containing the attached dwellings on the east corner (including 110 Westbury
Street) was owned by John Blythe Lucas, a ‘gentleman’ of Swanston Street, Melbourne (CT). He took a
mortgage out against the property in 1890 to Walter Lucas and William Lucas Flint. Instead of discharging
the mortgage, he transferred the property to four members of his family in 1897. Various members of the
Lucas family resided at 326 Carlisle Street (the eastern attached dwelling, labelled 191 on the Vardy Plan)

until the Interwar period.

By 1889, the villa site on the west corner (including 125 Westbury Street) was owned by William Cross
Yuille. Yuille was one of the first Tasmanian settlers in the Port Phillip District, arriving in 1837 with a flock
of sheep. He initially settled in Ballarat, then moved to Melbourne in 1839 where he became a well-known
horse trader and recognised authority on horse-racing in Victoria for over 40 years. Yuille lived on George
Street, East Melbourne, at the time of his death in 1894 (Australasian 21 July 1894 p15). He did not reside at

the Carlisle Street property.

In 1891, Yuille sold to Alfred Fowler, whose address was already Carlisle Street, and nurseryman George
Brunning, of Brighton Road. After George Brunning died, in 1893, his half of the property was inherited by
sons George Edward and Herbert George Brunning, also nurserymen, and Frederick Hamilton Brunning, a
seedsman. George Brunning founded a nursery dynasty in St Kilda in 1860, with premises initially on Argyle
Street and later on Brighton Road, which was carried on by his sons after his death. Under the ownership
of Fowler and the Brunnings, the property at the west corner continued to be leased to a series of

occupants through the early years of the 1900s.
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The 1898 MMBW plan (Figures 2 and 3) shows the villa on the west corner (including 125 Westbury
Street) and the semi-detached pair (named ‘Dacresfield’ and ‘Levuka’) and their stables on the east corner
of Carlisle and Westbury streets (including | |0 Westbury Street). Part of the extensive rear yard behind
the villa (then 322 Carlisle Street) had been developed with double-fronted houses facing VWestbury Street.
The land where the flats at 125 Westbury Street now stands was still an undeveloped part of the villa’s rear
yard.
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Figure 2 - Extract from MMBW Detail Plan no. 1425 Flgure 3 - Extract from MMBW Detail Plan no. 1426 (1898)
(1898) showing approximate boundaries of 125 showing approximate boundaries of | 10 Westbury Street (dashed).
Westbury Street (dashed). (Source: State Library of

Victoria)

The Brunnings and Fowler subdivided the villa site on the west corner into three allotments in 1914, two
lots facing Carlisle Street, and the third facing Westbury Street. On 15 June 1914, John Taylor Clough, a
foreman who resided on McHenry Street, East St Kilda, purchased the allotment that now comprises 125
Westbury Street. He engaged builder L Hanson to construct a brick villa, with a building permit issued on |
June 1914. No architect was recorded. He engaged Hanson again two years later to carry out additions
(NB: the street address was 149 Westbury Street at the time). Clough himself constructed a brick garage at
the site in 1921, and resided in the house.
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Figure 4 - Front facade of the 1914 Federation house at |25 Westbury Street, which was later converted into flats. (Source: City
of St Kilda Building Permit, No. 9916)

Figure 5 - Aerial photograph dated 193 1. The Federation period house at |25 Westbury Street is outlined to the left, and the
future site of | 10 Westbury Street, then occupied by stables, to the right. (Source: Landata, Proj. No. 1931, Run 15, Frame
2750)

The double block containing the semi-detached dwellings on the east corner transferred from the Lucas
family in 1930 to Blanche Moore, who resided in ‘Levuka’, Mabel Hedley and Florence Mooney. They sold
the entire block to Edward Posner Pty Ltd on 18 May 1936. Posner subdivided the block into four, selling
the land comprising | 10 Westbury Street to Myer Lasky, a grocer, and his wife Sarah Lasky, both of
Caulfield, on 25 November 1937.

Myer Lasky commissioned James H Wardrop to design a block of four flats at | 10 Westbury Street, with
the reassuringly English name of Sheffield Manor. It was constructed by | A Trencher, of 2 George Street,
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Caulfield, in 1937-38 (BP). The building permit was granted just two days after the Laskys took possession
of the property. The flats were the subject of an article in The Herald:

To carry out the aims of the owners several factors of design have been introduced, the most important being that
the complete building will be part single, and part double storey. The external effect will be of one large home
building up naturally from the single storey front to the higher rear portion. The character of the design will be
enhanced by the blended brick tones of the walls, the varying heights of the roof, and an overall use of rich-chocolate
graded tiles. (The Herald 'St Kilda flats designed as four homes' 9 Feb 1938 p10)

Figure 6 - City of St Kilda building permit plans for | 10 Westbury Street (No. 9831, 28 Nov. 1937). The front (west) elevation
is at right, and the south side elevation at left. (Source: Council Building File)

John Clough may have been inspired by the flats rising directly across the street, as he too engaged
Woardrop and Trencher to convert his Federation house at 125 Westbury Street to four flats. Wardrop’s
design almost entirely enveloped the Federation house, retaining its ground-floor brick walls and bow
windows to the front and south side elevations.

The building permit was issued on 31 March 1938, and Clough took out a mortgage loan over 125
Westbury Street in November 1938, presumably to finance construction, which he promptly discharged in
December 1939.

Figure 7 - City of St Kilda building permit plans for 125 Westbury Street (No. 9915, 31 March 1938). The front (east) elevation
is at right, and the south side elevation at left. (Source: Council Building File)

Clough remained the owner of the flats at 125 Westbury Street until his death on 21 May 1950, and
occupied Flat 4 (Argus 22 May 1950 p10). The property was sold in December 1950 as ‘4 modern brick flats
... 3 erected in 1938’ (this appears to be a reference to the incorporation of the 1914 house into the block
of flats as the fourth flat), by the name of ‘Wansbeck’ (Herald 24 Nov 1950 p12).
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Carlisle Street

Figure 8 - Aerial photograph dated | 945, subject sites indicated (red outline). The semi-detached pair at the south-east corner
were replaced by new development (Source: Landata, Proj. No 5, Run | 7E, Frame 58013)

The City of Port Phillip records include internal details for |10 and 125 Westbury Street, such as tapestry
brick fireplaces, internal doors, kitchen cabinets and a breakfast nook with built-in furniture.

James H Wardrop

James Hastie Wardrop was born in Moonee Ponds into a Scottish Presbyterian family in 1891. His father
was a sculptor. He studied architecture and structural engineering under Melbourne architect Charles
D’Ebro, designer of Princes Bridge. While a student, he won two medals in RVIA competitions (for the
design of a bank branch and a measured drawing), and was elected an associate of the RVIA in 1913.
Wardrop enlisted in the AIF in October 1915, embarking with the 6t Field Artillery Brigade a year later,
and returning to Australia in December 1918.

In 1919, Wardrop returned to Europe to study briefly in England. Once back in Melbourne, he was taken
on as a partner by Phillip Hudson, whom he had worked under in D’Ebro’s practice before the war. Their
early work included the neoclassical St Kilda Army & Navy Club in St Kilda (1923) and the Greek Revival
styled Shrine of Remembrance (1924-34). In 1929 they took on a third partner to assist with the Shrine:
architect and engineer Kingsley Ussher.

The practice of Hudson, Wardrop and Ussher was responsible for a broad variety of work, including a
number of notable Arts & Crafts and English Domestic designs such as 13-23 Hull Road, Croydon (1924),
97 Argyle Road, Kew (1928), | Chesterfield Avenue, Malvern (c1928), and a house on Albany Road, Toorak
(c.1927) that was feted in Australian Home Beautiful (May 1928 p15). Wardrop designed a house for his own
family at 24 Alston Grove, St Kilda East, in 1924 (Contributory in City of Glen Eira HO74). It is a two-
storey Arts & Crafts dwelling, with roughcast rendered walls and a hipped roof.
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The practice disbanded in the early 1930s, with Hudson continuing his work in the Old English style.
Wardrop’s early solo designs were also in this style, before he transitioned to its ahistorical, polar opposite:
the Moderne. Like other architects in the 1930s, such as Harry Norris, Wardrop often combined these
two styles for his residential architecture, with examples seen in Port Phillip and beyond (e.g. the Shirley
Court group of flats in Travancore, 1939). His best-known Moderne buildings are Alkira House, Queen
Street, Melbourne (1937), and the United Kingdom Hotel (now McDonalds), Queens Parade, Clifton Hill
(1938).

Caulfield RSL, ‘Centenary of Armistice: James Hastie Wardrop MM’,

https://www.crsl.com.au/news/centenary-of-armistice/james-hastie-wardrop-mm, accessed online 24 May
2021.

Certificates of Title (CT) |10 Westbury Street — Vol. 2131 Fol. 867, Vol. 2359 Fol. 614, Vol. 3802 Fol. 251,
Vol. 8016 Fol. 164; 125 Westbury Street - Vol. 2131 Fol. 867, Vol. 2359 Fol. 614, Vol. 3802 Fol. 251, Vol
8016 Fol. 165

Ericksen, R. F., 'Brunning, George (1830-1893)', Australian Dictionary of Biography, National Centre of
Biography, Australian National University, https://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/brunning-george-3096/text4587,
published first in hardcopy 1969, accessed online 13 May 2021.

Lovell Chen, ‘Shrine of Remembrance Conservation Management Plan’, 2010
Miles Lewis, Australian Architectural Index
Newspapers, various

O’Hanlon, Seamus, ‘Home together, Home apart: Boarding house, hostel and flat life in Melbourne c.1900-
1940’, PhD Thesis, History Department, Monash University

Parish Plan - at Elwood, Parish of Prahran, P81-13 (PP)
Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021
Probate of George Rolfe (Snr), PROV VPRS 28/P2, Unit 5, Item 9/526

Rickard, John 'Sargood, Sir Frederick Thomas (1834-1903)', Australian Dictionary of Biography, National
Centre of Biography, Australian National University, https://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/sargood-sir-frederick-
thomas-4538/text7435, published first in hardcopy 1976, accessed online |3 May 2021.

St Kilda Council building permit files (BP), including original drawings and permits - nos. 9831 issued 23
November 1937 (110 Westbury) and 2309, | June 1914, 2892, 6 April 1916, 4603, 13 Sept. 1921, & 9916,
31 March 1938 (125 Westbury)

Sands & McDougall’s street directories (SM)

Sawyer, Terry, (1982) ‘Residential flats in Melbourne: the development of a building type to 1950°, Honours
thesis, Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning, The University of Melbourne

Statham, John 2012. ‘Phillip Hudson’ in Encyclopedia of Australian Architecture, pp 345-6

UNSWV, ‘The AIF Project: James Hastie Wardrop’, https://www.aif.adfa.edu.au/showPerson?pid=3 13864,
accessed online 24 May 2021.

The flats at 110 and 125 Westbury Street stand directly across the street from each other, just north of
Carlisle Street. The street is dominated by blocks of flats, with a few dating from the late 1930s at the
southern end (including the subject buildings), but most built post-World War Il. There are also remnant
Victorian and Federation single-storey dwellings scattered among them.
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Sheffield Manor, 110 Westbury Street

Sheffield Manor is an apartment building with unusual massing, featuring a single-storey wing projecting
toward the street and a two-storey form behind it. The side drive is intersected by a ‘porte-cochere’
gateway adjacent to the two-storey front fagade, and leads to clinker brick garages at the rear. The gateway
is of clinker brick and features the name, Sheffield Manor, in mild steel lettering. The low front fence, of
clinker bricks, is partly original, though it has been altered to allow the insertion of metal fence panels (not
original).

The front single storey section has a complex hipped roof with expressed rafter ends, clad in terracotta
tiles. Tiled rooflets shelter front windows and the side entrance. The walls of this section are clinker brick
with plain jointing. Windows are six-over-one double-hung timber sashes. Compared to the two-storey
section, this part of the building is quite plain, with the only decorative detail being large timber brackets
supporting the rooflets, and a parapeted entry to the north side with horizontal raised brick bands. The
original drawings show timber brackets framing the opening to a sunporch on the north side of the front
facade, but these have apparently been removed when the porch was enclosed by a window.

The rear two storey section is far more varied in its cladding and decorative detailing. The roof is hipped
and clad with terracotta tiles, but it is visually broken up by vergeless gables that accent the front and south
side elevations. Chimneys are also employed in a sculptural manner, particularly the front corner chimney
whose shaft is buttressed by a short length of parapet. The south side chimney has an external breast and it
rises up at the centre of a gable. These chimneys retain their slender glazed terracotta pots.

Apart from its sculptural massing, the two-storey section is distinguished by its brickwork, which can
generally be described as clinker bricks with broad salmon (deep cream) brick bands. The salmon bricks are
also used in soldier courses to the vergeless gables, and in recessed vertical rows of headers to the
chimneys and front parapet. This interplay of strong horizontal lines balanced with discrete vertical
elements is a defining feature of the Moderne style, much as the vergeless gables are a defining feature of
the OId English style. The entrance to the two-storey block is located just beyond the gateway; it has a
hipped rooflet resting on the same large timber brackets used for the single-storey section.

The flats appear to be highly intact externally, apart from discrete changes to the front fence. Note that the
gateway is shown with more ornament on the original plans (corbels and vertical lines), so it may have been
widened at some point.

Wansbeck, 125 Westbury Street

Wansbeck sits behind a relatively large front garden, bounded by a simple red and clinker-brick fence with a
metal pedestrian gate (north end) which appears to date from the 1938 works. There is a driveway on the
south side, which retains remnants of the original divided track concrete paving. There is a garage block at
the rear.

It is a two-storey apartment building with a complex hipped roof and projecting front gabled volume, all
clad with terracotta tiles. There are dark burned terracotta capping tiles to the front gable, which reflects
other materials of the fagade. Chimneys are of red brick with horizontal bands of dark clinker bricks at the
top. At least one of the rear chimneys retains two orange terracotta chimney pots. One of the chimneys
forms part of the front fagade, sitting to one side of the front gable.

The principal walling material is pressed red bricks with plain jointing, which was clearly dictated by the
incorporation of the 1914 brick house in the flats design. This colour of brick was not as fashionable as
clinker or dark cream (salmon) bricks in the 1930s. To provide up-to-date details, there are recessed
horizontal bands of clinker bricks to the first floor, and a broad vertical band to the centre of the projecting
front gable. This band is made of alternating solider courses of salmon and recessed dark clinker bricks,
with a brown glazed centre element that appears to be spoon-drain tiles. This striped band is intersected by
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windows, and extends above the roofline to form a small parapet, abutting the front chimney. It is topped
by three horizontal bands of clinker bricks.

Balancing this strong vertical element of the facade is a curved Juliet balcony intersecting the chimney and
then wrapping around the recessed northern half of the facade where it is sheltered by a tiled hood resting
on large timber brackets.

First-floor windows are twelve-over-one double-hung sashes, with leaded panes, while the ground floor
retains some 1914 windows. These include bow windows to the ground floor front fagade and the south
side elevation, and a double-hung window with a segmental arch just before the side porch.

The plans held by the City of Port Phillip show a slightly different form of the front facade than was actually
built. They show two front gables. Instead, the north gable form was not built and a hood over the balcony
was added. The detailing of these elements is in keeping with the rest of the building, and the timber
brackets supporting the hood are characteristic of Wardrop’s work, strongly suggesting this was his final
design. Another change to the building permit plans, which appear to be Wardrop’s work, is to the side
entry. Shown on the plans as a porte-cochere below a standard window. Instead, this was built as first-floor
rendered balcony below a hipped hood with large timber brackets. The balcony rests of corbelled wing
walls below.

The building appears to be highly intact to its 1938 form.

The OId English and Moderne styles dominated domestic architecture of the 1930s.

Often referred to as Tudor, Interwar Old English had its roots in the English Arts and Crafts movement of
the mid to late nineteenth century. The revival of this style, along with many other English and American
revival styles became popular with the upper end of the housing market. The use of red or clinker brick
was typical of Old English architecture. Modelled chimneys and terracotta roof tiles were typical, as were
steeply pitched roofs. Picturesque asymmetry was pursued with multiple fronts and offset massing. Old
English styled houses evoked the ‘Home country’ in the British Empire, using the associations of the manor
to convey wealth and social status.

The style was long-lived and evolved over this period. Early examples, in the late 1910s and 1920s tended
to have gabled roofs and half timbering or brick nogging in gables. By the mid-1930s, most examples had
hipped main roofs accented by vergeless gables, and walls and gables were entirely of brick enlivened by
patterning in multiple colours.

The Moderne style emerged later in domestic architecture. One of the earliest examples in Victoria was
Harry Norris’ Burnham Beeches in Sassafras, of 1931-33; a mansion designed for Alfred Nicholas. By the
mid-1930s, examples of the style began to appear in Melbourne’s suburbs. Intended to evoke the machine
age and speed, Moderne houses had a strong horizontal emphasis, often provided by incised ‘speedlines’ on
walls, horizontal glazing bars to windows, and roofs partially or wholly hidden behind a parapet. There was
often a minor vertical element to provide balance, for example, a pier or small parapet projecting above the
eaves. External chimneys were also used in this capacity, forming an important part of the front fagade. In
keeping with the machine age aesthetic, many Moderne houses had rendered walls (emulating concrete)
and metal windows.

Combination of seemingly disparate styles was not uncommon in the late 1930s. Examples can be seen, for
example, in the work of architect Harry Norris. He melded Georgian Revival with the Moderne at
Methodist Ladies’ College (Nicholas Building, 1939) and at the University of Melbourne (Vice Chancellor’s
House, 1937-8), and crossed Tudor with Moderne (MLC’s Boarding House & Dining Hall Wing, 1938-39,
and Nicholas Hall at the Wesley Church complex, Latrobe Street, Melbourne).

As discussed in the history, Wardrop designed Old English houses and Moderne commercial buildings
during the 1930s, sometimes combining the two styles.
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Other examples of Interwar flats designed by James H Wardrop and included in the Heritage Overlay in
Port Phillip are:

e Mandalay, 17 & 17A Albion Street, Balaclava (1934), Moderne house and Old English flats, ] A Trencher,
builder (Citation 396, Brunnings Estate & Environs Precinct).

e Sefton, 4 Broadway, Elwood (1934) conversion of existing single storey residence into three flats
(Contributory within St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs precinct).

e Belmac, | Goldsmith Street, Elwood (1934) Old English, E Jennings & Sons, builder (Contributory
within St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs precinct).

e Zaneth Manor, 33 Brighton Road, St Kilda (1935-36) ] A Trencher, builder (Citation 432, St Kilda
Botanical Gardens & Environs precinct)

e Flats, 4A Meredith Street, Elwood (1934-35) E Jennings & Sons, builder (Citation 2061, HO365).

e Duplex, 34 Vautier Street, Elwood (1935) Old English, conversion of existing single storey residence
(Contributory within HOS8)

e Celine Court & Christina Court, | & 3 Cyril Street, Elwood (1936) T C McDonald, builder
(Contributory within HO404)

Other buildings designed by Wardrop and included in the Heritage Overlay are:

e House, 24 Murchison Street, St Kilda East (1933) (Contributory within HO391 precinct)

e  Woesleyan Methodist Church Hall, 101 Carlisle Street, St Kilda (1939) (Citation 319, Carlisle Street
Commercial Precinct)

The combination of Old English or Tudor Revival and Moderne, exemplified by Wardrop’s two designs on
Westbury Street, is seen in several other of his flat designs in Port Phillip. The first is Sefton, 4 Broadway,
Elwood (1934), where he combined a vergeless gable and simplified Tudor flat arched opening with a
parapeted stair tower adorned with a Jazz Moderne motif. He employed a parapet with a similar tapestry
brick motif at Belmac, | Goldsmith Street, Elwood, which otherwise references medieval models. The most
striking example is Zaneth Manor, 33 Brighton Road, St Kilda. A three-storey, L-shaped block of flats, it has
multiple vergeless gables with wide corbelled eaves and dark brick detail to the gables that appears to be
‘dripping’ down. This strong medieval massing is contrasted with projecting horizontal rows of bricks
beneath windows and a curved stair tower with a banded horizontal parapet, both strongly Moderne
elements.

Further afield, Wardrop employed Juliet balconies, as seen at 125 Westbury Street, along with the rich
banded brickwork, as seen at | |0 Westbury Street, on other examples of his flats. These include the
Shirley Court group of flats buildings on Mooltan Street, Travancore (1939), which are largely Old English
apart from the balconies, as well as an L-shaped block of flats at 7 Elm Street, Hawthorn.

In comparison with the other Old English-Moderne flats in Port Phillip, Sheffield Manor at | 10 Westbury
Street is distinguished by its striking use of salmon and clinker brick, used as banding, recessed vertical lines
and in soldier courses. It is also one of Wardrop’s more sculptural compositions, with the asymmetric
chimney-plus-parapet at one corner of the front fagade, partially balanced by the central gable. The design
gains further interest in its two-part form, with a single storey front and two-storey rear, designed to fit in
with the remnant detached housing still on Westbury Street in the 1930s.

The Wansbeck flats at 125 Westbury Street, which were created from an existing house is representative
of a distinctive St Kilda building type. ‘Conversions’ were among the earliest flat types to emerge in Port
Phillip and according to Sawyer (1982:61) the poor quality of some brought flats ‘into disrepute’. Sawyer
cites a 1923 Australian Home Builder article that was highly critical of the practice:

Page 12
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Take any old house, dress up the front with a coat of roughcast and an outside staircase; insert a bathroom and
lavatory somewhere on the upper floors, also a stove and a sink. If there is room at the back, add a back verandah
— platform rather — to the upper floor...

However, at the other end of the scale there were also a number of conversions of exceptional quality
such as the 1911 transformation of the former Cliveden in East Melbourne into Cliveden Mansion Flats. Many
of these transformative conversions were designed by architects.

Port Phillip has examples of both types of conversions. One of the earliest examples of a terrace row
conversion is ‘Marli Place’, 3-7 The Esplanade, St Kilda, which was converted to flats around 191 |
(Significant within HOS5). This is an example of a basic conversion with prominent external staircases being
the most visible change. Otherwise the terrace largely retains its mid-Victorian character.

Examples of more sophisticated architect-designed terrace conversions include ‘Grosvenor Mansions’
(1919, plans prepared by Howard R. Lawson) at 74-88 William Street, Balaclava (Citation 910, Balaclava
Flats Residential Precinct), ‘Carnong Courts’ (1926, plans prepared by A & K Henderson) at 29-33 Robe
Street, St Kilda (Citation 794, HOS5 precinct). Both have Arts & Crafts detailing, and ‘Carnong Courts’ is
notable for the arrangement of semi-enclosed stairwell towers at the front of the building as an integral and
distinctive part of the design. Another example is ‘Duband Court’ (former Hilda Terrace) at 28-36 Alma
Road, St Kilda, al926 flat conversion designed by Harry R. Johnson of a c.1870 terrace row (Citation 397,
HOG6 precinct).

James H Wardrop designed several other ‘conversions’ in Port Phillip including 4 Broadway and 34 Vautier
Street in Elwood, and 22 Holroyd Avenue, St Kilda East. Contemporary newspaper articles identify several
others in other areas. This work was sometimes more successful than others in creating a cohesive
architectural output. Some, like 4 Broadway and 34 Vautier Street, have resulted in refined results whose
‘hybrid’ origins are not readily apparent. Others are not so successful, like 22 Holroyd Avenue, which
retains a typical California Bungalow gabled porch with a later Moderne parapet behind it, and two-storey
mass to the side with Wardrop’s typical combination of Arts & Crafts brackets and Moderne mild-steel
balcony balustrade. The composition is disjointed and looks like a building ‘designed by a committee’.

In contrast, Wansbeck at 125 Westbury Street is one of Wardrop’s better flats conversions. While the use
of red brick cladding and the survival of the two bow windows indicates its Federation-era origins, they
have been successfully incorporated into a skilfully massed composition typical of the Old English style,
combined with Wardrop’s very contemporary integration of Moderne details.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Add to the Heritage Overlay as an individual place.
Apply the following controls in the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay.
* fence controls to 125 Westbury Street (original front fence)

* outbuilding controls for the garages at |10 and 125 Westbury Street (original garages)

RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review
Stage 2, 2021
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Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

Citation No: 2431

Sheffield Manor, | 10 Westbury Street
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Address: 149 & 151 Argyle Street

and | Queen Street, St

Kilda East Heritage Overlay: HO558
Category: Residential: House Graded as: Significant
Style: Victorian Victorian Heritage Register: No

Constructed: 1872 and 1876
Designer: Joseph Tarry (builder)
Amendment: C206port

Comment: New citation

The attached houses at 149 & 151 Argyle Street, built 1872, and the detached house at | Queen Street,
built 1876, are significant. The houses were all constructed for, and presumably by, Joseph Tarry.

149 & 151 Argyle Street are an attached pair of single storey timber houses. The surviving original format is
composed of an undivided transverse gable roof section shared by both dwellings, separate skillion roof
rear wings aligned to the outside boundaries, and a full width front verandah (though the extant fabric is
not original and the original detail is unknown). The roof is clad in corrugated sheet metal and the walls in
weatherboards. The facade compositions are mirrored, with one window and one door to each dwelling.
Windows to the original sections are timber double hung sashes, with multipaned upper and lower sashes
divided into six by narrow timber glazing bars and retaining some original glazing. The windows to the front
have moulded architraves and those to the Queen Street side have plain architraves. Above the doors
(which likely date to the early 20t century) are multipaned highlights. Two brick chimneys with corbelled

caps survive at the rear.

I Queen Street is a single storey freestanding timber house. The surviving original format is composed of a
transverse gable roof section with an asymmetrical pitch and a full width front verandah. The roof is clad in
corrugated sheet metal and there is a chimney at the rear. The walls are clad in weatherboards, including
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some which are shingled (the latter probably a later introduction). The fagcade has a symmetrical
composition with a window either side of a central door. Above the door there is a highlight.

Alterations and additions are not significant. The current paint colour schemes are not significant.

The attached houses at 149 & 151 Argyle Street and the house at | Queen Street, St Kilda East, are of local
historical and representative significance to the City of Port Phillip.

The houses are historically significant for their association with an early phase of development in the St
Kilda East area which accelerated following the 1859 introduction of the railway. By the 1870s, modest
timber houses proliferated in pockets of St Kilda East and Balaclava, particularly on the lower lying land to
the south of Argyle Street known as the ‘Balaclava Flats’, contrasting with more substantial houses on
nearby surrounding higher ground. They were originally part of a group of seven timber houses of various
sizes built for, and presumably by, bricklayer/builder Joseph Tarry who in 1871 purchased half an acre of
land bounded by Chapel, Argyle and Queen streets and developed it over the ensuing five years. The
houses are amongst the earliest surviving in Balaclava/St Kilda East and a now comparatively small number
dating from pre-1880. (Criterion A)

The houses are of representative significance as uncommon examples of modest pre-1880 timber houses in
the municipality, of which many were built (particularly in the St Kilda East/Balaclava area) but few survive.
149 & 151 Argyle Street are one of only two known surviving pre-1880 paired examples in the St Kilda
East/Balaclava area, the others being located opposite at 2 and 4 Queen Street. Although altered, like early
surviving timber cottages almost invariably are, they largely retain their original formats and where fabric
has been replaced it has generally been in a similar manner or in keeping with the character/period. Typical
of the period, they have symmetrical fagade compositions, transverse gable roofs, brick chimneys and full
width front verandahs. 149 & 151 Argyle Street are an unusual early paired example that share an undivided
roof, whereas the freestanding double-fronted house at | Queen Street conforms to a more typical format.
(Criterion D)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.1 Early dwellings, 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development),
5.3 Diverse Housing (5.3.2 Workers and artisan housing)

The development of St Kilda began following the first land sales in 1842 and by 1854 there were over two
hundred houses. The plan compiled in 1855 by James Kearney shows that most of these were situated to
the west of Brighton Road (later High Street and now St Kilda Road). The St Kilda East and Balaclava areas
by comparison, were largely undeveloped, particularly east of Chapel Street.

Page 2
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In 1859, the railway to Brighton was opened, spurring subdivision and development in the St Kilda East and
Balaclava areas. Throughout the 19t century, modest timber cottages proliferated in pockets of St Kilda
East and Balaclava, particularly on the lower lying land known as the ‘Balaclava Flats’, contrasting with more
substantial houses on nearby surrounding higher ground.

The subject sites formed part of Crown Allotment |38A Parish of Prahran, County of Bourke. The
approximately 5-acre allotment was purchased in the 1850s (probably 1853 or 1854) by E De Carle and H
Holmes. In or by 1854, the allotment was subdivided and land containing the subject sites was purchased by
John Green (CM).

The Kearney plan of 1855 (Figure |) shows that Queen Street and the short section of Argyle Street east
of Chapel Street had been formed and there was some sparse development. The 1864 Cox plan (Figure 2)
shows some limited further development in the vicinity. Both plans show the subject sites vacant.
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Figure | - Plan dated 1855 ‘Melbourne and its suburbs’ compiled by James Kearney. Figure 2 - Plan dated 1864 ‘Hobson Bay
and River Yarra leading to Melbourne’ surveyed by Henry L Cox. (Source: State Library of Victoria)

In May 1871, a parcel of land containing the subject sites was acquired by bricklayer Joseph Tarry of 289
Lygon Street Carlton (CT). In the same year, Tarry also acquired adjacent land parcels, bringing the total to
approximately half an acre bounded by Chapel, Argyle and Queen streets. Over the ensuing five years,
Tarry proceeded to develop this land with seven weatherboard dwellings, presumably constructing them
himself.

By October 1871, Tarry had erected a weatherboard house for himself and new wife Elizabeth fronting
Chapel Street (situated at current day no. 18), which was described in the rate book for January 1872
(entry no. 766) as having six rooms with a NAV of £40. Joseph and Elizabeth named their house Bideford
Cottage (after Elizabeth’s hometown in Devon) and they lived there until the late 1880s (Age 10 Oct 1874

p4).

During 1872, Tarry built two pairs of attached weatherboard cottages, including the subject pair in Argyle
Street. These four dwellings were first recorded in the rate book for November 1872 (entry nos 798 to
802). The subject pair were described as three-roomed with a NAV of £16 each, and occupied by tenants
William Alison, carpenter, and Frederick Holt, draper. Throughout the 19t century, the subject pair had a
high turnover of tenants, with occupants rarely staying more than a couple of years. The other pair (sited at
current day nos 145 and 147) were larger, having four rooms, with a NAV of £20 each.
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The Vardy plan of 1873 (Figure 3) shows the aforementioned houses associated with Joseph Tarry,
including the subject pair (nos 127 and 128 on the plan), the adjacent pair (nos 125 and 126 on the plan)
and Bideford Cottage (no. | || on the plan).

3 - : :
\ D L_Ll 103 | Adjacent Argyle Subject Argyle
SU—S— E X m— Street Pair Street Pair
ATR:GY 'L E ST RS E-ENCT: I \ '
0 R A S A S J ot
[ H | |
: s e i 2
i l % £
; 1= 12 _1"|_l (| &
: | : rie !| — =5 i
| : . _|1es | s e '5_# L e |
] | Bideford il 5 E_":I i e L
: Cottage || ‘!'_: 1 |F | | 95 a
i e 1 = [ iRl 3 S =T
T | 12 . 13 : . 120 i = :I_l . ‘r\_l_—_’_"_ —| = |
: - b - |
o |[EC [ =B, 0w v |-
-i v '_"»
I "| g 122 - 11 15
| S —— ne GIEIEEgT w |||
\ -t r ———— —1! 1»-—
| i [—E{ —l__k - .
; —— = |
: | < GREW ST ol oo || ||
: : ]| | ;| r"_"" = |
| HE 115 B 0 (| |}
[ Il I ”T'.-_—_a”" T L

Figure 3 - Plan of the Borough of St Kilda, North Ward No. 6 (J.E.S. Vardy, 1873). The houses associated with Joseph Tarry are
indicated. Timber buildings are shaded orange and brick buildings are shaded pink. (Source: St Kilda Historical Society)

In 1874, Tarry built another weatherboard house in Chapel Street, at the corner with Argyle Street, with
five rooms and a NAV of £42 (1874 RB entry no. 812). It can be seen on the 1897 MMBW plan.

Lastly, in 1876, Tarry built the subject cottage in Queen Street. It was first recorded in the rate book for
December 1876 (entry no. 867). It was described as four-roomed and weatherboard with a NAV of £18
and occupied by clergyman C B Fairey. It can be seen on the 1897 MMBW plan.

In October 1888, the four Argyle Street cottages (on land measuring 100 feet to Argyle Street and 70 feet
to Queen Street), together with a right of carriage way over a 10-foot wide rear lane accessed via Queen
Street, were acquired by the Langridge Mutual Permanent Building Society of 64 Smith Street Collingwood
(CT). Subsequently, in December 1889, the Queen Street cottage (on land measuring 25 feet to Queen
Street and 70 feet deep) was also acquired by the Langridge Mutual Permanent Building Society (CT).

The 1897 MMBWV plan shows all seven of Tarry’s houses. The subject Argyle Street pair, then numbered 3
and 4, had mirror image ‘L’ shaped footprints, full width front verandahs and small recessed rear verandahs,
and outbuildings containing water closets in the rear yard. The subject Queen Street cottage had an
approximately square footprint with an attached rear section, a full width front verandah and rear
verandah, and a freestanding water closet in the rear yard.

Page 4



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: 2418
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Figure 4 - MMBW Detail Plan No. 1423 (dated 1897), showing the subject pair (red solid line) and the other four dwellings
owned/built by Joseph Tarry in the 1870s (red dashed line).

In 1903, the parcel associated with 149-151 Argyle Street was excised from the adjacent land to the west
when it was purchased by Angelo Piezzi of 17 Foster Street, St Kilda (CT). Piezzi, who was originally from
Switzerland, died the following year in 1904 (Argus 3 Sep 1904 p9).
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Figure 5 - Certificate of Title Vol.2 160 Fol.824, showing the 1903 excision of the parcel associated with 149-151 Argyle Street.

The subject cottages can be seen in the 1945 aerial photograph below, with building footprints consistent
with those shown on the earlier 1897 MMBW plan. The other four dwellings associated with Tarry can also
be seen.
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Figure 6 - Aerial photograph dated 1945, showing the subject houses (red solid line) and the other four dwellings owned/built by
Joseph Tarry in the 1870s (red dashed line). (Source: Landata, Proj No 5, Run | 7E, Frame 58013)

In 1944, a photograph (Figure 7) of the subject Argyle Street pair accompanied a story in the Herald
newspaper, detailing an unusual incident whereby an erroneous for lease advertisement led to the
occupants of no.151 being inundated with keen would-be applicants calling at the house (Herald 29 Jan 1944
p3). The photograph shows that the front verandah was altered during the Interwar period with the
introduction of fluted columns atop masonry piers (replacing earlier posts). It also shows other details of
the house at that time, including a front central chimney (now removed) and a timber picket fence to the
front boundary.

Page 6
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Figure 7 - Photograph of 149-151 Argyle Street in 1944. Note: there was a blind was hanging in the central part of the
verandah at the time of the photograph. (Source: Herald, 29 Jan 1944, p3)

The subject properties changed hands multiple times throughout the 20th century. The subject Argyle
Street pair were consistently transferred together.

During the mid-20t century, four of the seven dwellings associated with Joseph Tarry were replaced; the
two Chapel Street houses were replaced with flats and the larger Argyle Street pair were replaced with
houses.

Joseph Tarry

Joseph Tarry was born in Northamptonshire, England, in 1812, and migrated to Australia at the age of 40 in
1853 with his first wife Penelope and two of his children. Tarry’s occupation was recorded as a bricklayer
in the 1841 and 1851 English censuses, and he continued to work as such after his arrival in Australia. Tarry
died in 1892 in Heidelberg when he was described in probate records as a retired builder.

Cooper, J.B., 1931, The History of St Kilda. From its settlement to a city and after. 1840 to 1930, Volume 2

Certificates of title (CT) Vol. 361 Fol. 128; Vol. 406 Fol. 082; Vol. 414 Fol. 790; Vol. 447 Fol. 333; Vol. 2160
Fol. 824; Vol. 2160 Fol. 824; Vol. 2958 Fol. 439 |st Edition; Vol. 2958 Fol. 439 2nd Edition.

Newspapers, various

Cartographic Material (CM): ‘Prahran sections 137 a & b & 138 a & b’, hand-drawn map copied 224 March
1854, held in the Vale collection at the State Library of Victoria.

Parish Plan - at Elwood, Parish of Prahran, P81-13 (PP)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021
Sands and McDougall’s street directories (SM)

St Kilda Rate Books (RB) 1859-1900 viewed at Ancestry.com
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The subject sites are adjacent to each other, albeit they front different streets.

149-151 Argyle Street

This is a rectangular site located on the south side of Argyle Street containing a pair of single storey
attached weatherboard houses. The pair are similarly presented and developed, a result of having always
been in common ownership.

The main building footprint largely survives consistent with the MMBW plan from 1897. It is comprised of
an undivided transverse gable roof section which is shared by both houses, with separate skillion roof rear
wings aligned to the outside boundaries. The small rear verandahs shown on the MMBW plan have been
infilled. Further to the rear are mid-20th century weatherboard additions which may partly comprise the
earlier, smaller outbuildings shown in this location on the MMBWV plan.

The roof is clad in short sections of corrugated sheet metal. It is likely that the original roofing material was
corrugated sheet metal. Two brick chimneys with corbelled caps survive to rear skillion wings. A third
brick chimney had been centrally located in the front face of the roof (evident in the 1944 photograph) but
was removed in the latter half of the 20t century.

The walls are clad in horizontally oriented weatherboards. In the gable end to Queen Street the
weatherboards (evident in the 1944 photograph) have been replaced with battened metal sheeting.

The facades compositions are mirrored, with one window and one door to each dwelling. All visible
windows to the original sections are timber double hung sashes, with multipaned upper and lower sashes
divided into six by narrow timber glazing bars and retaining some original panes. The windows to the front
have moulded architraves and those to the Queen Street side have plain architraves. The west side
windows are not visible from the street. The front doors are obscured by security screens but Real Estate
photos show them to be early 20t century timber panelled types with glazed sections. Above the doors are
multipaned highlights.

The full width front verandah is supported by non-original turned timber posts. The verandah roof is clad in
corrugated sheet metal, and comparison with the 1944 photograph suggests that the pitch has been
lowered. The brick dividing wall with arched niche appears to be a later alteration (c.1970s). The decks are
concrete.

The front garden of no. 151 has low plantings, while no.149 contains a palm tree and a coniferous tree,
neither of which appear in the 1945 aerial photograph. The front fence of solid sheeting and timber lattice
is not original or early.

I Queen Street

This is a rectangular site located on the west side of Queen Street containing a single storey weatherboard
cottage. The building footprint largely survives consistent with the MMBW plan from 1897. It is comprised
of a transverse gable roof section at the front and a skillion roof section at the rear. The gable roof is
asymmetrical, having a steeper pitch at the front and a broader pitch at the rear. The rear skillion roof
section has replaced the smaller rear wing and verandah evident in the 1897 MMBWV plan.

The roof is clad in colorbond corrugated sheet metal. All the roofing materials are recent. The original
roofing material may have been corrugated sheet metal or slate. There is one chimney to the rear face of
the gable section which is largely hidden, and may have been truncated. The walls are clad in horizontally
oriented weatherboards, some of which are shingled to the front (shingled boards were probably a later
introduction).
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The fagade has a symmetrical composition with a window either side of a central door. The windows are
timber framed double hung sashes (single pane) with moulded architraves and sills and are unlikely to be
original. The front door is obscured by a security screen. There is a highlight above the door. The full width
front verandah is supported by non-original square timber posts. The verandah roof is clad in corrugated
sheet metal. The deck is timber.

The driveway on the north side was once a shared carriageway but has now been absorbed into | Queen
Street. The front garden contains low plantings. The timber front fence is not original.

These houses are examples of modest 1870s timber dwellings in the St Kilda East/Balaclava area, of which
many were built but few survive. Such houses were commonly replaced with brick from the latter part of
the 19th century onwards.

While there are comparatively many modest timber cottages dating from the late 1880s and early 1890s
represented in the Heritage Overlay, examples from pre-1880 are much rarer. Other surviving examples of
comparable pre-1880 single storey timber houses within the St Kilda East/Balaclava area include:

e 34 Young Street, St Kilda East, built 1870. (Citation 2309, HO401). Double fronted, symmetrical, full
width verandah, transverse gable roof, brick chimney.

e 16 Balston Street, Balaclava, built c.1863. (Citation 2303, HO395). Double fronted, symmetrical, full
width verandah, transverse gable roof, brick chimney.

e 62 Octavia Street, St Kilda, built c.1862. (Citation 2389, HO6). Double fronted, symmetrical, full width
verandah, transverse slate-clad gable roof, brick chimney.

e 4] Rosamond Street, Balaclava (thought to be pre-1873). (Contributory within HO439). Double
fronted, symmetrical, full width verandah, hipped roof, brick chimney.

e 22 Blenheim Street, Balaclava (1872, additions 1890s). (Citation 2437). Asymmetrical (although
originally symmetrical), full width verandah, transverse gable roof, brick chimneys.

e 2 and 4 Queen Street, St Kilda East (1878). (Citation 2442). Attached pair with mirrored fagade
compositions, transverse gable roofs, brick chimney (one surviving) and full width front verandahs.

e 5]-57 Leslie Street, St Kilda East. No. 53 thought to be built in 1873 and nos 51+55 in 1875. The date
for no. 57 is unclear. (Not in Heritage Overlay). Double fronted, symmetrical, full width verandahs,
transverse gable roofs, some with brick chimneys.

The subject houses and the examples listed above have all undergone some level of change, as almost
invariably occurs with early timber cottages. Importantly, they retain original building formats, and where
fabric has been replaced it has generally been in a similar manner or in keeping with the character/period.

The subject houses at 149 and |51 Argyle Street are an unusual early (pre-1880) paired example that share
an undivided gable roof. They are one of only two known surviving pre-1880 paired examples in the St
Kilda East/Balaclava area, the others being located opposite at 2 and 4 Queen Street. They are otherwise
typical of the period having a symmetrical composition, transverse gable roof, brick chimneys and full width
verandah.

The house at | Queen Street, built 1876, conforms to a more typical format, that is, a freestanding double
fronted cottage with a symmetrical facade, transverse gable roof, chimney and full width verandah.

Page 9
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This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Add to the Heritage Overlay as a group listing with a single HO number.

Apply external paint controls in the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay (to ensure complementary colour
schemes are employed).

RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review
Stage 2, 2021

Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

149+151 Argyle Street
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East side of 151 Argyle Street

| Queen Street
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Address: 306 Dandenong Road (Leaworra),
16 Lansdowne Road, and 8 )
Westbury Street (Wolverton), St Heritage Overlay: HO560
Graded as: Significant

Kilda East
Victorian Heritage Register: No

Residential: Flats

Category:
Style: Postwar - Modernist
Constructed: 1960

Designer: Mordecai Benshemesh

Amendment: C206port

Comment: New citation

The three separate blocks of flats, constructed in 1960, at 306 Dandenong Road (Leaworra), 16 Lansdowne
Road and 8 Westbury Street (Wolverton), St Kilda East — all designed by the émigré architect Mordecai

Benshemesh - are significant.

All three buildings are intact, are three storey, have cream brick walls and flat roofs with wide, sheet-lined
soffits to the front/main elevations, and timber-framed openings. They all have balconies orientated to take
best advantage of the solar access and the site configuration. The stairwells have louvred glass to provide
some airflow. All retain their original low cream brick fence and associated letter box enclosures.
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306 Dandenong Road (Leaworra), comprised of 12 flats, was designed in December 1959 but constructed
in 1960 by A M & R R Gyngell P/L. It has a stepped footprint with two stair wells with a vertical strip of
windows. The windows to the flats are configured in bands, including panels of grey ceramic tiles to the
east elevation. The balconies have an inwardly canted front, lined with sheeting, and metal railing to the
side.

16 Lansdowne Road, comprised of |8 flats, was designed in June 1960 and also constructed by AM & RR
Gyngell P/L. This narrow site has a long rectangular footprint. Distinctive elements include the inverted L-
shaped brick projections to the east elevation, band of white and grey ceramic tiles, and splayed balconies
with metal balusters and panels.

8 Westbury Street (Wolverton), comprised of |18 flats, was designed in February 1960 and constructed by
Martin Adams & Co. P/L. It also has a stepped footprint with two stair wells. The balconies are also splayed
with a combination of metal balusters and panels. The front windows (north and west elevations) have a
staggered configuration and there are spandrel panels to the west elevation.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

The flats at 8 Westbury Street (Wolverton), |6 Lansdowne Road and 306 Dandenong Road (Leaworra),
are of local historic and aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.

The group of three flats are historically significant as part of the extensive flat building activity that has
characterised much of the 20t century history of the municipality but especially this part of St Kilda East
and which gained pace after World War Il with the introduction of the Own-Your-Own (OYO) option.
These three sites are also significant as they reflect a common pattern of land development in this part of
the municipality whereby the extant building replaced an earlier house/mansion, some of which had been
converted to flats in the interim. The postwar flat typology evolved with the work of several émigré
architects, who were responsible for a high proportion of the architect-designed examples and who often
worked with Jewish developers. These imbued the area with a more progressive, International character,
and which was supported by the often local Jewish community. The group also have associations with the
architect Mordecai Beshemesh, ‘Mr Highrise’, who was prolific in this domain but also at the forefront of
postwar flat design. (Criterion A)

The group of three flats are of aesthetic significance as a distinctive group of Modernist flats designed by the
Palestinian born émigré architect Mordecai Benshemesh who with this group was developing a more
elaborate/articulated approach, characterised by the incorporation of balconies with angled geometry either
in the vertical or horizontal plane. This aspect in particular distinguishes his work from many of his
contemporaries and this phase of flat construction. In addition, there was a shift away from a ‘pure’,
rigorous Modernism, especially as the International style variant became codified, and some architects
started to include more decorative elements or treatments to provide some differentiation (in these
instances, ceramic tiling, some panels to the balustrades, projecting bricks, and/or staggered glazing bars to
the windows). Where possible (wider sites), he favoured a stepped plan to open up views across the
building. (Criterion E)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians
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5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.5 Higher-density housing)

The early twentieth century saw a marked decline in the viability of large mansions across Melbourne’s
suburbs in general, but it was particularly felt in the more affluent inner southern suburbs such as St Kilda
and Brighton, where land was highly sought-after by a new generation of homebuilders seeking smaller
detached dwellings, duplexes or flats. The trend toward higher-density living in St Kilda began with the
conversion of mansions and terrace houses into boarding houses in the early 1900s and continued with the
first purpose-built flats that appeared at the beginning of World War I. A 1919 newspaper article noted:

It was held to be no longer necessary to labour with a house and all the domestic drudgery that entailed
when by borrowing Continental ideas, people who could afford it could live in flats... Land has become so
valuable the villa of the Victorian days, in a crowded thoroughfare, no longer shows anything like an adequate
return of interest on the land’s present capital value. It is more profitable to pull the house erected thereon
down, and to erect flats. When the flat became popular in England the experiment was made in St Kilda,
and it did not take long to discover there was a genuine demand for flats (Prahran Telegraph, 18 October
1919, p-4)

Higher-density housing in the form of boarding houses paved the way to flat development. Flats first
appeared in Melbourne around 1906 and slowly spread to the suburbs. They followed a strong pattern of
development, appearing close to transport routes, particularly along or within walking distance of tram
routes, to allow easy travel to the city. With their proximity to the beach and parklands, good public
transport networks and seaside character, the suburbs of St Kilda and Elwood were especially popular
locations for flats. Flats became a dominant characteristic of St Kilda and Elwood, and still make up a high
percentage of dwellings in those areas. They include some of the earliest surviving flats in Melbourne, some
of the best examples of architectural styles and types of flats, and as a group demonstrate the increasing
popularity of the lifestyle of flat living from the early twentieth century (TEH).

The opening in 1911 of the electric tramway along Dandenong Road encouraged the building of flats. In
1918 Howard Lawson constructed one of the first blocks on the east corner of Dandenong Road and Pilley
Street and in 1920 development of the Ardoch complex began with the conversion of the eponymous
mansion to flats ahead of the construction of no fewer than 10 blocks of flats by the developer A M
Younger. Flats soon spread into the adjoining streets and a second wave of flat building followed World
War Il

There was huge growth in flat development in St Kilda and Elwood in the 1920 and 1930s, attracting
migrants, single people, and people of diverse sexuality. In 1920 there were 527 purpose-built flats in 92
blocks in St Kilda municipality. By 1925 this had increased to 884 flats in 164 blocks. By 1935, despite a
slowing of development due to the Great Depression, there were more than 2,800 flats in over 500 blocks.
A further 2,000 flats were added by 1940; however, the onset of World War Il slowed development.
Nonetheless, by 1947 St Kilda contained 5,500 purpose-built flats, a quarter of all flats in Melbourne (TEH).

Another boom in flat-building began in the mid-1950s. This was fuelled by population growth and a housing
shortage after World War ll, changes to building codes and the introduction of company title (and later
stratum and strata-title) that enabled flats to be sold individually as ‘own your own’ units. Between 1961
and 1971, flats increased from 38% to 62% of all dwellings in St Kilda. The boom in flat building saw St
Kilda’s population increase by 10,000 people at a time when the populations of other inner-city suburbs
were declining (TEH).
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Flats, 306 Dandenong Road - Leaworra

According to the Kearney Plan of 1855 (Figure 1), large holdings were indicated in this part of St Kilda East,
west of Hotham Street and no development. Given how the holdings are larger than those on the following
Parish Plan, it is possible that the extant Crown Potion configuration had not yet been defined by this time.

Figure | — 1855 Kearney Plan, showing approximate locations of the three blocks of flats (Source: State Library of Victoria)

The site formed part of Crown Portion 164B purchased during the late 1850s (post-1857) by M Benjamin,
which likely was Moses Benjamin of M Benjamin & Son, importers (SK, 1859) (PP).

Figure 2 — Parish Plan P81(13), showing approximate location of 306 Dandenong Road (star) and |6 Lansdowne Road, arrow
(Source: Land Victoria)
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This part of St Kilda East was not included on the 1864 Cox plan, which does not extend past the east side
of Westbury Street.

On the 1873 Vardy Plan (NVV3) the site was vacant and part of large holdings owned by a Turnbull,
possibly Phipps.

In 1882, Shirley Grove was created when Judge Skinner’s holdings, then residing at the corner of Albert and
Alexandra roads, were subdivided. The parcel of land of which the subject site was part had already been
sold when the sale was being advertised. The subdivision plan (Figure 3) however does not precisely
conform with the details outlined in a contemporary advertisement (Argus 17 Jun 1882 p3).
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Figure 3 - 1882 subdivision plan of Shirley Grove, showing approximate extent of 306 Dandenong Road (Source: State Library
of Victoria, va000987)

The land was subsequently further subdivided to form four allotments relating to 304, 306-308 Dandenong
Road and 2 Shirley Grove.

By 1890, a seven-roomed brick house been erected on the eastern part of the site (later no. 308) for C
Gordon. At the time, Charles Rogers was the occupant (RB, entry no. 1332). In 1900, by which time, it was

listed as 191 Dandenong Road, Dight Scott was the occupant (SM). The western half (no. 306) remained
undeveloped.
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Figure 5 - 1896 MMBW, plan no. 46, showing location of the three sites (Source: State Library of Victoria)

The 1901 MMBWV plan shows the house at 191 Dandenong Road was a villa with projecting bay and return
verandah (MMBW, no. 1410). About 1912, a house was built on the western part — then 189 Dandenong
Road (SM). In 1915, the numbering changed to nos 306 and 308 (SM).

In a 1940 advertisement, the house at no. 306 was identified as ‘Strathlyn’ and a building of ‘Old English
Design’, when a modern flat on the site is being offered for rent (Argus 20 July 1940 p18). The 1945 aerial
(Figure 6) shows the footprints and roof form of the two earlier houses that occupied the subject site
dating to the late Victorian (no. 308) and late Federation (no. 306) periods.
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Figure 6 — 1945 aerial photograph, showing former houses at 304+306 Dandenong Road (left) and |6 Landowne Road (right)
(Source: Landata, Proj No 5, Run |8E, Frame 58102)

Drawings for the extant building were prepared by the architect Mordecai Benshemesh and are dated 15
December 1959. The builder was identified as A M & R R Gyngell P/L of Cheltenham and the estimated
cost was £40,819. The application was dated 23 February 1960 and the permit was issued on the same day
(BP 57/1149). The original drawing includes depictions of each of the four elevations, two sections and a
typical floor plan. Some minor differences are evident with the completed building as precast concrete
panels were proposed for the front of the balconies however it appears that they are framed metal sheeting
and the tall windows to the stair wells were to be more complex and overtly geometric with small glazing
bars.

According to contemporary newspapers, the Gyngell company was active during the 1940s and 1950s in
Melbourne and across Victoria, mainly in the residential sector, including for the Housing Commission of
Victoria, but also constructed some commercial buildings.
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Figure 7 - Front or north elevation, Dandenong Road (Source: Council Building File)
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Figure 8 - East elevation, Shirley Grove (Source: Council Building File)

In May 1961, a local real estate agent, A | Tee P/L, were advertising ‘a large selection of new flats’ for rent
in the East St Kilda area, and nearby suburbs, including at Leaworra. Features noted were ‘two bedrooms,
lounge with balcony, rubbish chute, drying facilities on each floor, car port, including Venetian Blinds and
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light fittings’. In this notice, the company were also spruiking an array of other flat options in the area —
investments flats, development sites, and own your own flats (AJN 5 May 1961 p19). By September 1961, A
J TEE were promoting the ‘remaining six two-bedroom OYQ’s’, which were to be auctioned in a seated
marquee on the property (AJN | Sept 1961 p22).

AUCTION

Own - Your - Own - Flats
On The Property “LEAWORRA"
In Seated Marquee
SATURDAY, SEPT. Sth., 2.30 P.M.

306 Dandenong Reoad,

East St. Kilda
SEPARATE TITLES

Remaining 6 two bedroom 0.Y.0.'s. All designed to front
Dandenong Road, Large living room, kit. with din
pace, bathroom with sep. S.R. and space for W/M.
CAR PORT, Venet. L.F. Pol. floors, rubbish disposal.
Bervice charge 20/- p.w. Finance Arranged prior te

Anetion,
AUCTIONEERS IN CONJUNCTTON

AR B e e,
BOB HAMILTON Pty. Lid.
436 5. Kilds Road, Melbourne — 26-1724.

Figure 9 - 1961 Advertisement (Source: Australian Jewish News, | September 1961, p22)

The site formed part of two adjacent Crown Portions — nos 170A and 171A — both of which were
purchased by a W Green in 1853 (Argus 08 Oct 1853 p5), who also acquired another two portions (refer
to Parish Plan P81(13) above). This was probably William Green, who was a land agent and auctioneer, as
well as managing director of the Colonial Insurance Company (SK, 1858-59).

The site remained part of much larger holdings until 1904. According to the 1873 Vardy Plan (NW4), the
two parcels had not been subdivided - the northern lot (170A), owned by M Benjamin, was vacant and a
house had been constructed on the southern lot (171A), which was owned by W H Brake and addressed
Alma Road. A quarter of a century later, according to the 1901 MMBW plan (no. 1410), the subject site
remained vacant. By that time, Lansdowne Street had been created and there were five houses addressing
it. The mansion to the south was then known as Treceare. After the death of Sir Archibald Michie, his son
William administered the holdings of nearly 5 acres. The northern part, being the subject site, was excised
and sold in October 1904 to Agnes Davidson (CT, v3004, f704). At the same time, the Davidsons (Agnes
and Alfred) applied for a permit for a weatherboard villa, which was constructed by S Brooke of Canal
Road, Elsternwick (AAl, record no. 46230).

The house had been constructed by 1906 and the Davidsons resided there until 1950 (SM). The footprint
of the earlier house is evident on the preceding 1945 aerial. Agnes died in April 1950, and in November of
that year, the site was sold to Geoffrey Webster, soon after probate was granted to Alfred. A decade later
in October 1960, it was acquired by Boloworra Flats P/L (CT v3013 f493).
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In June 1960, Pavic Investments P/L applied for permit to construct the extant block of 18 flats (BP
57/1358). The architect was Mordecai Benshemesh and the builder was also A M & R R Gyngell P/L.
Dandenong Road and adjoining streets had become a popular location for flats from the Interwar period
onwards. The first block of flats in Lansdowne Road was constructed in 1935, however, it was not until the
post-war period that flat building really began in earnest.

The single drawing is dated 29 April 1960 and includes depictions of each elevation, two sections and a
typical floor plan. Reinforced concrete details, such as for the footings, floor slabs, and stairs, were
prepared by the engineer Peter Stojanoff and dated May 1960.
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Figure 10 - Front or East Elevation (Source: Building File)
There are six flats to each of the three levels but are organized about three entries along the north
elevation. Each flat consists of two bedrooms with the living room and balcony to the north side. Minor

differences are evident between the drawings and extant building for instances the balcony balustrading was
to consist of only panels, rather than a combination of railing and panels.
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NerRTH BELEVATION
Figure I | - North elevation (Source: Building File)

The site was transferred to Byalla Investments P/L in May 1961, who then sold the flats to individual
owners from 1962 to 1967 (CT v8306 f310).

Flats, 8 Westbury Street - Wolverton

The site forms parts of two adjoining Crown Portions, both nearly 4 acres in area - 148A, acquired by T
Fulton & others (L Mackinnon and F Sargood) and 148B, purchased by | Cook in 1853 (Figure 12). The
former conglomerate acquired extensive holdings across Melbourne and were well-known identities.

Figure 12 — Parish Plan P81(13) showing approximate location of 8 Westbury Street (Source: Land Victoria)

By 1855, according to the Kearney plan (Figure 1), Westbury Street had been established and some
development had occurred.

By 1873, several houses had been erected in Westbury Street but not on the subject site, which was then
parts of two parcels of land. At that time, most of the land was owned by G Mills, who owned the house to
the north (Figure 13). The first Torrens title was issued in the following year (CT v629 726).
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Figure 13 - 1873 Vardy Plan NW2, showing approximate location of 8 Westbury Street (Source: SKHS)

Within three years, a substantial house had been constructed at the site probably by Henry Everist (RB,
1875, no. 701). Everist had purchased the site in 1874 (Ct, v659, f775) and was a Toorak-based builder who
became insolvent in 1878 (Australasian 21 Dec 1878 p23). A noted judge, James Warrington Rogers (1822-
1906), resided there for about five years from 1875 however was initially listed as Walter Rogers (ADB,
SM, RB). At this time, the brick house was listed as consisting of 8 rooms with a NAV of £126 (RB, 1875,
no. 701, 1876, no. 739). Rogers purchased the house site in February 1878, then associated with nearly half
an acre (CT v1017 f220).

In 1881, Lauchlan Charles MacKinnon of East St Kilda became the proprietor (CT v1284 f737). A key
establishment figure, MacKinnon (1848-1925) was manager and proprietor of the Argus overseeing a
dramatic increase in circulation (ADB).

The house came to be known as Corry and by the end of the century, had extensive garden areas, mainly to
the south, now associated with no. 12, and a large stables (MMBW, no. 1407).

Mackinnon resided there for about 20 years before Edward Fanning becomes the occupant (SM). In 1907,
Fanning purchased the site, which was inherited by his widow, Kate, in 1918 (CT v3212 f323).

On a 1917 drawing, prepared by the noted architects — Klingender & Alsop — the building is referred to as
Corramin. At this time, the two-story building was subdivided into four flats with an additional stair being
introduced on the north side (BP).
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Figure 14 — 1917 drawing of conversion of the original house at 8 Westbury Street to 4 flats (Source: Building File)

The current extent of the site was established in 1919 when part of the adjoining Crown Portion to the
east, no.|48B, added to holdings by John William Thomas (CT v4210 f914).

From the mid-1930s, it became known as Westbury (Mansion) flats (SM). An auction notice of 1956
indicates that the ‘substantial two storey investment building with slate roof was comprised of four self-
contained flats (Argus 18 Apr 1956 pl4).

This was in keeping with the changes in the locale as Westbury Street, with access to Alma Park and tram
routes at either end, became a popular location for flats during the interwar period. The first block,
constructed in 1927 at the south end of the street (now 127 Westbury Close), was to remain the only flats
until 1934, when a further three blocks were built. This was the start of minor boom in flat building, which
saw a further |3 blocks constructed in the five years from 1935 to 1940. The building of flats continued
apace during the post-war period.

The 1945 aerial photograph shows the extent of the earlier building in relation to its site (Figure 15).
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Figure 15 - 1945, showing former house at 8 Westbury Street (Source: Landata, Proj No 5, Run |8E, Frame 58014)

Thomas died in 1951 and later the site was sold to Victorian General Investment Corporation Ltd in
February 1960, and then transferred about a year later to Pavic Investments P/L and Elgram Trust Company
P/L in April 1961 (CT v4210 f914). In February 1960, Wolverton Flats P/L are also recorded as the
manager/owner (BP).

The application for the extant block of 18 flats was made on 10 March 1960 and a permit was issued by St
Kilda Council six days later (BP no. 57/1185, 16 March 1960). Designed by Mordecai Benshemesh, it was
constructed by Martin Adams & Co. P/L of Burwood at a cost of £54,000. Martin Adams & Co. was
residential builder/developer who was active by the early 1950s when the then Hartwell-based company
advertised that European Languages were spoken in the Australian Jewish News indicating their clientele
included the immigrants coming to Australia at that time (AJN || Dec 1953). The company still exists as
Martin Adams Property.

One drawing was prepared by Benshemesh dated 3 February 1960 which included four elevations, two
sections, a block plan and typical floor plan. There are some minor differences between the drawings and
constructed building — primarily the detailing of the window bay of the front/west elevation. On the original
drawing, render is indicated for the spandrel panel alternating with a band of windows with only three
window panes, however the extant building has timber-framed spandrels with sheeting and a wider band of
windows with staggered glazing bars the same as those on the north/garden elevation.

The south elevation was similar to that of 16 Lansdowne Street as was the generally planning, though was
only partly mirrored about the three entries as there was a consistent separation of the balconies (taking
advantage of the wider site and opportunities for views). The louvres to the upper part of the circulation
areas was an innovation as was the introduction of an incinerator to the rear wall (servicing a pair of
kitchens). Steel deck was to be employed to the flat roof. The ground floor has a timber-framed floor with
concrete slab to the two levels above. There was allowance for |3 car spaces to the south-western part of
the site.
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Figure 16 - 1960 drawings, Block Plan showing building footprint (Source: Building File)
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Figure 17 - 1960 drawings, front or west elevation (Source: Building File)

The engineer Peter Stojanoff was engaged again to develop the reinforced concrete details, such as for the
footings, floor slabs, and stairs, and prepared drawings dated February 1960.
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HNORTH ELEVATION

Figure 18 - 1960 drawings, north elevation (Source: Building File)

Born in Palestine in 1912, Benshemesh spent three years (1930-1933) at the Montefiori Polytechnical
School in Tel Aviv, which was then part of the Ottoman Empire. He subsequently travelled to London
where he initially studied a year of engineering before completing a degree in architecture in 1937 (Edquist,
2012).

In 1939 Benshemesh migrated to Australia where he worked in the offices of notable Melbourne architects
including Arthur W Plaisted (1940-1941) and Harry (Ray) Johnson (1946-49), where he was the lead
designer. The office specialised in blocks of flats often designed in a streamlined moderne style. Several of
these were built in the St Kilda area where he was living at the time (Edquist, 2012).

In 1943 he enrolled in an engineering course at the Melbourne Technical College (now RMIT University).
Benshemesh established his own practice in 1948 where his projects continued to focus on apartment style
living. He soon gained a reputation as ‘Mr Highrise,” and was known as the city’s leading designer of high-
density residential developments (BH). In 1961 Benshemesh and Sydney architects Harry Seidler and
Neville Gruzman, were invited as specialists in high-rise development to contribute to a forum on multi-
storey apartment buildings (Edquist, 2012).

Benshemesh passed away on 22 December 1993.

Australian Architectural Index (AAl), Miles Lewis

Australian Dictionary of Biography (ADB),

Built Heritage (BH), http://www.builtheritage.com.au/dua_benshemesh.html, accessed 23.06.202|
Certificates of Title (CT), various

Edquist, Harriet (2012), ‘Benshemesh, Mordecai’, in Phillip Goad and Julie Willis [eds] The Encyclopedia of
Australian Architecture, Cambridge University Press, Melbourne, p79

Kearney, James ‘Melbourne + its Suburbs’ (no.4, Prahran & St Kilda) - Melbourne 1855
MMBW, plan no. 46 (1896), and detail plan nos 1407 (1897) + 1410 (1901)
Newspapers: Argus, Australasian, Australian Jewish News (AJN)

O’Hanlon, Seamus, ‘Home together, Home apart: Boarding house, hostel and flat life in Melbourne c.1900-
1940’, PhD Thesis, History Department, Monash University

Parish Plans, P81(I1), P81(13) (PP)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021
Rate books (RB)

St Kilda Council building permit files (BP)

Sands & Kenney Directories (SK),
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Sands & McDougall Directories (SM) 1955-1965

Sawyer, Terry, (1982) ‘Residential flats in Melbourne: the development of a building type to 1950’, Honours
thesis, Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning, The University of Melbourne

Vardy Plans, 1873

The individual blocks of flats have some similarities in that they are all three storey, have walls of cream
brick in stretcher bond, flat roofs clad in sheet metal with a wide fascia and soffit lined with battened
sheeting. They all have timber-framed openings.

The three buildings are all in good condition and have a high level of external intactness.

Leaworra is located at the west corner Dandenong Road and Shirley Grove. The building occupies much of
the flat site with an area of about | 160m2 There is lawn and perimeter planting to the front, the latter
partly obscuring the building from the public domain. To the rear, the land is concrete paved providing
access to the carports. The carports are configured in two sections, each with walls of cream brick and
skillion roof clad in corrugated sheet metal. Steel poles divide each block into bays.

The front boundaries have a low cream brick fence with a wide-toothed/staggered profile. The rear
boundary backs onto a laneway and there is a timber paling fence to the west boundary.

The building steps across the site in four sections, with a total of 12 flats. The two entries, each providing
access to six flats, consists of a narrow strip of windows — alternating fixed and awnings — above the glazed
door.

v
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Figure 20 - Leoworra from Shirley Grove

The articulation of each section is consistent. A balcony extends in front of the full height openings of the
living room on the north (Dandenong Road) elevation. These windows have a staggered pattern of glazing
bars and the balustrade is inwardly canted to the front and lined with a panel, though open to the side with
metal railing. The east elevation has narrower banks of windows, each divided into four sections with one
having small grey ceramic tiles and including two fixed panes and one openable.

Figures 2| & 22 — East elevation (Shirley Grove) and north elevation (Dandenong Road)

The west side is only partly visible, however smaller groups of windows are evident and shared rear
balconies, accessed from the respective kitchens.

The block of flats at 16 Lansdowne Road is located on the west side of the street near the intersection
with Hughenden Road. The long, narrow site has an area of about 1320m2and access to the rear, concrete
paved car parking area is by a basalt-lined laneway emanating on Dandenong Road (between nos 314 and
316).

Across the front boundary is an original, low cream brick fence with metal palisading introduced above.
There is a brick bay with letterboxes at the north end and the other boundaries have timber paling fences.
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Figure 23 - Aerial photograph showing approximate boundaries (Source: Nearmap, 29.04.2021)

The building occupies much of the land with narrow side setbacks with a concrete path on each side. There
is limited planting to the front setback, where there is a well-established cypress tree, and along the
northern boundary.

The front/east elevation, like the other two buildings in the group is blank to one half (the south end), but
in this instance features L-shaped projections in the brickwork. The north end has a wrap-around, concrete
balcony, which is faceted at the corner and angled on its continuation along the north elevation. The
balustrade consists mostly of thin metal components with some white, framed panels — two at the south
end and one at the faceted corner. The handrail is also white which contrasts with the black balusters. The
rear balconies are barely visible from the public realm. According to the original drawings, they are partly
recessed into the building, however also have a similarly splayed form and presumably similar balustrading.

There are openings to both sides of the front balcony. To the front/east side is a bank of three windows —
with highlights — above a glazed, brown brick sill. Adjacent to the bank of windows is a section of
geometric, mosaic tiling with a central, speckled grey square tile framed by a white border with a smaller
dark tile at the corners (Figure 26). To the north side, there is full-height glazing with doors/windows.
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Figure 24 —North-east corner, showing splayed balconies
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From the drawings, the north elevation is organised into bays, mirrored about the three circulation cores.
The latter are glazed, possibly all fixed panes, except for the upper section of glass louvres. The banks of
windows either side of the stairwells also have glazed brown sills and it seems that the windows to all the
balconies except the front also have the same brown sills (that is, are not full height). The only likely change
to an opening is that to the lower front flat, whose opening to the east elevation has been extended to
floor level.

Figures 25 & 26 - Front/east elevation and detail of tiling

The Wolverton site is located on the east side of Westbury Street, at about the mid-way point between
Dandenong Road (to the north) and Fulton Street (to the south). The long, rectangular site has an area of
1425m? and the terrain falls about two metres from the north-east to the south-west.

| e e " A 2
Figure 27 - Aerial photograph showing approximate boundaries (Source: Nearmap, 29.04.2021)

The front boundary has a low brick fence, which steps down the site, with a decorative metal balustrade
above (possibly not original) and a matching pedestrian gate at the north end leading to a concrete path.
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Near the latter is a low wall containing letterboxes. Along the southern boundary is a concrete paved
driveway providing access to the car parking area to the south-east part of the site. The front north-west
part is extensively planted with shrubs, bushes, etc. providing considerable privacy.

Figure 28 - North/garden elevation

The building has a stepped footprint in three blocks in order to optimise the solar access. Given the slope,
the roof of each section is separate and has a splayed profile above the similarly faceted balconies. The fan-
like concrete balconies are similar to those at 16 Lansdowne Road but all sit forward of the wall, whereas
at the former all but the front group are partly recessed. Similar to the latter, the balustrade consists of fine
metal balusters and two panels to the front, splayed part. In this instance, all parts have a white finish.

The extent of glazing to the front parts of Wolverton overall is greater than the other two blocks. The banks
of windows to the front/west elevation alternate with a spandrel, also timber-framed but with white
painted sheeting. All the banks of windows to the front part of the building (west and north elevations)
feature staggered configuration of glazing bars. The circulation areas have spandrels at the floor level and
louvres to the upper part. Like the other two blocks of flats, there are smaller windows to the rear (south
and east elevations). The projections to the south wall which extend above the roofline initially
accommodated incinerators.

The flats are all two-bedroomed floor plans though the floor plans alternate across each level as the
kitchens were mirrored about the incinerator but the front parts (lounge and a bedroom) were not. The
name of the building is applied to the front section of blank wall in large metal lettering.
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Figure 29 - Front/west elevation showing spandrels and staggered window configuration

The southern parts of the municipality — St Kilda (East) and Elwood - have manifold Post-war flats. Whilst
many are generic, there is a relatively high concentration of architect-designed examples which are more
finely detailed or distinguished by their site responsiveness. Mordecai Benshemesh was one of several
émigré architects that were active in the area and at the forefront of the evolution of this building type
along with Theodore Berman, Michael R E Feldhagen, Dr Ernest Fooks, Kurt Popper and Sol Sapir, often
working for Jewish clients and accommodating the influx of Central and Eastern European Jewish refugees
who were accustomed to apartment living. In addition, several Australian-born architects were responsible
for flats but rarely multiple examples.

The subject group are indicative of the approach that evolved during the end of the Postwar period — circa
mid to late 1950s/early 1960s. Moving further into the 1960s, there was a shift to what is often defined as
the late 20t century period, when the influence of Brutalism becomes apparent in the bolder forms and use
of brown brick. Although cream brick was also common during the earlier phase of the Postwar period,
during the late 1940s and early 1950s, a Functionalist mode held sway at that time with parapets and steel-
framed windows. From about the mid-1950s, whilst roofs were typically flat, they were usually expressed
with soffits, often deep, and openings were typically timber framed.

Several blocks of flats designed by Mordecai Benshemesh are included within the heritage overlay (with
others yet to be assessed), though only one is directly comparable to the subject group (that at 22
Westbury Street) as they are in a different design mode, mainly either Functionalist or International style.

e The earlier examples, dating to 1951 - Burnett Lodge at 9-11 Burnett Street, St Kilda (Citation 2444,
HOS precinct) - and to 1956 - Barkly Lodge, 289 Barkly Street, St Kilda (Citation 2444, HO35). Both
are overtly Functionalist in their cuboid volumetric expression with a taller, separate circulation zones
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(stairs and galleries), parapeted roofs rather than having a wide eaves overhang, and steel-framed
windows. The glazing to the circulation tower of the former has a horizontal emphasis whereas that to
the latter has a strongly contrasting vertical emphasis.

e Two notable blocks were completed in the year prior, 1959. The iconic Edgewater Towers at 12
Marine Parade, St Kilda (Citation 2049) and another nearby to Wolverton at 22 Westbury Street
(contributory within HO6 precinct). The former is in a different category, as it is a multi-storey
International style building in white painted concrete with continuous bands of glazing to each elevation.
The latter bears some similarities with the subject group in the material palette, the balcony detailing
(metal balustrade with panels), fully glazed stairwells with louvres, but has more regular patterns of
glazing and lacks some of the more distinguishing details of this group such as fan-like balconies and
decorative treatments (e.g. tiling or projecting brick work).

Two known later examples are currently not graded within their respective precincts:

e 318 Beaconsfield Parade, 1963 (HO444, non-contributory). A block of three storey flats with a L-plan
with canted side walls. They are largely intact with the brick being overpainted and most of the
recessed balconies enclosed.

e Another multi-storey block - Questa Heights - at 21 The Esplanade, St Kilda of 1965 (HOS5, non-
contributory). Of a similar ilk to Edgewater Towers, the walls are white painted concrete with
continuous bands of glazing. The projecting balconies are like those on the subject group in their
combination of metal balusters and panels.

In terms of other flats of the late 1950s and early 1960s, Park View by the Slovakian-born Dr Ernest Fooks
(originally Fuchs) is comparative.

e Park View, 5 Herbert Street, St Kilda, 1958-59 (Citation 2427). This is an earlier, seminal example of the
approach evident in the subject group. Wolverton has some similar detailing — stepped footprint to
maximise views, splayed balconies with some panels, the timber-framed spandrel panels. The circulation
is however different being along external galleries to the rear rather than divided into more discrete
and enclosed access zones.

The work of the Viennese Kurt Popper is generally indicative of a restrained version of contemporary
Modernism. Although his contemporary work shares a similar material palette, he generally employed more
contained footprints and forms.

e Flats, 124-126 Alma Road, 1954 + 47 Westbury Street, St Kilda, 1956 (Contributory within HO6).
Similar, adjacent blocks in a Functionalist mode. Cream brick (one on red brick plinth), with parapeted
roof, steel-framed windows, some with concrete framing and balconies with concrete decks and metal
railing.

e Flats, 22A Acland Street, St Kilda, 1957 (Contributory within HOS5). Of a similar type to the subject
site, though with a regular footprint. Cream brick with panels of pale blue tiles to the facade and
balconies with metal balustrading with diamond pattern. It however has a tile clad, hipped roof.

e Flats, 17 & 17A Burnett Street, St Kilda 1958-59 (Contributory within HOS5). More conventional with a
hipped roof clad in tile in two mirror-image blocks. Distinguished by the expressed rendered frame to
the corner windows.

e Flats, 2| Dickens Street, Elwood, 1965 (Contributory within St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs
precinct). A relatively late cream brick example with minimal eaves overhang as the balconies, with
faceted metal panels to the balustrade, are recessed.

The work of Michael R.E. Feldhagen forms a discrete sub-group, which is not readily comparable to the
work of his contemporaries. His flat architecture is often distinguished by the use breeze block and other
contrasting materials to create more varied and decorative exteriors, usually in a Featurist mode:
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e  Flats/duplex, 247-249 Inkerman Street, Balaclava, 1962 (Citation 2025, HO315 precinct). A two storey,
Featurist example with concrete Roman bricks and paneled concrete.

e Surf Side, 46 Ormond Esplanade, Elwood, 1963-64 (Citation 755, HO353), Bichrome brick — cream and
brown — with steel poles and railing. Breeze block or the like to the balconies. Also has a stepped
footprint to maximise views of the bay.

e Flats, 99 Westbury Street, Balaclava, 1963 (Citation 2445) — Featurist, wider upper floor with stacked
concrete Roman bricks and decorative concrete panels, over a cream brick base.

Among the contemporary work of other designers/architects, the main comparison is with Chudleigh
Court and to a lesser extent the blocks at 33 Pine Avenue and 2| Redan Street, where some triangular or
splayed geometry has also been employed.

e  Chudleigh Court, 9 Dickens Street, Elwood, 1958, Bailey and Tilley Home Plan Service (Citation 2426).
The three-storey, cream brick block has a skillion roof form with triangular projections and balconies
on the east (garden) elevation. The garden side openings are timber-framed, whereas steel-framed
windows are employed to the gallery side. The metal balustrading features a triangular pattern.

e Flats, 21 Redan Street, St Kilda, 1958, John & Phyllis Murphy (Citation 785, HO503). An unusual two-
storey red brick building, comprised of two-level flats with separate entries, with a prow-like form and
gable roof. Triangular forms are employed under the encompassing roof to provide privacy.

e Flats, 33 Pine Avenue, Elwood, 1959, Leslie ] W Reed (Citation 2339, HO429). Cream brick, tile-clad
hipped roof, with a flat roof, stairwell block to the front, screen walls, and a splayed profile to the
upper-level balconies, which have a standard railing detail. The windows are timber-framed, including
spandrels to the facade.

e Flats, 39 Southey Street, Elwood, 1959, L.G. Grant & Associates (Contributory within St Kilda Botanical
Gardens & Environs precinct) Cream brick but with extensive use of decorative brickwork and screens
to the front and a bowed concrete canopy to the entrance supported on steel poles.

e Flats, 63-69 Tennyson Street, Elwood, 1959-60, A V Jennings (Citation 2344, HO436). A series of four
mirrored blocks, cream brick, stepped form with undercroft carparking, spandrels and banks of
windows.

e Rocklea Gardens, 46-40 Hotham Street, St Kilda East, 1960, designed by Theodore Berman. (Citation
2017, HO293). International style, continuous band of windows/openings with balconies, and spandrel
panels at either end of the elongated facade.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Add to the Heritage Overlay as an individual place.

Apply fence controls in the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay (original fences).
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RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, Review of Heritage Precinct HO7 — Elwood, St Kilda, Balaclava,
Ripponlea - Stage 2 Report (2022)

Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

306 Dandenong Road, St Kilda East
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8 Westbury Street. St Kilda
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Place name: Benshemesh Flats Group Listing |

(1948-1954) Citation No:

Other names: Barkly Lodge, Burnett Lodge, Francelaw 2444
Flats

<<<<<

Address: 289 Barkly Street & || Burnett Heritage Precinct: St Kilda Hill (11
Street, St Kilda and 62 Hotham Burnett Street)
Street & 38 Westbury Street, St
Kilda East. Heritage Overlay: HO35
Category: Residential: Flats Graded as: Significant
Style: Postwar: Functionalist Victorian Heritage Register: No

Constructed: Late 1940s to early 1950s
Designer: Mordecai Benshemesh
Amendment: C206port

Comment: New citation

The Benshemesh Flats Group Listing | (1948-1954) comprising four separate blocks of flats, constructed
during the late 1940s to early 1950s, at 289 Barkly Street & I | Burnett Street, St Kilda and 62 Hotham
Street & 38 Westbury Street, St Kilda East — all designed by the émigré architect Mordecai Benshemesh
(or, in the case of 62 Hotham Street, presumed to have been designed by Benshemesh) - is significant.

All four buildings are intact, are three storey, and have (predominantly) cream brick walls, cuboid forms,
and steel-framed openings. The flat roofs are concealed by parapets and are partly or fully traversable.
Three (62 Hotham Street, 289 Barkly Street, || Burnett Street) retain original low front fences, and 38
Westbury Street has a likely original brick bay with letterboxes.

62 Hotham Street (Francelaw Flats), comprised of 12 flats, was designed in 1948 and constructed by Harry
Kinsman in 1948-49. It is comprised of two offset blocks. There is a taller stairwell bay with an elongated,
vertically orientated window. Horizontally is emphasised by rendered banding and the wide windows,
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including corner windows, which have horizontal glazing bars. There are also porthole windows at the
front. Corner balconies supported by steel poles have a cantilevered concrete deck and brick balustrade.

38 Westbury Street, comprised of 23 flats, was designed in 1951 and constructed by Harry Kinsman in
1951-52. It has a T-shaped footprint, with the greater part of the building positioned to the rear of the site.
The entry bays are recessed and do not project above the main parapet. The balconies have a concrete
deck and brick balustrade with a metal rail.

I Burnett Street (Burnett Lodge), comprised of 20 flats, was designed in 1951 and constructed by G
Trencher in 1951-52. It has a broadly ‘U’ shaped footprint. The prominent taller stairwell bay has narrow
horizontal bands of windows. The long walkways have brick balustrades and concrete decks.

289 Barkly Street, comprised of |9 flats, was designed in 1953 and constructed by | Trencher in 1953-54. It
has a rectangular footprint. There is a taller stairwell bay with an elongated, vertically orientated window.
The balconies and galleries have concrete decks and metal balustrades with vertical balusters, the latter also
have steel poles.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

The Benshemesh Flats Group Listing | (1948-1954) is of local historic and aesthetic significance to the City
of Port Phillip.

The Benshemesh Flats Group Listing | (1948-1954) is historically significant as part of the extensive flat
building program that has characterised much of the 20t century history of the municipality but especially
this part of St Kilda East/St Kilda and which gained pace after World War Il with the introduction of the
Own-Your-Own (OYO) option. As was common, the flats either replaced earlier Victorian period houses
or were built in excised sections of their grounds. The flat typology evolved with the work of several
émigré architects, who were responsible for a high proportion of the architect-designed examples and who
often worked with Jewish developers. These imbued the area with a more progressive, International
character, and which was supported by the local, often Jewish, community. The group also have
associations with the architect Mordecai Beshemesh, ‘Mr Highrise’, who was prolific in this domain but also
at the forefront of flat design. (Criterion A)

The Benshemesh Flats Group Listing | (1948-1954) is of aesthetic significance as a distinctive group of flats
by the Palestinian born émigré architect Mordecai Benshemesh. They are fine examples of the Functionalist
style and are distinguished from the work of other architects in the municipality, particularly in terms of the
boldness of their massing. There is a slight shift in the external palette to the four blocks over the time
period, with the two earlier buildings (1948 and 1951) being partly red brick, whereas the two later
buildings (1953 and 1954) are completely cream brick, possibly reflecting the higher cost of cream bricks,
especially in the immediate postwar years when materials were rationed. The three surviving original front
fences contribute to the setting of the flats. (Criterion E)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.5 Higher-density housing)
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The early twentieth century saw a marked decline in the viability of large mansions across Melbourne’s
suburbs in general, but it was particularly felt in the more affluent inner southern suburbs such as St Kilda
and Brighton, where land was highly sought-after by a new generation of homebuilders seeking smaller
detached dwellings, duplexes or flats. The trend toward higher-density living in St Kilda began with the
conversion of mansions and terrace houses into boarding houses in the early 1900s and continued with the
first purpose-built flats that appeared at the beginning of World War I. A 1919 newspaper article noted:

It was held to be no longer necessary to labour with a house and all the domestic drudgery that entailed
when by borrowing Continental ideas, people who could afford it could live in flats... Land has become so
valuable the villa of the Victorian days, in a crowded thoroughfare, no longer shows anything like an adequate
return of interest on the land’s present capital value. It is more profitable to pull the house erected thereon
down, and to erect flats. When the flat became popular in England the experiment was made in St Kilda,
and it did not take long to discover there was a genuine demand for flats (Prahran Telegraph, 18 October
1919, p4)

Higher-density housing in the form of boarding houses paved the way to flat development. Flats first
appeared in Melbourne around 1906 and slowly spread to the suburbs. They followed a strong pattern of
development, appearing close to transport routes, particularly along or within walking distance of tram
routes, to allow easy travel to the city. With their proximity to the beach and parklands, good public
transport networks and seaside character, the suburbs of St Kilda and Elwood were especially popular
locations for flats. Flats became a dominant characteristic of St Kilda and Elwood, and still make up a high
percentage of dwellings in those areas. They include some of the earliest surviving flats in Melbourne, some
of the best examples of architectural styles and types of flats, and as a group demonstrate the increasing
popularity of the lifestyle of flat living from the early twentieth century (TEH).

There was huge growth in flat development in St Kilda and Elwood in the 1920 and 1930s, attracting
migrants, single people, and people of diverse sexuality. In 1920 there were 527 purpose-built flats in 92
blocks in St Kilda municipality. By 1925 this had increased to 884 flats in 164 blocks, including large
complexes such as the Ardoch flats in Dandenong Road. By 1935, despite a slowing of development due to
the Great Depression, there were more than 2,800 flats in over 500 blocks. A further 2,000 flats were
added by 1940; however, the onset of World War Il slowed development. Nonetheless, by 1947 St Kilda
contained 5,500 purpose-built flats, a quarter of all flats in Melbourne (TEH).

Another boom in flat-building began in the mid-1950s. This was fuelled by population growth and a housing
shortage after World War Il, changes to building codes and the introduction of company title (and later
stratum and strata-title) that enabled flats to be sold individually as ‘own your own’ units.

During the early 1950s, a crisis was developing as the number of permits being issued was woefully
inadequate however — in 1952, the St Kilda municipality issued 6 permits (of 42 across the city) for 49 units
(Argus | Mar 1954 p10)

The erection of more blocks of flats is one of the most urgent housing needs of Melbourne.
Agents find it impossible to meet the big inquiry for this type of home.

In an article entitled, ‘St Kilda Grows as Flat Centre’ the zeitgeist was captured (Argus 27 Apr 1956 p17)
In recent years the major portion of new building work in St. Kilda has been in flats, and this will continue.

The district can still do with many more flats to meet the demand of the big floating population associated
with a quickly growing city like Melbourne.
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St. Kilda has all the advantages for flat life of a big city. It is well-served by transport from and to the city —
less than four miles distant.

Shops have developed to meet the needs of "flatites;" and there are now numerous cafes serving meals at all
hours.

Real estate agents have- waiting lists of tenants for flats and apartments of all kinds.

... A feature of real estate activity in St. Kilda at present is the sale, of "own-your-own" flats. Since it has
become possible for each flat owner to have a certificate of title, sales have been made more freely.

The buildings which are being subdivided in this manner must be of modern construction with concrete floors,
and comply with certain regulations.

... New Australians are reported to be showing, interest in this form of home ownership.

... Investors are showing a renewed interest in blocks of flats, and are reported to be buying where the net
return is below bank interest rate. They regard the present return as a minimum.

Between 1961 and 1971, flats increased from 38% to 62% of all dwellings in St Kilda. The boom in flat
building saw St Kilda’s population increase by 10,000 people at a time when the populations of other inner-
city suburbs were declining (TEH).

The site at 62 Hotham Street formed part of Crown portion |161A at East St Kilda Parish of Prahran,
County of Bourke. The approximately five-acre allotment was purchased by | Sutherland in or after 1857
(PP).

The 1900 MMBWV plan (Figure 1) shows a seven-roomed weatherboard house upon the subject site which
at that time was owned and occupied by Mary Castieau (RB 1900 no. 1523).

i E-A-RDH6AN R

Hotham Street
.

Figure | - MMBW detail plan no. 1420, dated 1900 (Source: State Library of Victoria)

In 1948, the subject site was acquired by married couple Leon and Rachel Lipp of 40 Southey Street Elwood
(CT v.7180 £.802). Leon and Rachel were post-war Romanian immigrants (Age 27 Apr 1953 pé6). In 1949,
three others joined the Lipps in ownership of the site: June Surkis, timber merchant and Leo Malcolm
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Lawrence, sawmiller, both of 40 Southey Street (that is, the same apartment block as the Lipps), and Simon
Grace, sawmiller, of 55 Spencer Street St Kilda (CT v.7261 £.197).

In October 1948, Council issued a permit for a three-storey building containing | | flats, estimated to cost
£22,000 (BP U598). The builder was Harry Kinsman of Kensington. The owner named on the permit was
the Record Timber Company (apparently represented by the owners named on the certificate of title),
which was based in East Brunswick (SM). In August 1949, a second permit was issued for an additional flat,
estimated to cost £2,700 (BP U732). In April 1951, a third permit was issued for a brick garage, estimated
to cost £1250 (BP U1086).

Although the original building plans are not available, and the designer has not been confirmed, it is
considered highly likely that the architect Mordecai Benshemesh is responsible based on the similarities
with other known contemporary examples of Benshemesh’s work, both in the municipality (see
comparative analysis) and outside (for example, flats at 124 Balaclava Road, North Caulfield built in 1950-
51). Furthermore, Benshemesh is also known to have worked with the builder Harry Kinsman on other
projects including the aforementioned flats at |24 Balaclava Road, and 38 Westbury Street, St Kilda East
(see below).

Following completion, the flats were leased. At least some of the early tenants were European émigrés
from countries such as Hungary, Poland and Romania (Age 3 Jun 1954 p17; 4 May 1954 p18; 16 Jul 1953
p7). Between 1957 and 1958, ownership was transferred in stages to St Ninian P/L of 60 Market Street
Melbourne (CT v.8198 f.838; v.8198 £.887; v.8178 £.453).

The site formed part of Crown portion |50A and |150B Parish of Prahran, County of Bourke. The
approximately five-acre allotments were purchased by T Fulton L Mackinnon & F Sargood (150A) and R B
Chomley (150B) in November 1853 (PP).

The 1897 MMBWV plan (Figure 2) shows that the subject site formed part of the grounds of a nine-roomed
brick house at no. 44 and other land to the rear (RB 1897 Jan. nos 1184 and 1185).

ALMA

Ingleton’ 13

Westbury Street

Figure 2 - MMBW detail plan no. 1408 dated 1897. Approximate boundaries of 38 Westbury Street are indicated. (Source:
State Library of Victoria)
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In 1948, Charles and Fay Brooks of 317 Orrong Road East St Kilda acquired the land associated with the
subject site and additional land amounting to approximately |'/4 acres on the east side of Westbury Street
(CT v.7100 £.886). Charles (Chaskiel), an importer, and his wife Fay (Faiga) were Polish-born immigrants
who were closely involved with Melbourne’s Jewish community (Australian Jewish News 13 Dec 1963 p20; 17
Jan 1964 pl2).

The Brooks’ engaged architect Mordecai Benshemesh to design a three-storey building containing 23 flats
which is illustrated on plans dated March 1951 (Figure 3). Harry Kinsman was the builder (BP U.I134).
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Figure 3 - North elevation (Mordecai Benshemesh, 1951) (Source: Council Building File)

Following completion, the Brookses retained ownership of the building and the flats were leased. At least
some of the early tenants were European émigrés from countries such as Germany and Poland (Age 16 Jul
1953 p7; 6 May 1954 p17; 22 Apr 1955 p20).

The site formed part of Crown portions 25 and 26 at St Kilda Parish of South Melbourne, County of
Bourke. The three-acre allotments were purchased by F G Dalgety at an unknown date (PP).

The 1897 MMBWV plan (Figure 4) shows the subject site formed part of the grounds of the 8-roomed
weatherboard house at 7 Burnett Street (still extant), which at that time was owned and occupied by
George Watson (RB 1897 no. 4504).
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Figure 4 - MMBW Detail Plan no. 1365, dated 1897. Earlier extent of 7 Burnett Street (dotted line), subject site (solid line).
(Source: State Library of Victoria)
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In 1951, the half-acre property was subdivided into two almost equal parts: the western part containing the
house and the eastern part being the subject site which was purchased by Esther Avramoff, widow, of 10
Ellesmere Road Windsor (CT v.8004 f.123). The following year, in 1952, Esther was joined in ownership by
three others: Sonia Davis, married woman, of |7 Wimbledon Avenue Elwood, John Arthur Trencher,

builder, of 2 George Street Caulfield, and Mordecai Benshemesh, architect, of 490 St Kilda Road Melbourne
(CT v.8004 f.124).

In 1951, Mordecai Benshemesh prepared plans for a three-storey building containing 20 one-bedroom flats,
a café on the second floor, and laundry facilities on the roof. The title block on the plans indicate they were
prepared for ‘Messrs T D T B & Co.” (the members of this group are not known, but it appears that it
included Dr Eugene Treyvish who was a relative of joint owners Esther Avramoff and Sonia Davis). Council
issued a permit in August 1951 (BP U.1174). The estimated cost was £35,000. The builder was ‘G
Trencher’ of 2A George Street Caulfield, who was presumably a relative of the aforementioned joint
owner, John Arthur Trencher, also a builder.
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Figure 6 - West elevation, from plans related to Building Permit U[ 174 (M Benshemesh, 1951) (Source: Council Building File)

By early 1953, the building had been completed and ownership was transferred to Burnett Lodge P/L c/o
Feiglin & Francome P/L of 83 William Street Melbourne. Flats were advertised for sale on an ‘own-your-
own’ basis for £3000 with a deposit of £1000 and the balance at £4 weekly (Age 28 Feb 1953 p24).

Advertisements highlighted that the flats were ‘close to trains, trams, beach etc.’ (Age 25 Mar 1953 p17).
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289 Barkly Street, St Kilda - Barkly Lodge

The site formed part of Crown portion 81 at St Kilda Parish of South Melbourne, County of Bourke. The
approximately 3'/4-acre allotment was purchased by G Baker in October 1869 (PP).

In June 1902, land amounting to half an acre, comprising the subject site and the adjacent site to the north
(287 Barkly Street), was acquired by Vincenzo Cicalese, confectioner, of Rainsford Street St Kilda (CT
v.2879 £.783). Cicalese had a weatherboard villa erected at 287 Barkly Street known as Ravello (BP no. 89;
SM 1905), while the land at no. 289 remained undeveloped.

Both the 1905 MMBW (detail plan no. 1379) plan and a 1945 aerial photograph shows Ravello at no. 287
and the vacant subject site.
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Figure 7 - Aerial photograph dated 1945. No. 289 (subject site) is outlined, and no. 287 is indicated with an arrow. (Source:
Landata, Proj No 5, Run 16, Frame 57850)

Following Vincenzo Cicalese’s death in 1952, nos 287 and 289 were sold separately. No. 289 was purchased
by Leon Yehuda Sher, manufacturer, of 9 Bramley Court Kew, and architect Mordecai Benshemesh of 34
Fitzroy Street St Kilda, with the transfer registered in December 1953 (CT v.8059 £.888).

Two versions of undated plans were prepared by Mordecai Benshemesh for a three-storey building
containing 18 two-bedroomed flats and laundry facilities on the roof. The version of the plans that were
not built had alternative fenestration detailing and pattern to the fagade (horizontally orientated windows
to the stair enclosure and rows of five smaller windows) and solid balustrade detailing to the north
elevation (Figures 8 and 10). The version of the plans that were built (this was apparently a post-permit
amendment) (Figures 9 and | 1) included an additional bedsit flat on the roof. A permit for the building was
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issued by Council in July 1953 (BP U.1677). The building was estimated to cost £60,000 and the builder was
J Trencher of George Street, Caulfield (presumably John A Trencher). An August newspaper article
indicated that tenders for the job would be called shortly (Argus 20 Aug 1953 pI ). A minor amendment for
the internal reconfiguration of one of the flats was dated January 1954.

FROMNT ELEVATION FRONT ELEVATION

Figures 8 and 9 - Front elevation, unbuilt version (left) amended built version (right). Plans related to Building Permit U1677 (M
Benshemesh, undated) (Source: Council Building File)

NORTH ELEVATION

Figures 10 and I | - North elevation, unbuilt version (top) amended built version (below). Plans related to Building Permit U1677
(M Benshemesh, undated) (Source: Council Building File)
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By early 1955, the building had been completed and ownership was transferred to Barkly Lodge P/L c/o
Feiglin & Francome P/L of 83 William Street Melbourne. Flats were advertised for sale on an ‘own-your-
own’ basis (Age 2 Feb 1955 p18).

Born in Palestine in 1912, Mordecai Benshemesh spent three years (1930-1933) at the Montefiori
Polytechnical School in Tel Aviv, which was then part of the Ottoman Empire. He subsequently travelled to
London where he initially studied a year of engineering before completing a degree in architecture in 1937
(HE).

In 1939 Benshemesh migrated to Australia where he worked in the offices of notable Melbourne architects
including Arthur W Plaisted (1940-1941) and Harry R Johnson (1946-49), where he was the lead designer.
The office specialised in blocks of flats often designed in the Streamlined Moderne style. Several of these
were built in the St Kilda area where he was living at the time (HE).

In 1943 he enrolled in an engineering course at the Melbourne Technical College (now RMIT University).
Benshemesh established his own practice in 1948 where his projects continued to focus on apartment style
living. He soon gained a reputation as ‘Mr Highrise,” and was known as the city’s leading designer of high-
density residential developments (BH). In 1961 Benshemesh and Sydney architects Harry Seidler and
Neville Gruzman, were invited as specialists in high-rise development to contribute to a forum on multi-
storey apartment buildings (HE).

Benshemesh passed away on 22 December 1993.

Built Heritage website (BH), Dictionary of Unsung Architects — entry for Mordecai Benshemesh, accessed
23.06.2021

Certificates of Title (CT), various

Edquist, Harriet (2012), ‘Benshemesh, Mordecai’, in Phillip Goad and Julie Willis [eds] The Encyclopedia of
Australian Architecture, Cambridge University Press, Melbourne, p79 (HE)

Newspapers, various

O’Hanlon, Seamus, ‘Home together, Home apart: Boarding house, hostel and flat life in Melbourne c.1900-
1940’, PhD Thesis, History Department, Monash University

Parish Plans, P81(13), M333(25) (PP)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021
Sands & McDougall Directories (SM)

St Kilda Council building permits (BP)

St Kilda Rate books (RB)

Sawyer, Terry, (1982) ‘Residential flats in Melbourne: the development of a building type to 1950’, Honours
thesis, Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning, The University of Melbourne
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The four individual blocks of flats have various similarities in that they are all three storey and indicative of
the Functionalist style. Their massing is consistent with cuboid forms and usually a defined entry block,
walls of predominantly/all cream brick in stretcher bond, and flat roofs concealed by parapets. The roofs
are partly or fully traversable as indicated by railings, laundry facilities and/or freestanding elements (plants,
etc.) They all have steel-framed windows.

There is a slight shift in the external palette to the four blocks over the time period, with the earlier
buildings (1948 and 1951) being partly red brick, whereas the two later buildings (1953 and 1954) are
completely cream brick. This could in part be due to the higher cost of cream bricks, especially in the
immediate postwar years when materials were rationed. For instance, in 1948 cream bricks were about
I5% more expensive than red bricks, which would add considerably to the costs of large blocks of flats (Age
I3 Oct 1948 p4). Cream bricks were favoured by architects at this time for ‘they were more uniform and
attractive’ (Dandenong Journal 14 Dec 1949 p7) than red bricks, which were also strongly associated with
styles from the preceding decades such as the Queen Anne and Bungalow.

The four buildings are all in good condition and have a high level of external intactness.

Francelaw Flats are located on the east side of Hotham Street. The rectangular site has an area of about
1,247m2. The building is comprised of two offset blocks. At the front, the building is orientated for the best
solar access about a north facing garden, which is mainly lawn with some shrubs and hedging and an
established Canary Island Date Palm on the north boundary.

The front boundary has an original low masonry fence, which is rendered (possibly an alteration) and has
piers with stepped caps. To the rear is a car parking area, including original brick garages with timber
doors, which is accessed via a shared concrete laneway stretching between Hotham and Alexandra streets.

ig 7 B 3
Figure 12 - Aerial photograph showing extent of 62 Hotham Street. (Source: Landata, October 2021)

The front part of the building is cream brick on a red brick plinth however red brick has been employed to
the rear walls (south and east). Rendered bands at sill level emphasise the horizontality. Corner balconies
have a cantilevered concrete deck and brick balustrade with a rendered coping which is continuous with
rendered sills. Steel poles provide additional support to the corners though there is some deflection of the
front balconies. The uppermost level has a separate concrete canopy. The taller entry bay has an elongated,
vertically orientated window above the entry door (not readily visible) and its flanking, multi-paned screen.

v
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Figures 13 and 14 - Front elevation (left), north elevation (right)

The front wall has a central line of porthole windows with the name of building - Francelaw Flats - in small
metal lettering at the middle of the ground level. The windows are steel-framed in distinct bands, including
corner windows, and mostly in tripartite units comprised of a large fixed central light and flanking
casements, all with horizontal glazing bars. The balcony doors are however timber-framed though they also
have horizontal glazing bars.

There is a skillion roofed room to the south-east corner of the roof, which probably was a communal
laundry (as evidenced on plans for the later buildings).

The block of flats is located on the east side of Westbury Street. Both the site, which has an area of about
2,440m?, and the building’s footprint, are T-shaped. The front boundary is defined by a non-original metal
palisade fence. There is also a likely original brick bay with letterboxes. Within the north setback is a
pedestrian access and an area of garden. There are also plantings in the front setback.

A vehicular access extends along the south side, with covered parking provided to a narrow carport on the
southern boundary and in two blocks of garages. It is unclear whether the garages are original; the southern
block is in the location of a proposed workshop and engine room shown on the original plans, which may
have been later enlarged.

o . o Y = i . L cam

Figure 15 - Aerial photograph showing extent of 38 Westbury Street. (Source: Landata, October 202 1)

v
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Whilst the original brickwork has been overpainted, it is evident at the front at least that the walls are
mainly cream brick on a red brick base. A metal railing indicates a traversable roof deck, which may also
include laundry facilities as suggested by small skillion-roofed rooms.

Figure 16 - Front elevation showing likely original brick letterbox wall

By comparison with the Francelaw Flats built two years earlier. there is less articulation at 38 Westbury
Street as there is no rendered band at the sill level, rather flat tiles (similar to those employed to the latter
blocks) only at the windows, and the steel-framed windows only have one horizontal glazing bar (to the
upper part), though they are similarly organised in tripartite units. There are also no corner or porthole
windows. The balconies are however similar with a concrete deck and brick balustrade though with the
addition of a metal rail (but without a corner steel pole). The balcony doors are also similarly timber-
framed and have horizontal glazing bars.

The entry bays are recessed, the only example in the group, and do not project above the main parapet
however have similar steel-framed glazing to the Francelaw Flats and Barkly Lodge.

Burnett Lodge is located on the south side of Burnett Street and the rectangular site has an area of
approximately 967m2. There is an original low cream brick fence to the front boundary with a secondary,
non-original steel-framed fence behind and enclosed bin area in the north-west corner. No car
accommodation is provided on site.

The building has a broadly ‘U’ shaped footprint, with the western arm being truncated to the north end
allowing some solar access to the inner parts of the building and an expanded garden at the front western
corner, which is mostly lawn and with some shrubs and palm trees. There is also a narrower garden in
front of the longer, eastern arm of the building.
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Figure 17 - Aerial photograph showing extent of | | Burnett Street. (Source: Landata, October 2021)

The latter two blocks — Burnett and Barkly lodges — are differentiated from the earlier two by having more
diverse massing and partly external circulation by way of gallery/walkways and having completely cream
brick walls. The coping to the parapet is rendered in both instances.

The massing of Burnett Lodge is however the most diverse of the group in that the stairwell is considerably
taller (tower-like) than the main part of the building and is more prominent. The treatment of the openings
to this tower-like element - with additional discrete window openings with a distinct horizontal emphasis —
contrasts with the elongated (vertically orientated) window wall, continuous across the levels, employed in
the other three blocks. The original drawing however shows windows to the circulation tower consistent
with those to the others. It is the only example among the four where glass bricks have been employed (at
the base of the tower).

Figures 18 and 19 — North and west elevations

There are no private balconies to this block, only the long walkways which have a brick balustrade and
concrete deck similar to the balconies of the two earlier blocks.

The windows are steel framed however whilst there are some tripartite windows, which are not as wide as
those on the other blocks (the three sections are of equal width), they are flanked by dipartite windows
(consisting of a wide fixed pane and casement to one side). On the front elevations, they form overall
mirrored groups in relation to the glazing bar configuration.

The name of the building is identified in steel-lettering at the front of the shorter, western arm but is partly
concealed by planting.

Like the other blocks, the roof deck is likely traversable with laundry facilities, however metal railing is only
apparent to the shorter western arm.

v
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Barkly Lodge is located on the west side of Barkly Street. The rectangular building occupies much of the
largely rectangular site which has an area of approximately 897m2. On the front boundary there is an
original low cream brick fence, which incorporates slots for mailboxes (now disused) at the south end. The
narrow side setbacks have a pedestrian path and plantings and there is also a small garden area within the
front setback.

o A S g LT Zalr -
Figure 20 - Aerial photograph showing extent of 289 Barkly Street. (Source: Landata, October 202 1)

The massing is similar to that of Burnett Lodge with a tall and prominent entry block at the edge of the
east/front wall, behind which extends long open galleries (walkways) to the stair block at the far/west end.
Above the glazed door and sidelight (which on the original drawings are shown with the circular lights
Benshemesh employed on other blocks) is a concrete canopy. The elongated window to the stairwell has
vertically orientated panes similar to that at Francelaw Flats and 38 Westbury Street.

e ; =

Figure 21

This final block is distinguished from the others in the group by a lighter treatment of the balconies and
galleries, which have a concrete deck but a metal balustrade with vertical balusters. The balconies are larger
and project forward of the main wall plane and there are steel poles to the galleries.

The same windows and sills as at 38 Westbury Street have been employed in combination with the same
balcony doors (timber-framed with horizontal glazing bars). The name and number - Barkly Lodge and 289
— in raised metal are located near the front entry.

Like the other blocks, Barkly Lodge has a metal rail and a wash house to the west end of the traversable
roof.

v
Page 15 7 pu



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: 2444

The southern parts of the municipality — St Kilda (East) and Elwood - have manifold Post-war flats. Whilst
many are generic, there is a relatively high concentration of architect-designed examples which are more
finely detailed or distinguished by their site responsiveness. Mordecai Benshemesh was one of several
émigré architects that were active in the area and at the forefront of the evolution of this building type
along with Michael R E Feldhagen (Polish), Dr Ernest Fooks (Slovakian) and Kurt Popper (Viennese), often
working for Jewish clients and accommodating the influx of Central and Eastern European Jewish refugees
who were accustomed to apartment living. In addition, several Australian-born architects were responsible
for flats but rarely multiple examples.

The subject group are indicative of the approach during the earlier phase of the Postwar period — circa late
1940s to mid-1950s when the Functionalist style held sway. This form of Modernism is readily identified by
clear volumetric expression (usually rectilinear or cuboid and often with taller, separate circulation zones),
parapets (concealing a flat roof), and steel-framed windows. This machine-like aesthetic had clear
connotations with progress. Cream brick was typically employed to the walls.

Cream brick continued to be favoured during the latter phase of the Post-war period, that is the mid to
late 1950s into the early 1960s, however whilst roofs were often flat, they were usually expressed with
soffits, often deep, and openings were typically timber-framed. Some decorative elements crept into the
palette such as coloured spandrel panels, ceramic tiles, and balustrading with geometric patterns, partly as a
reaction to the often codified and simplified approach to Modernism that was evolving, especially in the
realm of the speculative developer (where it offered the opportunity for a cheaper build). Moving further
into the 1960s, there was a shift to what is often defined as the late 20t century period, when the influence
of Brutalism becomes apparent in the bolder forms and use of brown brick.

The subject four flats designed by Mordecai Benshemesh are fine examples of the Functionalist style and
form a distinct group that is distinguished from the work of other architects in the municipality, particularly
in terms of the boldness of their massing.

Although outside the municipality, the flats designed by Mordecai Benshemesh at 124 Balaclava Road, North
Caulfield and built in 1950-51 are highly comparable, particularly in relation to 62 Hotham Street as they
share similar materiality (cream brick on red brick base), balcony and window detailing and porthole
windows.

Several other blocks of flats designed by Mordecai Benshemesh are included in the heritage overlay,
although none are directly comparable to the subject group as they relate to the latter part of the post-war
period and are in a different design mode.

e Edgewater Towers, 12 Marine Parade, St Kilda (Citation 2049, HO510). Built 1959. Multi-storey,
International style building in white painted concrete with continuous bands of glazing to each elevation.
e Benshemesh Flats Group Listing 2 (1960) (Citation 2429), all built in 1960 comprising:

o Wolverton, 8 Westbury Street, St Kilda East. Three storey with stepped plan, cream brick with
eaves overhang, timber-framed windows, faceted balconies and spandrel panels to the front.

o |6 Lansdowne Road, St Kilda East. Three storey, cream brick with projecting brick and tiled
spandrels to the front, timber-framed windows, faceted balconies, and eaves overhang.

o Leaworra Flats, 306 Dandenong Road, St Kilda East. Three storey with stepped plan, cream
brick, timber-framed windows, canted balustrading, and wide eaves overhang.

e 22 Westbury Street (HOS precinct, no citation). Built 1959. Three-storey, cream brick, balconies with
metal balustrades and panels), fully glazed stairwells with louvres, eaves overhang.

e 318 Beaconsfield Parade (HO444 precinct, no citation). Built 1963. Three storey with a L-plan with
canted side walls. Brick walls overpainted and most of the recessed balconies enclosed.

TY
A O,

%;\, i >

v
Page 16 pwud



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: 2444

e Questa Heights 21 The Esplanade, St Kilda (HOS5 precinct, no citation). Built 1965. Multi-storey, of a
similar ilk to Edgewater Towers, the walls are white painted concrete with continuous bands of glazing.
Projecting balconies with a combination of metal balusters and panels.

One other place designed by Benshemesh is not included in a heritage overlay:
e || Marine Parade. Built c.1955. Four-storey. Original ‘window wall’ at front has been replaced.

The builder architect Bernard Evans was responsible for a few Functionalist style blocks of flats at this time,
which have some general similarities but are more varied as a group:

e 28 Milton Street (Contributory within St Kilda Botanic Gardens and Environs precinct). Built 1947.
Three storey, cream brick. It has some corner balconies with a low brick balustrade and metal railing
above. It is differentiated from the Benshemesh examples by a tiled hip roof, panels of dogtooth
brickwork above the entry, and varying format to the steel-framed windows.

o Chapel Lodge 16A Chapel Street, St Kilda (Citation 2425). Built c.1950. A large, multi-storey block with
paired balconies having similar brick balustrading to most of the subject group. It has a few porthole
windows to the uppermost level, however smaller and less prominent than those at 62 Hotham Street.
The windows are mostly tripartite and steel framed.

e Flats, 169 Ormond Road, Elwood (Contributory within HO8 precinct). Built 1951. Three storey, cream
brick, parapet to front and hip roof to the rear, built around an enclosed courtyard. Bank of windows
to upper two levels set in a concrete frame, however windows are timber-framed though with
horizontal glazing bars. A similar building also designed by Evans in 1952 is at 91 Ormond Esplanade,
Elwood.

The early examples of the typology by the Viennese Kurt Popper were designed in a Functionalist style,
however there are several subtle differences when compared to the subject group, especially Popper’s
preference for a more recessive approach to the entry/stair wells:

e 2] Mitford Street, St Kilda 1949-50. (Contributory within St Kilda Botanic Gardens and Environs
precinct). Builder Harry Kinsman. Three storey, cream brick on a red brick plinth has some similarities
to the 62 Hotham Street and 38 Westbury Street blocks in regard to its balcony (with steel pole) and
some window detailing however the entry is more recessed than a typical block by Benshemesh.

e |24-126 Alma Road, 1954 and 47 Westbury Street, St Kilda, 1956 (Contributory within HO6). Similar,
adjacent blocks. The Alma Road block at least was built by Harry Kinsman. Cream brick (one on red
brick plinth), with parapeted roof, steel-framed windows but differentiated by some windows having
concrete framing (both small and large). The balconies are similar to the last block in the group at 293
Barkly Street with the use of metal railing for the balustrades. The Alma Road block has vertical banks
of small square windows denoting the entry zones.

Other contemporary flats in the Functionalist style also with distinct differences to the subject group are:

e Flats, 40 Southey Street, Elwood (1941 & 1946) and 44 Southey Street (c.1946) Harry R. Johnson
(Contributory within St Kilda Botanic Gardens and Environs precinct). This pair of three-storey flats
which frame the entry to Southey Court are similar to each other. Both are cream brick with steel-
framed openings and represent a Moderne/Functionalist hybrid with their prominent curved corner
balconies, either partly or fully rendered, and rendered bands. The latter block has a similar entry bay
approach favoured by Benshemesh at this time with the elongated window wall and also has a red brick
plinth - as Benshemesh worked for Johnson during this period he may have had involvement in the
design.

e Flats, 45 Spray Street, Elwood, 1950-51. Built by Norman Adderley Three storey, with a different wall
palette of clinker brick with extensive areas of render to the front, large steel-framed openings, broadly
Functionalist style but with a projecting flat roof.
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e Duplex, 23 Eildon Road, St Kilda, 1953-54. (Contributory within HOS5). Constructed by Norman
Adderley. Two storey, variegated salmon brick, timber-framed openings, broadly Functionalist style but
with a projecting flat roof.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Add to the Heritage Overlay as a group listing with a single HO number.

Apply fence controls to 62 Hotham Street, 289 Barkly Street and || Burnett Street in the Schedule to the
Heritage Overlay (original fences).

Remove 289 Barkly Street and | | Burnett Street from HO35 (individual) and HOS (precinct), respectively,
and include within new group HO listing. The citations relating to these places in the Port Phillip Heritage

Review (nos 24 and 445) can be removed as they are now redundant given the information and analysis in

this new citation.

RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, Review of Heritage Precinct HO7 — Elwood, St Kilda, Balaclava,
Ripponlea - Stage 2 Report (2022)

Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

N/A
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Place name: Feldhagen Flats Group Listing |
(1961-1968)

Other names: -

Citation No:
2445

Westbury Seree;
&

109

Inkermay, Streee.

Address: 99 Westbury Street, Balaclava; Heritage Precinct: Not applicable
169 Hotham Street, Balaclava;

247 Inkerman Street, Balaclava. Heritage Overlay: HO559

Category: Residential: Flats Graded as: Significant

Style: Postwar - Modernist Victorian Heritage Register: No

Constructed: 1961-1968
Designer: Michael R E Feldhagen
Amendment: C206port

Comment: New citation

The Feldhagen Flats Group Listing | (1961-1968) comprising three separate blocks of flats, designed by the
émigré architect Michael R E Feldhagen and constructed primarily in the early 1960s, at 169 Hotham Street,
247 Inkerman Street and 99 Westbury Street, Balaclava is significant.

All three buildings are intact and are similar in that they all have upper storeys that partly cantilever over
the ground floor, have flat roofs and make use of a similar materials palette including textured concrete
roman bricks and breeze blocks. All retain at least parts of their original fences.

169 Hotham Street, comprised of 7 flats, was designed in 1961/1962, and likely constructed by Peter Bros.
and later extended in 1967/68. The three-storey building has a rectangular footprint. The upper levels of
the fagade are articulated with decorative brickwork and a central panel of breeze blocks. Fenestration is
mostly contained in the long elevations.

247 Inkerman Street was designed in 1962 and constructed by Camillo Bros. It is two-storey and has a
rectangular footprint. The balconies to the long east elevation are partly recessed and partly projecting with
flange screen/privacy walls. The short north and south elevations feature shadow concrete blocks,
configured in a hexagonal pattern to the upper levels.
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99 Westbury Street, comprised of 9 flats, was designed in 1963 and constructed in 1963-64 by Abraham
Wolf Schachter of Perfection Constructions P/L, but incorporates the partly completed ground floor from
an earlier (1961) abandoned scheme for the site. The two-storey building has an L-shaped footprint with
two discrete wings to the front and rear. The ground floor and the upper level of the rear wing is in cream
brick. The symmetrical fagade has central recessed balconies/porches to both levels, flanked by mirrored
bays with large windows with spandrels.

Alterations and additions are not significant. The current paint colour schemes are not significant.

The Feldhagen Flats Group Listing | (1961-1968) at 99 Westbury Street, 169 Hotham Street and 247
Inkerman Street, are of local historic and aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.

The Feldhagen Flats Group Listing | (1961-1968) is historically significant as part of the extensive flat
building activity that has characterised much of the 20th century history of the municipality but especially
this part of St Kilda East/St Kilda and which gained pace after WWII. Although the Own-Your-Own (OYO)
model of development was popular at the time, these three buildings were investments. As was common,
the flats either replaced earlier Victorian period houses or were built in excised sections of their grounds.
The flat typology evolved with the work of several émigré architects, who were responsible for a high
proportion of the architect-designed examples and who often worked with Jewish developers. These
imbued the area with a more progressive, International character, and which was supported by the local,
often Jewish, community. The group also have associations with the architect Michael R E Feldhagen, one of
the leading exponents of flat design. (Criterion A)

The Feldhagen Flats Group Listing | (1961-1968) is of aesthetic significance as a distinctive group of
Modernist flats by the Polish-born, German trained émigré architect Michael R E Feldhagen. They are fine
examples of the approach that evolved during the late 1950s and early 1960s, when there was a shift from
the post-war era to what is often defined as the late 20th century period. The blocks are relatively small,
limiting the need for common circulation areas. Feldhagen’s output during the early 1960s, which was likely
to have been influenced by his training and contemporary architecture in Berlin during the 1950s, has no
ready comparison in contemporary flat or residential architecture in the municipality as it is more
expressive than the output of his contemporaries with a varied material palette (especially the range of
concrete/Besser blocks), greater use of expressed concrete, and varied geometric articulation with shadow
blocks and breeze blocks, and partly indicative of a Featurist mode. Even amongst Feldhagen’s own work,
these three buildings have a distinct aesthetic with limited comparison, for soon after the expression he
employed shifted. Their overall high level of intactness are complemented by the retention of parts of front
fences. (Criterion E)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.5 Higher-density housing)
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The early twentieth century saw a marked decline in the viability of large mansions across Melbourne’s
suburbs in general, but it was particularly felt in the more affluent inner southern suburbs such as St Kilda
and Brighton, where land was highly sought-after by a new generation of homebuilders seeking smaller
detached dwellings, duplexes or flats. The trend toward higher-density living in St Kilda began with the
conversion of mansions and terrace houses into boarding houses in the early 1900s and continued with the
first purpose-built flats that appeared at the beginning of World War I. A 1919 newspaper article noted:

It was held to be no longer necessary to labour with a house and all the domestic drudgery that entailed
when by borrowing Continental ideas, people who could afford it could live in flats... Land has become so
valuable the villa of the Victorian days, in a crowded thoroughfare, no longer shows anything like an adequate
return of interest on the land’s present capital value. It is more profitable to pull the house erected thereon
down, and to erect flats. When the flat became popular in England the experiment was made in St Kilda,
and it did not take long to discover there was a genuine demand for flats (Prahran Telegraph, 18 October
1919, p4)

Higher-density housing in the form of boarding houses paved the way to flat development. Flats first
appeared in Melbourne around 1906 and slowly spread to the suburbs. They followed a strong pattern of
development, appearing close to transport routes, particularly along or within walking distance of tram
routes, to allow easy travel to the city. With their proximity to the beach and parklands, good public
transport networks and seaside character, the suburbs of St Kilda and Elwood were especially popular
locations for flats. Flats became a dominant characteristic of St Kilda and Elwood, and still make up a high
percentage of dwellings in those areas. They include some of the earliest surviving flats in Melbourne, some
of the best examples of architectural styles and types of flats, and as a group demonstrate the increasing
popularity of the lifestyle of flat living from the early twentieth century (TEH).

There was huge growth in flat development in St Kilda and Elwood in the 1920 and 1930s, attracting
migrants, single people, and people of diverse sexuality. In 1920 there were 527 purpose-built flats in 92
blocks in St Kilda municipality. By 1925 this had increased to 884 flats in 164 blocks, including large
complexes such as the Ardoch flats in Dandenong Road. By 1935, despite a slowing of development due to
the Great Depression, there were more than 2,800 flats in over 500 blocks. A further 2,000 flats were
added by 1940; however, the onset of World War Il slowed development. Nonetheless, by 1947 St Kilda
contained 5,500 purpose-built flats, a quarter of all flats in Melbourne (TEH).

Another boom in flat-building began in the mid-1950s. This was fuelled by population growth and a housing
shortage after World War Il, changes to building codes and the introduction of company title (and later
stratum and strata-title) that enabled flats to be sold individually as ‘own your own’ units (TEH).

During the early 1950s, a crisis was developing as the number of permits being issued was woefully
inadequate however — in 1952, the St Kilda municipality issued 6 permits (of 42 across the city) for 49 units
and (Argus, | March 1954, p10)

The erection of more blocks of flats is one of the most urgent housing needs of Melbourne.
Agents find it impossible to meet the big inquiry for this type of home.

In an article entitled, ‘St Kilda Grows as Flat Centre’ the zeitgeist was captured (Argus, 27 April 1956, p17)
In recent years the major portion of new building work in St. Kilda has been in flats, and this will continue.

The district can still do with many more flats to meet the demand of the big floating population associated
with a quickly growing city like Melbourne.
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St. Kilda has all the advantages for flat life of a big city. It is well-served by transport from and to the city —
less than four miles distant.

Shops have developed to meet the needs of "flatites;" and there are now numerous cafes serving meals at all
hours.

Real estate agents have- waiting lists of tenants for flats and apartments of all kinds.

... A feature of real estate activity in St. Kilda at present is the sale, of "own-your-own" flats. Since it has
become possible for each flat owner to have a certificate of title, sales have been made more freely.

The buildings which are being subdivided in this manner must be of modern construction with concrete floors,
and comply with certain regulations.

... New Australians are reported to be showing, interest in this form of home ownership.

... Investors are showing a renewed interest in blocks of flats, and are reported to be buying where the net
return is below bank interest rate. They regard the present return as a minimum.

Between 1961 and 1971, flats increased from 38% to 62% of all dwellings in St Kilda. The boom in flat
building saw St Kilda’s population increased by 10,000 people at a time when the populations of other
inner-city suburbs were declining (TEH).

The site formed part of Crown portion |52A Parish of Prahran, County of Bourke. The four-acre allotment
was purchased by S Cannon in September 1857 (PP).

The 1898 MMBWV plan shows that the site had been developed with an attached pair of 5-roomed brick
houses, then numbered 121 and 123 (RB 1893 nos 3042 and 3043).
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Figure | - MMBW Detail Plan no. 1425, dated 1898. (Source: State Library of Victoria)
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In June 1961, the site was purchased by Multiplex P/L of 1546 Chapel Street Windsor (CT v.8310 £.736).
Shortly after, the property was mortgaged to Reid Murray Properties P/L of 138 Bourke Street Melbourne.
Prior, in July 1960 Multiplex had acquired a permit from Council for the construction of a building on the
site containing |5 flats (BP no. 57/1419). The builder was Gussmar Construction P/L of Elwood and the
estimated cost was £41,000. The plans related to this permit are not available and the architect/designer is
not known.

Reid Murray Holdings Ltd were one of the largest retailers in the country in the early 1960s, whose
interests also included land development. However, in 1963 Reid Murray went into liquidation and
consequently, the Westbury Street site, which included the apartment building only partially completed (i.e.
the ground floor), was placed for auction in July 1963 under instruction from subsidiary Paynes Properties
P/L (Age 16 Jul 1963 p2).

FORCED REALISATION
AUCTION

F WEDNESDAY, JULY 31,
AT 3.30 P.M. ON THE PROPERTY

101 WESTBURY STREET
EAST ST. KILDA

Under Instructions from Paynes Properties Pty, Ltd., a subsidiary of
Reld Murray LIE’.‘ .BIIMI'D pos, adj, ll" conve,

A DESIRABLE FLAT DEVELOPMENT SITE,
86/109 x 155 approx, to R.O.W,
Le,, approx, 10.970 sq, ft, tog. with partially erected Improvements,
Plan originally passed for 15 FLATS,
TERME: 104 Dep., bal, 80 days,

In Conj.: Wm. 8. ELLISON & CO.,
420 High Street, St. Kilda. 94 0284, |

BLACKBURN & LOCKWOOD |
1017 Migh Street, Malvern. 50 4221; A.H., 20 4939,

Figure 2 - Forced Redlisation Auction notice, July 1 963. Note the address is sometimes alternatively referred to as 101 or 99-
101. (Source: Age 16 July 1963 p2)

In October 1963, ownership was transferred to Perfection Constructions P/L of 23 The Avenue, East St
Kilda. The company was headed by builder Abraham Wolf Schachter (ER 1968). Abraham engaged architect
Michael R E Feldhagen of Springvale Road Waverly to design an alternative first floor for the unfinished
building comprised of four flats (bringing the total number flats in the building to nine). A larger three-
bedroomed flat (no. 6) at the front of the first floor was designed specifically for Abraham and his wife Bina.
In October 1963, a permit was issued for the revised building containing a reduced total of nine flats (BP
no. 57/2966). The estimated cost was £22,500.
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3

Figure 3 & 4 - East and north elevations, from drawings related to permit no. 57/2966 (M Feldhagen, 1963) (Source: Council
Building File)

By mid-1964 the building was apparently nearing completion, as a painter was sought (Age 30 Jun 1964
p20). In August 1964, a preliminary announcement was made for the sale of ‘luxury flats’. The one, two and
three bedroomed flats, priced from £5250, were sold on an ‘own your own’ basis (Age 7 Nov 1964 p51).
By February 1965 all but one of the flats had been sold (Age 27 Feb 1965 p51).

In April 1964 a permit was issued for a brick laundry and toilet in the south-west part of the site (BP
no.205). In 1969, a permit was issued for a twin car garage in the north-west part of the site (BP no.2913).

Abraham and his wife Bina retained and resided in flat no. 6. The Schachters were involved with the
Yeshivah Shule in East St Kilda (Australian Jewish News 20 Nov 1987 p46). By the late 1980s, following Bina’s
death, Abraham was living at another address (AJN 20 Nov 1987 p46). Abraham passed away in 1997 (AJN
14 Nov 1997 p23).

The site formed part of Crown portion 237 Parish of Prahran, County of Bourke. The 9%4 acre allotment
was purchased by T Hale in or after 1857.

The 1901 MMBWV plan shows the site developed with a seven-roomed brick house named Torresmuir, then
numbered 23 1. By this time, it was owned and occupied by William St Leger Burton, his wife Isabella and
their children (RB 1899 no. 3799). Several permits for additions were issued in 1918 (BP no. 3513), 1922
(BP no. 4821), and 1927 (BP no. 7028).

In the early 1930s, following the death of William in 1931, ownership of the site passed to his two children
Stewart St. Leger Burton and Eileen St. Leger Burton (CT v.5723 f.411) and Torresmuir was converted to
flats. The Burtons also owned the Federation period timber house at | EIm Grove at this time. The 1945
aerial photograph shows Torresmuir with additional sections to the rear.
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Figure 5 - MMBW Detail Plan no. 1449, dated 1901. (Source: State Library of Victoria

L3 . :

Elm Grove

39343§ WeyjoH

Figure 6 - Aerial photograph, dated 1945. The subject site is outlined. The timber house at | Elm Grove is also indicated
(arrow). (Source: Landata, Proj No 5, Run |6, Frame 57847)
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In 1951, an unsuccessful auction was held to sell ‘Torresmuir, a block of three flats and a weatherboard villa’,
the latter presumably | Elm Grove (Age 31 Aug 1951 pé).

In September 1953, the subject site was purchased by Bruce Etherington of 29 Alfred Road Burwood,
accountant (CT v.8104 f.857). | Elm Grove was sold separately.

In November 1959, ownership of the subject site was transferred to Jindrich Selzer and llse Selzer of 125a
Acland Street St Kilda, manufacturers. The Selzers engaged architect Michael R E Feldhagen of |5 Leaburn
Avenue North Caulfield. Drawings prepared by Feldhagen, dated November 1961 and March 1962, show a
three-storey building containing five new flats to be constructed in front of a retained existing flat at the
rear of the site. Council issued a permit for construction of the flats in July 1962 (BP 57/2336) and in
August 1962 issued a permit to Peter Bros (builder) for the demolition of Torresmuir (BP 57/2376). It is
likely that Peter Bros also built the flats.

Following completion of the building, the Selzers resided in flat no. 1.
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Figure 7 & 8 - East and north elevations, from drawings related to permit no. 57/2336 (M Feldhagen, 1961/62) (Source:
Council Building File)

In December 1967, Council issued a permit for the construction of an extension to the rear, replacing the
earlier retained flat in this location (BP no. 1972). Again, Michael R E Feldhagen was engaged to design the
three-storey extension containing two flats and partial garage at ground floor (an alternative scheme
designed by architect Miles Jakl in 1964 did not proceed). The estimated cost was $16,000.

v
Page 8 7 pu



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: 2445

I]

|

= Ik

s A [ e i ek
| -
et 1 | iy i
Al | l |

) —— 1 i

Figure 9 - North elevation of rear extension, from drawings related to permit no. 1972 (M Feldhagen, 1967) (Source: Council
Building File)

The site formed part of Crown portion |37A Parish of Prahran, County of Bourke. The four-acre allotment
was purchased by E Duckett in November 1853 (PP).

The 1897 MMBWV plan shows the site developed with a pair of attached timber houses which at that time
were owned by Elizabeth Torrance (RB 1898 nos 2750, 2751).
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Figure 10 - MMBW Detail Plan no. 1424, dated 1897. (Source: State Library of Victoria)

Following the death of owner Harry Edgar Cobb in 1944, probate was granted to the Trustees Executors
and Agency Company Ltd of 401 Collins Street Melbourne, and Walter Frederick Payne of Elwood.
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In November 1958 a trustees’ realising auction was held, apparently unsuccessfully, with the following
description in an advertisement aimed at attracting the attention of developers:

Pair compact weatherboard villas... Good corner position adjacent Chapel Street, Balaclava shops, train,
tram, schools. Splendid chance for speculator or investor. Suit future development. (Age 19 Nov 1958 p28)

In late 1961, the site was sold for £3700 (Age |3 Nov 1961 pl0), with the transfer to Joyce Olive Reed of
27 Studley Road East Brighton registered in January 1962 (CT v.5808 f.444). However, ownership was soon
passed (registered in November 1962) to cousins Tarcisio Camillo of 86 Martin Street Gardenvale and
Gilberto Crema of 63 Perth Street Prahran, partners in construction company Camillo Bros.

The Camillo Bros engaged architect Michael R E Feldhagen of 15 Leaburn Avenue Caulfield to design a
block of six flats (note the original plans are not available). The consulting engineer was Peter Stojanoff &
Assoc. of Glen Iris. In July 1962, a permit was issued for the demolition of the two weatherboard houses
(BP 57/2337). Also in July, a permit was issued for construction of the block of flats (BP 57/2326) estimated
to cost £10,000.

In November 1963, the property was sold to investors Jacob and Jane Zolovich (CT v.8453 £.353). On
completion of the building, the flats were leased.

Camillo Bros

In the early 1950s, Camillo Bros was begun by Italian migrant brothers Tarcisio and Dino Camillo as a small
terrazzo business in St Kilda and expanded into construction and development in the 1960s. Camillo Bros
evolved into the Crema Group, now one of the largest construction/development companies in Melbourne.

Michael Richard Ernest Feldhagen was born 23 December 1932 in the Prussian city of Breslau (now
Wroctaw in western Poland). In the early 1950s, Feldhagen studied architecture at the renowned
Universitat der Kiinste Berlin (Berlin University of Arts, formerly in West Berlin), the largest art school in
Europe, and after graduation he worked in an architect’s office in Berlin. Disturbed by the political
instability of the time, Feldhagen and his wife Helga migrated to Australia with their young daughter,
arriving in Melbourne on 13 September 1958. (BH)

On the strength of prior experience with the design of high-rise apartment blocks in Berlin, Feldhagen
secured a position with the Housing Commission of Victoria, which, at that time, was starting its own
regime of multi-storey public housing. By 1960 he had taken a position in the office of fellow European
émigré architect Ernest Fooks (1906-1985) who was well established as one of the leading architects to
Melbourne's thriving post-war Jewish migrant community. Feldhagen did not attempt to become a
registered architect, opting instead to style himself as an ‘architectural designer’, possibly due to difficulties
in having overseas qualifications recognised by the Architects’ Registration Board of Victoria. (BH)

By 1963, Feldhagen had established his own practice, initially based in Acland Street, St Kilda, but later
moved to Darling Street, South Yarra and later still to Shakespeare Grove, St Kilda. In 1967, he re-
configured his business as a public company, M Feldhagen & Associates Pty Ltd. His early output included a
number of small factories, but he soon established a reputation as a designer of large houses. Feldhagen
frequently collaborated with fellow European émigré professionals. (BH)

From the late 1960s, when changes to strata title legislation prompted a boom in apartment construction,
Feldhagen became one of the leading exponents of the type. In 1970 Feldhagen expanded into building
works and formed a second company, M Feldhagen Constructions Pty Ltd. Feldhagen declared bankruptcy
in 1975, and his two public companies were subsequently de-listed. Nevertheless, he resumed practice as
an architectural designer, with his teenage son as his draftsman and sole employee. The practice continued
into the 1980s under the name of Michol Designs. Feldhagen retired to Queensland in the 1990s and died
on 21| January 2013, aged 80 years. (BH)
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Built Heritage website (BH), Dictionary of Unsung Architects — entry for Michael E R Feldhagen
Certificates of Title (CT), various

Council Building permit files (BP)

Newspapers, various

O’Hanlon, Seamus, ‘Home together, Home apart: Boarding house, hostel and flat life in Melbourne c.1900-
1940’, PhD Thesis, History Department, Monash University

Parish Plans, P81(13) (PP)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021
Rate books (RB)

Sands & McDougall Directories (SM)

Sawyer, Terry, (1982) ‘Residential flats in Melbourne: the development of a building type to 1950’, Honours
thesis, Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning, The University of Melbourne

The individual blocks of flats have some similarities in that they all have upper storeys that partly cantilever
over the ground floor, have flat roofs and make use of a similar materials palette including textured
concrete roman bricks and breeze blocks.

The three buildings are all in good condition and have a high level of external intactness.

The two-storey block of flats are located on the west side of Westbury Street. The T-shaped site has an
area of 1,025m2. Along the front boundary is an original low fence comprised of piers and lower courses of
textured concrete roman bricks with square, concrete breeze blocks above, behind which are courtyard
gardens for the front ground floor flats. This wall returns as a letterbox bay.

Vehicular access is via a concrete driveway on the north side to open parking bays at the side of the
building. At the rear north-west corner is a late 1960s brick garage, which is accessed by a laneway from
Blenheim Street.

The main building is broadly L-shaped, though with two discrete wings — front and rear. There are also
difference between the two levels resulting from the two designers (unknown for the ground floor, and
Feldhagen for the first floor).

The whole of ground floor is cream brick in stretcher bond, as well the upper level of the rear wing,
designed by Feldhagen largely continuing the pre-existing format. A colour change is however evident in the
cream bricks of the rear wing between the two phases of construction/levels. The front first floor is the
part of the building most consistent with the other two blocks in the group, and where the authorship of
Feldhagen is most apparent.

The fagade of the front wing is symmetrical with central recessed balconies/porches to both levels, flanked
by mirrored bays with large windows.
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Figure 1| - Aerial showing extent of 99 Westbury Street, Balaclava. (Source: Nearmap, Oct 2021)

The first floor cantilevers over the ground floor on a wide concrete floor plate. The design is a modern
interpretation of classicism reflecting a typical differentiation associated with the later — comprised of a
frieze of shadow blocks (concrete blocks with a geometric pattern, in this a continuous hexagonal motif)
and wide columns/piers comprised of square, hollow concrete blocks. The upper part of the shadow blocks
is partly concealed by the current roof flashing. The metal balustrade features oblongs with fine connections
(though was noted as obscured glass on the original drawings). The wall at each end has spandrel panels
below a tripartite window configuration — fixed central and flanking casements. The glazed sections to the
recessed balcony are similar though include a door at both ends.

Figure 12 - Front and north side

The north/side elevation at ground floor has a section of projecting bricks to every fourth course (an
intervention of the split rock roman bricks was proposed for part of this wall, along with a flower box of
same). The upper level has concrete Roman, split/rock face bricks in a stacked bond either side of a central
bay of hollow/breeze blocks (vertically orientated below a band of shadow blocks).

The rear wing has limited visibility from the public realm. There is a difference in the window proportions
between the two levels however brown sills have been employed to both levels. The entry bay includes a
bank of multi-paned glazing. The living room windows face north on this wing however some are protected
by the wide soffit to part of this elevation.
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The three-storey block of flats are located on the west side of Hotham Street. The rectangular site has an
area of about 701m2. On the front boundary there is a section of original tall fence comprised of textured
concrete Roman bricks for the base and small rectangular breeze blocks for the upper courses interspersed
with larger solid bricks, behind which is a courtyard garden for the ground floor flat.

At the south end is a private pedestrian entrance and a section of concrete brick and breeze block fence on
the side boundary. At the north end of the front boundary there is a more recent entrance alcove with tall,
rendered walls and a slatted sliding gate across the concrete driveway which provides vehicular access and
car parking along the north side of the building.

The upper two levels have been treated in a consistent manner and contrast with the ground floor. As for
the 99 Westbury Street site, the concrete floor plate for the upper two levels projects over the ground
floor/base.

This building is more overtly indicative of the International style in its format of largely blank side walls with
fenestration mostly contained in the long elevations. Given the orientation of the building, the facade/east
elevation is the side wall is largely blank (upper part) however the ground floor has windows but is
screened from the public realm by the front fence.

Figure |3 - Aerial showing extent of 169 Hotham Street, Balaclava. (Source: Nearmap, Oct 202 1)

The main visible part of the fagade/short elevation has a central screen of hollow concrete (Besser) blocks
flanked by long bricks, now painted. These are laid in stretcher bond however on the drawings were shown
in quarter bond or raked stretcher bond (the overlapping by a quarter rather than a half) and defined also
as manufactured by Besser. The distinctive articulation provided by the vertically paired, narrow projecting
bricks (half queen closers) was not shown on the original drawings.

The long elevations — north and south — are in two sections relating to the two phases of construction
(1962 and 1967), though with consistent materials and much of the detailing.
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Figures 14 & 15 - Front elevation (left), front and north side elevations (right)

The original east section has a symmetrical format to the main, visible north elevation similar to that of 99
Westbury Street site with central recessed balconies flanked by fully glazed bays. In this case, there is an
axial breeze block screen in front of a wall separating two balconies at each level, which have three white
panels (probably glass) to the metal-framed balustrade (though only two are noted on the drawings, and
were to be faceted red aluminium). A panel of sandstone-coloured textured (split face), roman concrete
bricks separate the balconies from the glazed bays, which included six large, timber-framed horizontally-
orientated panes - five fixed and one awning (however the lower two were shown as a dark, faceted
aluminium panel on the original drawings). The rear/south elevation is partly concealed but has more solid
wall comprised of contrasting sandstone and charcoal split face, roman concrete bricks with bands of
similar windows to those on the north elevation, though in four pane groups.

The later west/rear section is higher as it has four levels as it includes two undercroft garages. There is also
another separate garage in the south-west corner of the site with a terrace above. The upper two levels
have a similar format of those to the front however the central balcony does not have a central division as
it services only one flat at each level.

The north elevation at ground floors/base level is partly visible and has a different articulation to the upper
two levels with more sections of wall, similarly split rock roman bricks, and smaller windows.

The west elevation, visible from the rear lane, is largely blank likely with a similar, non-textured brick to the
upper two levels however is also overpainted, with windows grouped to the southern end. The use of two
different coloured split face bricks — sandstone and charcoal — is readily apparent on this elevation.

The two-storey block of flats is located on the south-west corner of Inkerman and Camden streets. The
rectangular site has an area of about 404m2. On the Camden Street side there are original sections of tall,
breeze block fencing enclosing private courtyards, in front of which are narrow, edged garden beds. The
private pedestrian gates on the east side and the metal palisade fence to the Inkerman Street boundary are
not original. The north and west setbacks are concreted and there is vehicular access is on the western
side.

v
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Figure 16 - Aerial showing extent of 247 Inkerman Street, Balaclava. (Source: Nearmap, Oct 2021)

The two-storey block features most elements evident in the two other blocks however combined in
different ways. The configuration of each elevation is generally symmetrical and the windows are a mixture
of likely original timber-framed and altered aluminium-framed types.

In this instance the footprint is consistent to both levels however to the long east elevation there are three
balconies, which are partly recessed and projecting with flange screen/privacy walls. These walls are
matched with a tapered flange wall at each end. A narrow pergola extends between the balconies, that is
over the intervening courtyards.

b

Figures 17 & 18 - Front/north elevation (left) and east side elevation (right)

The walls of the long east elevation (to Camden Street) are split rock face, roman concrete bricks —
charcoal to the upper level and lighter (where visible) to the ground level. The upper level is visible
however the lower level is largely concealed. The upper level has blank end bays, with the remaining bays
alternating between balconies and wall with a central window. The balconies have square breeze blocks
balustrades which alternate with courtyard walls (four at ground level) with the same blocks.

The short north and south elevations feature shadow concrete blocks, configured in a hexagonal pattern
(similar to the fagade frieze at 99 Westbury Street) and painted, to the upper level. The lower-level walls
are charcoal split rock face, roman concrete bricks. The timber-framed fenestration pattern is consistent to
both elevations with a central upper window and a combination of full-height and highlights below.
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The west elevation, which is partly visible, includes a central projection for a stair that features an upper
screen of hollow concrete blocks to its sides. There are sections of wall with shadow blocks either side of
the stair with larger windows than to the flanking side bays, which have charcoal split rock face, roman
concrete bricks.

The southern parts of the municipality — St Kilda (East) and Elwood - have manifold postwar flats. Whilst
many are generic, there is a relatively high concentration of architect-designed examples which are more
finely detailed or distinguished by their site responsiveness. Michael R E Feldhagen was one of several
émigré architects that were active in the area and at the forefront of the evolution of this building type
along with Mordecai Benshemesh, Dr Ernest Fooks, and Kurt Popper, often working for Jewish clients and
accommodating the influx of Central and Eastern European Jewish refugees who were accustomed to
apartment living. In addition, several Australian-born architects were responsible for flats but rarely multiple
examples.

The subject group are indicative of the approach that evolved during the late 1950s and early1960s, when
there was a shift from the post-war era to what is often defined as the late 20t century period.

Previously, during the postwar period, the use of cream brick had been favoured. During the late 1940s and
early 1950s, a Functionalist mode was adopted with parapets and steel-framed windows. During the mid to
late 1950s, roofs were usually expressed with eaves, often deep, openings were typically timber-framed,
and some decorative elements crept into the palette such as coloured spandrel panels, ceramic tiles, and
balustrading with geometric patterns. Subsequently during the late 1960s, the influence of Brutalism became
apparent in the bolder forms and use of darker (tan or brown) bricks, sometimes with expressed concrete.

Feldhagen’s output during the early 1960s has no ready comparison in contemporary flat or residential
architecture in the municipality is more expressive than the output of his contemporaries with a varied
material palette (especially the range of concrete/Besser blocks), greater use of expressed concrete, and
varied geometric articulation with shadow blocks and breeze blocks, and partly indicative of a Featurist
mode.

The subject buildings are relatively small, with a limited number of flats (including larger flats) by
comparison to many others of the period — only one is three storey, with the other two examples being
two storey. This reduced scale limited the need for extensive common circulation areas so that the subject
buildings have minimal heralding of the entries as some flats in each block have private/direct access.

This particular expression is likely to be influenced by his training and contemporary architecture in Berlin
during the 1950s. The German architect Hans Sharoun (1893-1972) was much lauded and one of the city’s
most renowned projects — the Berlin Philharmonie designed 1956, constructed 1960-63 — was underway.
The Philharmonie is noted for its dramatic forms and external metal sheeting with geometric patterns. Also
likely of influence was Interbau exhibition held in West Berlin in 1957 and promoting the renewal of the
war-damaged Hansaviertel area.

Amongst Feldhagen’s own work, the subject buildings have a distinct aesthetic with limited comparison, for
soon after the expression he employed began to shift. Several other blocks of flats, and one example of
maisonettes, designed by Michael R E Feldhagen are also included within the heritage overlay, though these
are all later examples.

e  Surf Side 46 Ormond Esplanade, Elwood (1963-64) (Citation 755). This three-storey block has a
markedly different expression in that whilst it has a flat roof, it projects with a wide soffit which has a
raked fascia. The footprint is also stepped maximise views to the rear flats and in this instance, there is
less distinction between the upper (third level) and lower (first and second levels) parts. The materiality
— cream and brown brick - is partly organised in vertical bays rather than only horizontally. There are
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corner (projecting) balconies which are partly breeze block and have steel poles and railing. Windows
are aluminium-framed.

21 Dickens Street, Elwood (1965-66) (Contributory within St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs
precinct) Represents a shift to a less embellished expression. A relatively late cream brick example with
minimal eaves overhang as the balconies are recessed. More overtly indicative of the International style
in its contained massing and consistent articulation, though it varies between the front and rear blocks.
The balustrading includes black, faceted metal panels to the upper levels (probably as had been
designated for the 169 Hotham Street block) with metal posts attached in front. Windows are timber-
framed.

22-24 Eildon Road, St Kilda (1966) (HO5 St Kilda Hill precinct) Three storey flats in cream/tan brick —
possibly with an addition to the roof. Breeze blocks are only employed to the roof parapet.
Symmetrical facade with recessed balconies with white faceted metal balustrade panels and spandrels to
the flanking bays.

| Hartpury Avenue, Elwood (1970). (Contributory within St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs
precinct). Three storey flats in tan brick and rendered spandrels with distinctive parabolic arched
screen to ground floor fagade and canted balconies. Projecting flat roof with raked fascia.

2 Crimea Street, St Kilda (1977) (Citation 881, St Kilda East Precinct). Brutalist style maisonettes with a
brown brick base with concrete, battered walls to the cantilevered upper level. Bold expression with a
blank wall to the front.

In terms of other flats of the late 1950s and early 1960s, the work of other émigré architects is not readily
comparative to the contemporary work of Feldhagen. The contemporary Modernist work of Palestinian-
born, Australian-educated Mordecai Benshemesh, who generally designed larger buildings, however bares
the most comparison as he too employed some decorative elements in the 1960 group, though to a lesser
degree than Feldhagen and to buildings with projecting flat roofs.

Edgewater Towers, 12 Marine Parade, St Kilda (Citation 2049). Built 1959. Multi-storey, International
style building in white painted concrete with continuous bands of glazing to each elevation.

22 Westbury Street (Contributory within St Kilda East precinct). Built 1959. Three-storey, cream brick,
balconies with metal balustrades and panels), fully glazed stairwells with louvres, eaves overhang.

Wolverton 8 Westbury Street, East St Kilda (Citation 2429, recommended HO). Built 1960. Three
storey with stepped plan, cream brick with eaves overhang, timber-framed windows, faceted balconies
and spandrel panels to the front.

|6 Lansdowne Road, East St Kilda (Citation 2429, recommended HO). Built 1960. Three storey, cream
brick with projecting brick and tiled spandrels to the front, timber-framed windows, faceted balconies,
and eaves overhang.

Leawarra Flats 306 Dandenong Road, East St Kilda (Citation 2429, recommended HO). Built 1960.
Three storey with stepped plan, cream brick, timber-framed windows, canted balustrading, and wide
eaves overhang.

Questa Heights 21 The Esplanade, St Kilda (HOS, St Kilda Hill precinct). Built 1965. Multi-storey, of a
similar ilk to Edgewater Towers, the walls are white painted concrete with continuous bands of glazing.
Projecting balconies with a combination of metal balusters and panels.

The work of Theodore Berman, who was Melbourne-born to Polish migrant parents, also bares some
comparison, principally the block at 76 Mitford Street.

Rocklea Gardens, 46-40 Hotham Street, St Kilda East, 1960 (Citation 2017, HO293). International style,
continuous band of windows/openings with balconies, and spandrel panels at either end of the
elongated fagade.
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e Flats, 2 Southey Grove, Elwood, 1957 (Citation 2017, St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs precinct)
single storey, modest, co-joined flats arranged around a communal garden/motor court. Flat/skillion
roof with wide soffit, cream and red brick walls (part overpainted), timber-framed windows. Some
additions.

e Flats, 76 Mitford Street, Elwood, 1961-62 (Contributory within St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs
precinct). Two storey block, cuboid form with flat projecting roof, over galleries, mainly cream brick.
The fagade treatment is relatively elaborate with concrete brick (two colours and varying bond), ‘metal
pole screen with ‘76’, and metal balustrades with diamond motifs.

Less work of the Slovakian-born Dr Ernest Fooks (originally Fuchs) has been assessed to date in the
municipality however these examples are more restrained than the contemporary, highly articulated work
of Feldhagen.

e  Park View, 5 Herbert Street, St Kilda, 1958-59 (Citation 2427). It has a stepped footprint to maximise
views, cream brick walls, projecting flat roof, splayed balconies with geometric railing and glass panels,
and timber-framed spandrel panels to the main window units. The circulation is along external galleries
to the rear behind a separate stair block with projecting bricks.

e Flats, 21 A Dickens Street, Elwood, 1966 (Contributory within St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs
precinct). Later brown brick and render, suggesting a burgeoning Brutalist character. Symmetrical
facade with central recessed balconies.

The work of the Viennese Kurt Popper is generally indicative of a more restrained version of
contemporary Modernism. Although his contemporary work shares a similar material palette, he generally
employed more contained footprints and forms.

e Flats, 124-126 Alma Road, 1954 + 47 Westbury Street, St Kilda, 1956 (both Contributory within HO6
St Kilda East precinct). Similar, adjacent blocks in a Functionalist mode. Cream brick (one on red brick
plinth), with parapeted roof, steel-framed windows, some with concrete framing to a mixture of small
and large windows, and balconies with concrete decks and metal railing.

e Flats, 22A Acland Street, St Kilda, 1957 (Contributory within HO5 St Kilda Hill precinct). Projecting flat
roof, cream brick with panels of pale blue tiles to the fagade, timber-framed windows, and balconies
with metal balustrading with diamond pattern. It has a tile clad, hipped roof.

e Flats, 17 & 17A Burnett Street, St Kilda 1958-59 (Contributory within HO5 St Kilda Hill precinct).
More conventional with a hipped roof clad in tile in two mirror-image blocks. Distinguished by the
expressed rendered frame to the corner windows.

The contemporary work of Australian-born architects bares limited comparison in particular in terms of
the material palette.

e Flats, 2| Redan Street, St Kilda, 1958, John & Phyllis Murphy (Citation 785, HO503). An unusual two-
storey red brick building, comprised of two-level flats with separate entries, with a prow-like form and
gable roof.

e Flats, 39 Southey Street, Elwood, 1959, L G Grant & Associates (Contributory within St Kilda Botanical
Gardens & Environs precinct). Cream brick but with extensive use of decorative brickwork and screens
to the front and a bowed concrete canopy to the entrance supported on steel poles.

e Flats, 63-69 Tennyson Street, Elwood, 1959-60, A V Jennings (Citation 2344, HO436). A series of four
mirrored blocks, cream brick, stepped form with undercroft carparking, spandrels and banks of
windows.
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e Flats, 33 Pine Avenue, Elwood, 1960, Leslie ].W. Reed (Citation 2339, HO429). Cream brick with a
projecting stairwell block to the front as well as a bank of windows with spandrels. Balconies to one
long side and galleries to the other.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Add to the Heritage Overlay as a group listing with a single HO number.
In the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay apply:

* external paint controls (to ensure complementary colour schemes are employed and/or encourage
restoration of original finishes/surfaces).

* fence controls (remnants of original front fences)

Remove 169 Hotham Street and 247 Inkerman Street from HO7 and HO3 15, respectively, and include
within new group HO listing.

RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, Review of Heritage Precinct HO7 — Elwood, St Kilda, Balaclava,
Ripponlea - Stage 2 Report (2022)

Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

N/A
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247 Inkerman Street, Balaclava
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99 Westbury Street, Balaclava
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Place name: Southey Gardens Citation No:

Other names: Milton Drive Flats (former) 920
Address: 2 Southey Grove, Elwood Heritage Precinct: St Kilda Botanical
Gardens & Environs
Category: Residential: Flats
Heritage Overlay: TBC
Style: Postwar: Modernist

Graded as: Significant
Constructed: 1957
Victorian Heritage Register: No
Designer: The office of Theodore

Berman
Amendment: C29

Comment: Revised citation

Southey Gardens, formerly Milton Drive Flats, at 2 Southey Grove, Elwood, designed by the office of
Theodore Berman in 1957, is significant.

The contributory components include the west, south and east wings comprised of single storey modest,
co-joined units arranged around a communal garden/motor court. Privacy is created by the entry brick wall
(overpainted) and the long blank, side cream brick wall of one of the units. The roofs are long skillions, clad
in profiled sheet metal with timber fascia and wide soffit. The walls are stretcher bond with the original
sections having been painted and the additions in either cream or red brick. The unpainted brick sections
are blank and extend the full width of the roof — cream to the short (west and east wings) and red to the
longer south wing in addition to the north end of the east wing (in cream brick). The overpainted sections
are recessed with cream or red brick sills. The original doors are recessed beneath the verandah and have
a highlight window and there are flanking original timber-framed windows, which are narrow (vertically
orientated) with double hung sashes.

The much altered north wing and alterations and additions to the other wings are not significant.

Southey Gardens at 2 Southey Grove, Elwood is of local historical and representative significance to the
City of Port Phillip.
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Southey Gardens is historically significant as being demonstrative of the extensive multi-residential building
that characterised much of the 20th century history of the municipality but especially the southern parts and
which gained pace after World War Il. The typology evolved with the work of several émigré architects,
who were responsible for a high proportion of the architect-designed examples, imbuing the area with a
more progressive, international character. This complex however was designed by an architect, Theodore
Berman, or his office, whose parents were Polish émigrés and was responsible for other notable buildings in
the municipality. (Criterion A)

Southey Gardens is of representative significance as a postwar example of the less common ‘Bungalow
Court’ type, comprised of individual single level flats in a courtyard plan with a mixture of private and
shared open space and facilities. This type evolved to become a socially acceptable alternative to multi-level
flats in middle ring suburbs such as Hawthorn, Malvern and Brighton, but was much less popular in inner
city areas where higher land values required higher site yields - this is the only known early postwar
example in St Kilda or Elwood. It is unusual in that is single storey whereas the multi-residential buildings
constructed in the area after World War Il are otherwise multi-storied, generally with either a flat or
hipped roof, rather than a skillion roof form. The complex demonstrates the increased importance placed
on car parking in post-war examples. (Criterion D)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.5 Higher-density housing)

The early twentieth century saw a marked decline in the viability of large mansions across Melbourne’s
suburbs in general, but it was particularly felt in the more affluent inner southern suburbs such as St Kilda
and Brighton, where land was highly sought-after by a new generation of homebuilders seeking smaller
detached dwellings, duplexes or flats. The trend toward higher-density living in St Kilda began with the
conversion of mansions and terrace houses into boarding houses in the early 1900s and continued with the
first purpose-built flats that appeared at the beginning of World War |. A 919 newspaper article noted:

It was held to be no longer necessary to labour with a house and all the domestic drudgery that entailed
when by borrowing Continental ideas, people who could afford it could live in flats... Land has become so
valuable the villa of the Victorian days, in a crowded thoroughfare, no longer shows anything like an adequate
return of interest on the land’s present capital value. It is more profitable to pull the house erected thereon
down, and to erect flats. When the flat became popular in England the experiment was made in St Kilda,
and it did not take long to discover there was a genuine demand for flats (Prahran Telegraph, 18 October
1919, p.4)

Higher-density housing in the form of boarding houses paved the way to flat development. Flats first
appeared in Melbourne around 1906 and slowly spread to the suburbs. They followed a strong pattern of
development, appearing close to transport routes, particularly along or within walking distance of tram
routes, to allow easy travel to the city. With their proximity to the beach and parklands, good public
transport networks and seaside character, the suburbs of St Kilda and Elwood were especially popular
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locations for flats. Flats became a dominant characteristic of St Kilda and Elwood, and still make up a high
percentage of dwellings in those areas. They include some of the earliest surviving flats in Melbourne, some
of the best examples of architectural styles and types of flats, and as a group demonstrate the increasing
popularity of the lifestyle of flat living from the early twentieth century (TEH).

There was huge growth in flat developmentin St Kilda and Elwood in the 1920 and 1930s, attracting
migrants, single people, and people of diverse sexuality. In 1920 there were 527 purpose-built flats in 92
blocks in St Kilda municipality. By 1925 this had increased to 884 flats in 164 blocks, including large
complexes such as the Ardoch flats in Dandenong Road. By 1935, despite a slowing of development due to
the Great Depression, there were more than 2,800 flats in over 500 blocks. A further 2,000 flats were
added by 1940; however, the onset of World War |l slowed development. Nonetheless, by 1947 St Kilda
contained 5,500 purpose-built flats, a quarter of all flats in Melbourne (TEH).

Another boom in flat-building began in the mid-1950s. This was fuelled by population growth and a housing
shortage after World War I, changes to building codes and the introduction of company title (and later
stratum and strata-title) that enabled flats to be sold individually as ‘own your own’ units. Between 1961
and 1971, flats increased from 38% to 62% of all dwellings in St Kilda. The boom in flat building saw St
Kilda’s population increase by 10,000 people at a time when the populations of other inner-city suburbs
were declining (TEH).

The area surrounding the St Kilda Botanical Gardens has been a desirable residential neighbourhood since
the Gardens were first established in 1860 and by the end of the nineteenth century Blessington, Tennyson,
Dickens, and Herbert streets were lined with substantial villas, and mansions set in large grounds. By the
early twentieth century with the proximity to tram routes, and views over or access to the gardens, this
area became a popular location for flats and some of the first flats in St Kilda were built here toward the
end of World War I. These included Clarendon, designed by Joseph Plottel and built in 1915 at 26-28
Blessington Street, and two blocks by Howard Lawson at 44 (Clairvaux) and 46 Blessington Street, built in
1917. Some of the early mansions such as St Albans (74 Blessington Street) and Himalaya (10 Tennyson
Street) were also converted to flats around this time.

In the nineteenth century, Southey Street north of Milton Street was partially developed and contained
several villas along the western side, while the Ascog mansion and its extensive grounds occupied much of
the east side (MMBW). The area further south was less undeveloped one of the few houses was at the
southwest corner of Milton Street on the site of the present flats (see Figure 1).
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Figure 1: MMBW Detail Plan No. 1394, showing the house on the subject site in 1905

The economic depression of the 1890s halted development for over a decade and development only
recommenced following the openingin 1906 of the electric tramway from St Kilda Station to Elwood and
Brighton Beach via Mitford Streetand Broadway. Development was slow at first but improvements to the
route including progressive duplication from 1913 stimulated developmentand encouraged the building of
flats especially along Mitford Street and Broadway, but also in adjoining streets.

In the early twentieth century the grounds of the house at the southwest corner of Southey and Milton
streets were progressively subdivided creating building allotments facing both streets, which were
developed with flats and houses. The original house remained, accessed by a driveway leading off Southey
Street, until the 1950s when it was purchased by Theodore Berman, an architect.

Berman demolished the house and his architectural office designed a complex of 24 studio/bedsit flats
arranged in a square around a central courtyard containing carparking (see Figure 2). The complex, which
cost approximately £26,000, was constructed by sub-contractors under the supervision of Berman (BP). In
1960, the complex was listed in the Directory as the Milton Drive Flats at 27 Southey Street, Elwood (SM).
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Figure 2: Original layout plan (Source: City of Port Phillip Building Archives)
In the late twentieth century the complex was purchased by the Department of Human Services for older
persons accommodation, and alterations and additions were made in 2000 to provide additional living space

for the units (BP). The 24 bedsits were extended and modified to provide increased living space and bigger
bathrooms. It has been renamed ‘Southey Gardens’.

Figure 3 - The flats c.1990s prior to the alterations carried out in 2000 (Source: City of Port Phillip)
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Bornin Carlton in 1928, Theodore Tolly Berman was a second-generation Polish migrant whose parents,
David Berman and the former Freda Waxman were both born in Warsaw (Built Heritage).

Registered as an architect in 1954, Berman established private practice under his own name. Initially, this
output focussed on small-scale apartment developments, mostly in the inner southern suburbs near where
he lived (in Elwood and later in Brighton) as well as retail fitouts. The latter projects saw him become
regular architect to several leading clothes chains including Beverley Lee Knitwear, Portmans and Sussan
Lingerie. Around 1957, Berman transferred his home-based practice to larger office premises in Fitzroy
Street, St Kilda, where he was able to take on additional staff (Built Heritage).

In the 1960s Berman designed several bowling alleys, as well as motels for the Parkroyal Chain, and in the
1970s was commissioned as the architect for high-end residential projects in Toorak (Built Heritage).

Built Heritage Pty Ltd, “Theodore Berman”, Dictionary of Unsung Architects, www.builtheritage.com.au
(viewed 24 November 2021)

Melbourne & Metropolitan Board of Works (MMBW) detail plan no. 1394 (1905)

O’Hanlon, Seamus, ‘Home together, Home apart: Boarding house, hostel and flat life in Melbourne c.1900-
1940’, PhD Thesis, History Department, Monash University

Peterson, Richard (2009, 2nd ed. [2005]), ‘Edgewater Towers’ (chpt. 43) in A Place of Sensuous Resort:
Buildings of St Kilda and their people (RP)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021

St Kilda Council building permit (BP) no. U.3087, 31 January 1957; B1393/1999/P/0-02 (1999 alterations and
additions)

Sands & McDougall Directories (SM) 1960-1965

Sawyer, Terry, (1982) ‘Residential flats in Melbourne: the development of a building type to 1950’, Honours
thesis, Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning, The University of Melbourne

An enclave of single storey modest, co-joined units in a D-shaped plan arranged around a communal
garden/motor court. Privacy is created by the entry brick wall (overpainted) and the long blank, side cream
brick wall of one of the units.

The intactness of the four wings varies, with those to the west, south and east being mostly intact whereas
the northern wing has undergone greater change.

The more intact wings (west, south and east) have long skillion roofs, clad in profiled sheet metal with
timber fascia and wide soffit. Aerials reveal a regular configuration of skylights and flues. The walls are
stretcher bond with the original sections having been painted and the additions in either cream or red
brick. The unpainted brick sections are blank and extend the full width of the roof — cream to the short
(west and east wings) and red to the longer south wing in addition to the north end of the east wing (in
cream brick). The overpainted sections are recessed with cream or red brick sills. The original doors are
recessed beneath the verandah and have a highlight window and there are flanking original timber-framed
windows, which are narrow (vertically orientated) with double hung sashes.

The north wing has a hipped roof with some gable ends and new sections of wall are red brick with cream
brick sills. The new windows are wider/larger either sashes or in a combination with a fixed pane.
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The subject complex is unusual in that is single storey whereas the multi-residential buildings constructed in
the area after World War |l are otherwise multi-storied, generally with either a flat or hipped roof, rather
than a skillion roof form. A few of the comparators are also arranged about a garden area or a central
courtyard.

As an epicentre for apartment development from the 1910s until the 1970s, St Kilda and Elwood contain
many blocks of flats, which demonstrate the evolution of styles and types and the growing popularity of flat
living. During the Inter-war period, the most common type was conventional walk-up flats of two or three
storeys. Blocks of flats in a courtyard development were less common, while courtyard developments of
single-storey units (the so-called ‘Bungalow Court’ type) were rarer still.

According to Sawyer (1992:13-4) the shortage of houses and the desire for smaller, more manageable
homes had been a factor in the development of flats, but the continual concern with privacy and the
unsuitability of flats for families led developers to seek alternatives. One of these was the 'Bungalow Court'
concept, which was introduced as early as 1916 when it was described in an article in the Real Property
Annual. The one and two roomed units were grouped around a U-shaped courtyard in pairs with no fences
or hedges between them. However, Sawyer (1992:14) concludes that 'the old concern with lack of privacy
once again surfaced and the concept does not appear to have gained a ready acceptance in Australia at this
time'. Nonetheless, the 'Bungalow Court' concept did eventually evolve into the courtyard flat types, where
flats were grouped around a semi-enclosed garden court, which emerged by the 1930s.

In Port Phillip, Greycourt at 96 Grey Street, St Kilda (see Citation 2002) designed by Richardson and
Wood and constructed in 1920 is one of two ‘Bungalow Court’ examples cited by Sawyer and is the
earliest known example in Port Phillip (and, by extension, the metropolitan area). The other is 45 Jackson
Street, St Kilda, which (as Sawyer notes) doesn't really fit the type, as it comprises a rectangular block with
no courtyard. A better example is 27-29 Jackson Street, which comprises attached dwellings in a U-shape
around a central garden courtyard. Both Jackson Street developments date from the early 1930s and are
within the HOS5 St Kilda Hill precinct. Another later example is Cromer Court, 22-24 Kingsley Street,
Elwood constructed in 1940-4| (Citation 2347).

Milton Drive demonstrates how the Bungalow Court type was adapted in the postwar period. While the
basic principles remained the same, a key change was the use of the central courtyard for car parking.
While less popular in inner city areas such as St Kilda where higher land values required higher site yields
(this is the only known early post-war example in St Kilda or Elwood; all other flats from this period being
the more common two and three storey walk-ups), single storey ‘villa unit’ courtyard developments
became popular in middle ring suburbs such as Hawthorn, Malvern and Brighton as socially acceptable
alternatives to multi-level flats.

There is a relatively high concentration of architect-designed flats in the Elwood and St Kilda area which are
typically either finely detailed and,or distinguished by their site responsiveness. Several émigré architects
were active and at the forefront of the evolution of this building type including Mordecai Benshemesh,
Michael R.E. Feldhagen, Dr Ernest Fooks, and Kurt Popper, often working for Jewish clients and
accommodating the influx of Central and Eastern European Jewish refugees who were accustomed to
apartment living. In addition, several Australian-born architects were responsible for flats but rarely multiple
examples. An exception was Theodore Berman, a second-generation Polish migrant who was born in
Carltonin 1928.

The subject complex is indicative of the approach that evolved during the end of the Postwar period —cira
mid to late 1950s/early 1960s. Moving further into the 1960s, there was a shift to what is often defined as
the late 20th century period, when the influence of Brutalism becomes apparent in the bolder forms and use
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of brown brick. Although cream brick was also common during the earlier phase of the Postwar period,
during the late 1940s and early 1950s, a Functionalist mode held sway at that time with parapets and steel-
framed windows. From about the mid- 950s, whilst roofs were typically flat, they were usually expressed
with soffits, often deep, and openings were typically timber-framed.

This is one of three known examples of multi-residential buildings in Port Phillip designed by Theodore
Berman or by his office. The others are:

e Rocklea Gardens, 46-50 Hotham Street, St Kilda East, 1960 (Citation 2017, HO293). Very large
complex with a T-plan over three levels. International style, continuous band of timber-framed
windows/openings with balconies, and spandrel panels at either end of the elongated fagade.

e Flats, 76 Mitford Street, Elwood 1957 (Contributory within the St Kilda Botanical Gardens & Environs
Precinct). Two storey block, cuboid form with flat projecting roof over galleries, mainly cream brick.
Facade with concrete brick, two colours (dark grey to main wall and light grey to screen wall) and
varying bond (stacked and stretcher), metal pole screen with ‘76’, metal balustrades with diamond
motifs to front, though triangular to long side galleries. Timber-framed windows including large window
wall section to facade.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay as a Significant place.

RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct Heritage
Review Stage 2, 2021

Robert Peck von Hartel Trethowan, St Kilda 20th century Architectural Study, Volume 3, 1992

Left — entry to the complex. Right: The east wing showing the 2000 additions at left with square window and the projecting bays
beneath the roof.
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Left: View of the central car park. Right The altered north wing showing the non-original gables, and brick additions
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Place name:
Other names:

Address:
Category:
Style:

Constructed:

Designer:

Amendment:

Comment:

B’nai B’rith House (former)

99 Hotham Street, Balaclava
Community: Lodge Hall
Postwar: Modernist

1959

Dr Ernest Fooks, Max Lyle

C29,Cl6l1

Revised citation

Citation No:
2018

Heritage Precinct: Not applicable
Heritage Overlay: HO337
Graded as: Significant

Victorian Heritage Register: No

The former B’nai B'rith House, designed by Dr Ernest Fooks and constructed in 1959, at 99 Hotham Street,
Balaclava is significant.

A two-storey modernist community building consisting of two sections, both with a rectangular footprint,
flat roof — the taller main and smaller northern unit. Initially the front of the main part had an open
undercroft, which was then infilled soon after in 1961 by Fooks. The roof of the main section projects with
a timber fascia and has a soffit with stained, slatted timber. This section is concrete framed, and its facade
has a wide (segmental) curved cream brick wall in stretcher bond with a regular configuration of projecting
bricks (alternate bricks in every second course) and recessed, narrow side windows. A large bronze
sculpture of a menorah by Max Lyle is located to the southern end. The side elevations include panels with
a pebble finish alternating with glazing to the front part of the upper level with limited areas of cream brick
(some infill). The glazing is timber-framed with large, fixed panes either side of a narrow openable window.
The smaller northernunit is set back in cream brick with similar window groups comprised of narrow

openable and large fixed panes, with a timber panel above.

Alterations and additions associated with the conversion to residential use are not significant.

The former B’nai B'rith House is of local historical and aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.
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B’nai B’rith House is of historical significance as a community lodge established in 1959 following a period of
massive growth for Melbourne’s Jewish community during and following World War Il. Itis specifically
associated with B’nai B’rith, the oldest and largest international Jewish community service organisation in
the world. Like many Post-war organisations, following their establishment in Melbourne in 1945 they
initially met in pre-existing buildings for some years before building this dedicated lodge on Hotham Street.
It served as an important community focus among the Jewish population in this area until 2010. (Criterion
A)

B’nai B’rith House is of aesthetic significance as a largely intact and distinctive example of Post-war religious
architecture in the Modernistidiom designed by preeminent Jewish émigré architect Dr Ernest Fooks who
was a member of the Lodge. The bold and striking composition with an expressed concrete frame in
conjunction with a finely detailed brickwork and timber-lined soffit is demonstrative of Fooks’ position at
the forefront of architectural design at the time. The building is complemented by a bronze sculpture
mounted on the facade by Max Lyle. (Criterion E)

2. Peopling Victoria’s places and landscapes: 2.4 Arriving in a new land, 2.5 Migrating and making a home,
2.6 Maintaining distinctive cultures; 8. Building community life: 8.4 Forming community organisations

3. People: 3.5 Expressing identity and culture; 8. Community life: 8.4 Gathering places

The strong Jewish community in St Kilda and Elwood today is largely a result of post-World War |l
migration, however there had been a Jewish congregationin the area since the late 1800s. In 1921 the
Jewish population of Melbourne was 7,600 people, and this grew to approximately 30,000 by 1961
(Lipmann, 1973, as cited in Townsend, 2018).

The St Kilda Hebrew Congregation was established in 1871 and built its first synagogue on part of the
former Charnwood estate the following year. The congregation grew and by the early 1920s, it needed a
bigger synagogue. The new St Kilda Hebrew Congregation Synagogue was built almost directly opposite the
original building and was consecrated in 1927. Designed by Joseph Plottel, the synagogue is built in
Byzantine Revival style.

The first Australian Temple Beth Israel was founded in Melbournein 1930 by Ada Phillips. It promoted a
progressive form of Judaism that was more relevantand appealing to younger Jews. Services were held at
Wickliffe House on the St Kilda Esplanade, the St Kilda Town Hall and the Christ Church hall. A synagogue
was purpose-built at 76-82 Alma Road, St Kilda in 1937. But by the end of World War I, with 1,600 people
attending on High Holidays, some services had to be held at the St Kilda Town Hall. By the late 1950s, the
congregation had grown to become the largest single Jewish congregation in Australia.

The Elwood Talmud Torah congregation was founded in the 1930s to serve the increasing number of
Jewish migrants escaping growing anti-Semitism and persecution in Europe. The congregation, like so many
others in the study area, began meeting in private homes before raising enough funds to purchase land and
build a synagogue. Kurt Popper, a Viennese modernist architect, designed the Elwood Talmud Torah. It
opened its doorsin 1957. Part of the community broke away in 1939-1940 to form the Adass Israel
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Congregation, which established a synagogue at 24 Glen Eira Road, Ripponlea in 1950. In December 1950,
the foundation stone for a mikvah — a ritual bathhouse — was laid behind the main building. The community
continued to expand its synagogue to surrounding sites from the 1960s, to accommodate its growth.

The Sephardi Jewish community also arrived in the area during the huge wave of post-war migration in the
1950s. They worked hard to establish a place of worship of their own, and in 1994 former Australian
Governor Sir Zelman Cohen opened the Sassoon Yehuda Sephardi Synagogue on Hotham Street, East St
Kilda.

These synagogues are still in regular use. The range of congregations demonstrates the diversity and
strength of the Jewish community in the City of Port Phillip (TEH).

Founded in the United States in 1843, B’nai B'rith is the oldest and largest international Jewish community
service organisation in the world. B’'nai B’rith supports human rights and anti-discrimination and promotes
multi-culturalism and inter-religious understanding and social justice activities. The organisation has
accredited NGO status at the United Nations in both New York and Geneva, and maintains representative
offices in Jerusalem, and in Brussels to deal with issues relation to the European Union. At a grass roots
level, B’nai B’rith delivers community welfare services such as youth and young adults’ programs, senior
citizens’ housing, and financial support for educational services. Initially, B’nai B’rith was a fraternal Lodge,
and membership was open to Jewish men ‘of good repute, and at least 25 years old’, while women could
become members of Chapters associated with the Lodges. However, in 1990 B’'nai B’rith International
voted to admit women as full members (B’nai B’rith website; The Australian Jewish News 3 May 1957 p9).

In Australia the first Lodge was established in Sydney in 1944, followed soon after by the commencement of
the Sydney Women’s Chapter. Melbourne instituted its first Lodge, no.1547, in 1945, which was installed
on 20 May at the Samuel Myers Hall (The Australian Jewish Herald 8 June 1945 p6). These were established
by Austrian and German refugees and immigrants from Europe as well as leaders from the Australian Jewish
community. In Melbourne, Frank B. Lippmann, a former past president of a European lodge played an
important role in the establishment of Lodge no.|547. B’nai B’rith was eventually established in all
Australian states, but only Sydney and Melbourne remain today (B’nai B'rith website).

An early initiative of the B’nai B’rith Lodge in Melbourne was the awarding in late 1946 of scholarships for
students attending Hebrew schools in Victoria or at the University of Melbourne (The Sydney Jewish News
29 November 1946 p8). The Lodge also worked closely with the Australian Jewish Welfare Society
provided help for needy members of the community. One example was the Mothers Help Scheme
commenced in 1952 by the Women’s Chapter, which arranged immediate help for families when a mother
became ill or had to go to hospital. In 1955 the Lodge donated a hut to the A.H. Sicree Memorial Camp for
Jewish Youth at Upper Beaconsfield (The Australian Jewish News 3 May 1957 p9).

In 1955 the Lodge celebrated its tenth anniversary and in April 1957 the second B’nai B’rith Lodge
(Harmony Lodge No. 2099) was instituted in Melbourne. Three other new lodges were instituted in
Sydney, Perth, and Brisbane at around the same time. By this time membership exceeded 500 and was
steadily growing (The Australian Jewish News 3 May 1957 p9).

With the growth in Lodge members a permanent meeting place was required. The Lodge trustees acquired
the present site in Hotham Street in 1957 and Dr Ernest Fooks was engaged to design alterations and
additions to the nineteenth century house on the property. The first stage, completed c.1958, comprised
internal alterations to the house to create meeting rooms and office spaces. The second stage, completed
in 1959, was a two storey addition built in front of the house (see Figure |), which contained a main
Assembly Hall on the first floor that could seat 350 people accessed by a stairwell on the north side (with a
cloakroom below) (BP). The building was named ‘B’nai B’rith House’. A feature of the fagcade was a copper
sculpture in the form of an abstracted menorah, which was created by sculptor, Max Lyle (Interview with
Max Lyle).
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Figure I: B’nai B’rith House (Hotham Street Reception Rooms), East St. Kilda 1960 (Source: State Library of
Victoria, H2003.100/283)

Beneath the assembly hall was an open undercroft. In 1961 this was infilled to create an additional
committee room. At the same time additions were made to the rear of the original house to create a
caretaker’s dwelling. Fooks was the architect for these alterations and additions (BP).

In 1966 a building permit was granted for a further committee room. Kurt Popper was the architect for this
addition, but it is unclear whether it proceeded. In 1983 Fooks and Popper collaborated on the design of a
two-storey addition at the rear of the original house for a new caretaker’s dwelling (BP).

In 2010 the Lodge decided to offer the building for sale, as it was no longer considered suitable for the
organisation. The funds from the sale were used to relocate the Lodge to Beth Weizmann, and to promote
and expand the organisation (The Australian Jewish News, 25 October 2010). In 2017 a permit was approved
for a residential development that retained the 1959/61 building and replaced the nineteenth century house
with townhouses (BP). This was completed in 2022.

Born during 1906 in Bratislava, Czechoslovakia, Ernest Fuchs was educated in Vienna, where he completed
a degree in architecture in 1929 and subsequently a doctorate in town planning in 1932. He started his own
practice at that time but in 1939 fled the rising anti-Semitism in Europe, marrying Latvian-born Noemi
Matusevic in Canada en route to Australia (HE).

In Melbourne, he became assistant town planner for the Housing Commission of Victoria for nearly a
decade (until 1948) working on projects across the State. During this time, he wrote extensively, and
lectured, on town planning issues leading to his appointment in 1944 as the first lecturer of town planning
at the Melbourne Technical College (now RMIT). In 1946, he outlined his ideas and solutions to planning in
Melbourne in X-Ray the City!: the Density Diagram, Basis for Urban Planning.

On becoming an Australian citizen in 1945, he changed his surname to Fooks. From 1948, he established a
successful architectural practice, drawing much of his clientele from Melbourne’s thriving post-WW2
European émigré community.

Fooks’ practice specialised in ‘own your own’ flats for developers completing over forty blocks of flats in St
Kilda, Caulfield, Toorak, South Yarra and Hawthorn. In 1955, he self-developed an office with four bachelor
flats attached at | Woonsocket Court, St Kilda (extant but much altered). Fooks also designed numerous
single-family residences, beginning with modest-scale examples in the austerity driven period of the late
1940s and early 1950s but evolving as prosperity increased to more ambitiously scaled and detailed
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examples subsequently. In this sphere, he was influenced by courtyard focused precedents and the use of
Japanese-inspired screens, culminating in his own-famed house in Caulfield (1966). Other projects included
some commercial (such as shops) and educational buildings (for example, Mt Scopus Memorial College,
Burwood), as well as three notable community facilities — the B’nai B’rith in Hotham Street, Balaclava in
1959, Adass Israel Synagogue in Glen Eira Avenue, Ripponlea, completed in 1965, and the National Jewish
Memorial Centre and Community Facility in Canberra, completed in 1971 (Edquist).

Fooks passed in 1985. Despite the coverage in magazines such as Australian House and Garden and extensive
output of both built work and in publishing, his work has only recently become more widely acknowledged
in general architectural circles (Peterson).

The B’nai B’rith commission is said to stem from Noemi’s encouragement to be involved with local
community affairs (Edquist). Fooks was a member of B’nai B’rith and his wife, Noemi, was part of the
Women’s Chapter. In 1974 Fooks became the second president of the Unity Lodge, a position he held until
1978. The Unity Lodge was a unique group within B’nai B’rith both in Australia and internationally at the
time, as it was comprised of men and women. He also served as consultant to the Jewish Museum and had
close links with Toorak Synagogue and community charities (The Australian Jewish News 6 May 1983 p12).
Following his death in 1985 one of the main halls at B’nai B’rith House was dedicated to his memory.
Speakers at the dedication ceremony included his widow, Noemi, Royal Australian Institute of Architects
past president, Keith Mackay and colleagues, relatives, and friends (The Australian Jewish Times 15 Jan 1987

p4).

Max Lyle (1935-) studied art at RMIT, Melbourne 1951-53 and 1955, Caulfield Technical College 1957-
1959; Gordon Institute of Technology 1960-62. In 1963 he was appointed to the University of South
Australia: South Australian School of Art 1963-1996 retired as Head of School in 1996. He held his first
solo exhibitions in the early 1950s at the Victorian Sculptors society. Other early exhibitions included 1958
Tasmanian Tourist Bureau Melbourne, 1959 Victorian Artists' Society Melbourne and 1962 Museum of
Modern Art of Australia Melbourne and he was continuously represented in shows over five decades until
the early 2000s.

His commissioned architectural sculptures include 1999 "Bamboo installation" Building Bamboo Art
Institute of Indonesia Yogayakarta; 1995 Development Bank of Singapore; 1988 Mount Gambier Civic
Centre two wind impelled metal sculptures entitled "Performance"; 1982 Littlehampton School wall
sculpture; 1979 Broken Hill Civic Centre "Jamieson Shaft sculpture"; 1973 Adelaide Festival Centre foyer
"Environmental sculpture"; 1967 Deakin University Toorak campus Melbourne fountain; 1964 Arndale
shopping centre Adelaide pendant sculpture; 1960 Bendigo State College Victoria "Phoenix" wall sculpture;
1959 B'nai B'nith Lodge Melbourne "Menorah" wall sculpture.

Lyle has been the recipient of several awards and grants including 2000 Consultancy for Arts SA, 1991
Study grant from University of South Australia for 6 month tour of Europe, 1984 British Council UK study
grant, 1981 Artist in residence Victoria College of the Arts, 1974 Australia Council grant for Adelaide
Festival of Arts; 1954 Aubrey Gibson Sculpture prize Victorian Sculptors' Society.

Lyle is represented in the collections of the Australian National Gallery Canberra, University of Sydney, Art
Gallery of South Australia, University of Adelaide, RMIT Melbourne; Mildura Arts Centre, Victorian College
of the Arts, Geelong Art Gallery; Lord Perth Scotland; and private collections.

(Source: Interview with Max Lyle)

B’nai B’rith Australia New Zealand website, https://www.bnaibrith.org.au/our-history.html (viewed 23
November 2021

Certificate of title, Vol. 2637 Fol. 399
Council Building Files held by Port Phillip City Council (BP)
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Edquist, Harriet (2012), ‘Fooks, Ernest’, P Goad & | Willis, The Encyclopedia of Australian Architecture,
Melbourne, pp. 258-259

Lyle, Max & Linn, Rob & National Library of Australia. Oral History Program (2004). Interview with Max Lyle.
Viewed online at https://trove.nla.gov.au/work/36507294 24 November 202 1.

Peterson, Richard (2009, 2nd ed. [2005]), ‘Edgewater Towers’ (chpt. 43) in A Place of Sensuous Resort:
Buildings of St Kilda and their people.

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021

Townsend, Catherine, ‘Making Modern Jewish Melbourne: Schools, Synagogues, Aged Care Facilities and
Community Buildings 1938-1979’ (paper), 2018

A modernist community building currently being converted to residential use. It consists of two sections,
both with a rectangular footprint, flat roof, and two storey — the taller main and smaller northern unit.
Initially the front of the main part had an open undercroft (SLV, H2003.100/283), which has been infilled.

The roof of the main section projects with a timber fascia and has a soffit with stained, slatted timber. This
section is concrete framed, and its fagade has a wide (segmental) curved cream brick wall in stretcher bond
with a regular configuration of projecting bricks (alternate bricks in every second course) and recessed,
narrow side windows. A large bronze sculpture of a menorah (ancient Hebrew lampstand) by Max Lyle is
located to the southern end.

The side elevations include panels with a pebble finish alternating with glazing to the front part of the upper
level with limited areas of cream brick (some infill). The glazing was timber-framed with large, fixed panes
either side of a narrow openable window.

The smaller northern unit is set back in cream brick with similar window groups comprised of narrow
openable and large fixed panes, with a timber panel above.

The former B’nai B'rith House is one of many institutional buildings (schools, community centres,
memorials, aged care facilities etc.) constructed in in Melbourne duringthe 1950s, 60s and 70s in response
to the massive population growth within the Jewish community followingWorld War Il. The architects
commissioned were often Jewish émigrés themselves who brought with them detailed knowledge and
experience of European Modernism. While their formative training always remained dominant, their work
inevitably absorbed some influence from their new home. Dr Ernest Fooks, who was educated in Vienna
before immigrating in 1939, emerged as one of the preeminent Jewish émigré architects practicing in
Melbourne during the Post-war period.

The B’nai B’rith House is in the Modernist idiom. There is no ready comparison within the municipality in
terms of contemporary public or community projects. B’nai B’rith House compares well with others
completed in Melbourne at the end of the 1950s, such as St Faiths’ Anglican Church at 8 Charles Street,
Burwood by Mockridge, Stahle & Mitchell (1957-58) and St James Anglican Church at 1461 High Street,
Glen Iris by Bogle, Banfield & Associates (1959). Both noted buildings employed striking massing/forms not
necessarily associated with traditional religious architecture and were similarly boldly articulated with
pronounced use of blank walls to the street.

Dr Ernest Fooks designed other buildings in the municipality for the Jewish community:

e Adass Israel Synagogue, 12-24 Glen Eira Avenue, Ripponlea (Citation 2434). Built in 1965, although
the design had been largely settled four years earlier in 1961. It is in the Modernist idiom with fine
fagade articulation and a broad gable roof with wide eaves.
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e Melbourne Chevra Kadisha, a Jewish mortuary and funeral home, | 15-119 Inkerman Street, St
Kilda, built in 1979 (not included in the Heritage Overlay). Itis another distinctive building but
reflecting the Brutalist style with its bold massing, extensive areas of blank wall and brown brick
exterior. It similarly includes a projecting curved wall section to the centre of the fagade as the
B’nai B’rith House.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay as an individual place. Reduce the Heritage Overlay extent to include only
the 1959/61 building.

RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review
Stage 2, 2021

Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

Robert Peck von Hartel Trethowan, St Kilda 20th century architectural study, Volume 3, 1992

Front elevation in 2017
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Side elevation in 2017 — note visible chimney of original house at rear

Stairwell of 1959 building in 2017 showing original window details
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Place name: State Savings Bank of Victoria Citation No:

(former) 95
Other names: Commonwealth Bank
Address: 133-135 Acland Street, St Kilda Heritage Precinct: Village Belle
Commercial
Category: Commercial: Bank
Heritage Overlay: TBC
Style: Late 20th century

Graded as: Significant

Constructed: 1969
Victorian Heritage Register: No
Designer: Best Overend

Amendment: Amendment C29,CI160

Comment: Revised citation

The former State Savings Bank of Victoria (now the Commonwealth Bank), designed by Best Overend and
constructed in 1969, at 133-135 Acland Street, St Kilda is significant.

The building is single storey with a tall parapet. The fagade is completely clad in off-white marble panels,
except for the glazed entry, which have been configured to maintain the diagonal patterning of the veining.
At ground level the facade is set back from the front boundary with wing walls beneath the paired wide,
segmental arched concrete canopies which have a metal fascia, painted black. The soffit of the canopy has a
rough finish, possibly finished with vermiculite (a sprayed-on material employed for its acoustic properties
and often referred to as a popcorn ceiling), and recessed lights.

Alterations and additions are not significant. These include, the ATMs, the aluminium-framed glazed entry
with translucent glazing above, terrazzo floor tiling at the entry and the metal railing.

The former State Savings Bank of Victoria at 133-135 Acland Street, St Kilda is of local historical and
aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.

The former State Savings Bank of Victoria is historically significant for its continuous use as a financial
institution in the Acland Street commercial centre since 1969. It was one of six branches of the State
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Savings Bank of Victoria established in the municipality and replaced an earlier branch building in Barkly
Street. Although the State Savings Bank of Victoria had its own in-house architectural department, it also
maintained a tradition of engaging some of the more progressive and prominent private architectural firms,
in this case Best Overend, to undertake commissions. (Criterion A)

The former State Savings Bank of Victoria is of aesthetic significance as an intact, late example of the
International style as indicated by the use of bold, often sculptural forms with distinct zones of blank
walling. It is a good example of small-scale bank architecture dating from the 1960s. The essentially
symmetrical fagade cleverly expresses an asymmetrical plan generated by the bank's functional duality: on
one side expressing public accessibility, on the other, solid security. The symmetry of the double curved
awning resolves this duality and the fine marble facings enhance the sense of formality. The canopy and the
height of the parapet continue the dominant characteristics of the streetscape. The setback of the building
contributes a small public space to the Acland Street footpath. (Criterion E)

5. Building Victoria’s industries and workforce: 5.5 Banking and finance

6. Commerce, trade and work: 6.2 Markets, shops and retail

The first Village Belle Hotel was established in 1855 in Barkly Street opposite the intersection with Acland
Streetandin 1891 the present building was erected. The surrounding area first developed as a residential
area and by the late nineteenth century, the southern end of Acland Street was lined with villas as well as
two mansions that occupied the triangle formed by Acland, Belford and Barkly streets. The only non-
residential development was the cable tramway sheds on the southwest side opposite Irwell Street
(MMBW).

The growth in the population of St Kilda and Elwood due to mansion estate subdivision and the building of
flats in the early twentieth century (and the gradual decline of the High Street shopping centre) led to the
development of new retail centre around the intersection of Acland and Barkly streets surrounding the
Village Belle Hotel. By the 1930s the growing importance of the centre was marked by the opening of a
Coles Store with dual frontages to Acland and Barkly streets and branches of the State Savings Bank of
Victoria and the Commonwealth Bank in Barkly Street, and rows of multiple shops along both sides of
Acland Street.

The State Bank of Victoria was established by 1912 when the Savings Banks Act (No.2365) provided for all
Banks then operating under the Savings Banks Acts to be collectively named The State Savings Bank of
Victoria (SSBV). Between the time of its formation and 1939 the Bank undertook a 'remarkable building
programme' erecting over 70 branches throughout Victoria, the most by any single bank during that period
(Trethowan 1976:7).

Services offered by the Bank included savings bank facilities, special loans to discharged soldiers (from
1917), building homes for people of small means (from 1920s), including the Garden City estate at
Fisherman’s Bend and credit foncier facilities including mortgage loans and sale of debentures. The credit
foncier scheme was one of the first of many introduced in Australia over the first decades of the twentieth
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century and became known colloquially as the ‘cheap money’ scheme. By the 1920s the success of the
credit foncier scheme led to the Bank adding other loans on special conditions for lower income workers
and returned servicemen (Murray & White 1992:207-17).

In 1991 the SSBV merged with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. At that stage, there were more than
500 branch locations throughout Victoria. Following the merger, many branches were closed and those
that were kept open became branches of the Commonwealth Bank.

In the City of Port Phillip, some of the first SSBV branches in Victoria were established in St Kilda at the
corner of Fitzroy Street & Canterbury Road in 1914, at Carlisle Street, Balaclava (1914), and Middle Park
(c.1915). Other branches followed at Elwood (1922), Ripponlea (1922), and Barkly Street, St Kilda (1923).

The branch in Barkly Street, St Kilda served the Village Belle shopping centre until the late 1960s. In 1967
the Commissioners of the SSBV acquired this property in Acland Street, which contained a pair of shops
(CT). Best Overend was the architect of the new branch building, which opened in 1969.

Figure I - Elevation plan prepared by Best Overend. (Source: Council building file)

In 1984 the first automatic teller machine was installed in the facade. It became a branch of the
Commonwealth Bank c.1991 following the merger of the two banks, and this led to the closure of the
original Commonwealth Bank at 204-208 Barkly Street, which had opened in 1939.

Certificate of Title (CT), Vol. 8690 Fol. 508
Heritage Alliance, East St Kilda Heritage Study, Citation 2298 for former SSBV, 224 Carlisle Street, Balaclava
Melbourne & Metropolitan Board of Works Plan No. 1375 and 1376, dated 1897

Murray R. & White, K., A bank for the people: A history of the State Bank of Victoria, Hargreen, North
Melbourne, 1992

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH), February 2021

St Kilda Council building permits (BP) nos. 5215 (Barkly Streetbranch, 13 March 1923; No. 2773, dated 3
June 1969; 9316, 28 July 1982 (internal alterations); D.2634, 20 October 1984 (ATM).

Trethowan, B., A study of banks in Victoria, 1851-1939, HBC, December 1976
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The former SSVBV is a late example of the International style as indicated by the use of bold, often
sculptural forms with distinct zones of blank walling. It is single storey with a tall parapet. The fagade is
completely clad in off-white marble panels except for the glazed entry. The veining of the marble is varied
in colour but the large rectangular tiles (four levels across the fagade height) have been configured to
maintain the diagonal patterning.

At ground level the facade is setback from the front boundary with wing walls beneath the paired wide,
segmental arched concrete canopies which have a metal fascia, painted black. The soffit of the canopy has a
rough finish, possibly finished with vermiculite (a sprayed-on material employed for its acoustic properties
and often referred to as a popcorn ceiling), and recessed lights.

While the building is not completely intact, overall, it has good integrity. Original SSBV signage has been
replaced by the present signage.

Below the canopy, the northern half of the fagade currently contains two ATMs and a non-original,
aluminium-framed glazed entry with translucent glazing above.

The terrazzo floor tiling at the entry is likely not original (identified as concrete tiles on the drawings) nor
are the metal railing.

Although the SSBV had its own in- house architectural department, it also maintained a tradition of
engaging some of the more progressive and prominent private architectural firms to undertake
commissions (Heritage Alliance 2004).

This branch designed by Best Overend compares with new Balaclava branch erected in Carlisle Streetin
1965 (Citation 2298, Carlisle Street Commercial Precinct), which was designed by Eggleston, Macdonald &
Secomb, who enjoyed an ongoing association with the SSBV (in 1982 the firm designed internal alterations
to the Acland Street branch). This association could be traced back to the pre-War practice of the firm's
founder, architect Alec Eggleston (1883-1955), and culminated in the firm’s design for the bank’s head
office, on the corner of Bourke and Elizabeth streets, in the late 1970s (Heritage Alliance 2004).

Earlier former SSBV banks included in the HO are:

e 54 Fitzroy Street, St Kilda (1914) (Citation 1478)

e 104 Canterbury Road, Middle Park (c.1915) Significant within HO445 Armstrong Street precinct
e 6 Ormond Road, Elwood (1922) (Citation 360)

e 78 Glen Eira Road, Ripponlea (1922) (Citation 1984)

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay as a Significant place.
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RBA Architects & Conservation Consultants, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct Heritage
Review Stage 2, 2021

Andrew Ward & Associates, Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998

Robert Peck von Hartel Trethowan, St Kilda 20th century architectural study, Volume 3, 1992

The former SSBV ¢.1999
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Place name: Talana Citation No:

Other names: House and fence 18
Address: 89 Westbury Street, St Kilda Heritage Precinct: None
East
Heritage Overlay: HO278
Category: Residential: House, fence
Graded as: Significant
Style: Federation/Edwardian: Free
Classical Victorian Heritage Register: No

Constructed: 1905,1914
Designer: Unknown
Amendment: C206

Comment: Revised citation

Talana, the Federation villa built in 1905 and extended in 1914 at 89 Westbury Street, St Kilda East is
significant. The cast iron and bluestone front fence also contributes to the significance of the place.

Later alterations and additions are not significant.

Talana at 89 Westbury Street, St Kilda East is of local aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.

Talana is of aesthetic significance as a substantial Federation villa, which is notable for ornate detailing of the
three projecting bays, verandah and chimneys and is complemented by a cast iron front fence. The two
front facing gables are the most complex having a pediment over the projecting window bay set against a
larger pediment over the gable end wall. The tympana have incised decoration and are supported visually
on pilasters with fluted volutes, which frame tall timber windows with leadlight toplights, moulded
architraves and imposts and rendered bracketed sills. The side facing gable has similar treatment to the
pediment but lacks the pilasters and other details to the windows. Other notable details are the
pedimented treatment with cast iron screens at the corner of the verandah, and the tall chimneys with
pedimented caps. (Criterion E)
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6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.1 Mansions and grand villas)

Private development in the City of Port Phillip began from the time of the first sales of Crown land in the
1840s and 1850s. The gradual development of infrastructure, including roads, public transport networks
and utilities, paved the way for increasing development of private land. Private subdivision within the broad
framework set out by Hoddle’s survey saw neighbourhoods in the City of Port Phillip grow into populated,
thriving communities (TEH).

The land boom of the 1880s saw intense land speculation across Melbourne, with large estates and the
original crown allotments carved up into much smaller allotments for residential development thatfilled in
the gaps shown on that plan. During the peak of Melbourne’s building boom in the 1880s, almost all the
remaining land in Port Phillip (except for the Elwood Swamp and the Fishermans Bend area) was subdivided
and offered for sale. However, with the onset of the 1890s economic depression, many estates failed and
remained undeveloped for a decade or more (TEH).

There was almost no increase in St Kilda’s population in the decade from 1891 to 1901. However, as
development recovered in the early twentieth century the number of residents in St Kilda almost doubled
between 1901 and 1921 rising from 20,500 to 38,500 as land was highly sought-after by a new generation of
homebuilders seeking smaller detached dwellings, duplexes, or flats. Most of the development during the
Federation/Edwardian period occurred on subdivisions laid out during the 1880s boom period, as well as in
the continuing subdivision of nineteenth century properties in St Kilda, Elwood, Balaclava and Ripponlea.

The development of Alma Park from c.1860 onwards encouraged the development of the surrounding area
into a desirable residential neighbourhood. By the end of the nineteenth century Chapel Street, Alma Road
and Westbury Street were lined with substantial villas and mansions set in large grounds.

In the late nineteenth century 89 Westbury Street formed part of a larger allotment at the north-west
corner of Inkerman Street that contained a seven-roomed brick house owned and occupied by John
Zevenboom, a brush manufacturer, which had been built prior to 1873 as it appears on Vardy Plan (LV,
RB). The 1897 MMBW plan (Figure |) shows the house, named as ‘Amsterdam’, which had deep setbacks
to both Inkerman and Westbury streets.

Zevenboom took out a mortgage to the Commercial Bank of Australia Ltd in 1894 and, like many others at
that time, appears to have found himself in financial difficulty for in 1903 the bank had taken possession and
subdivided the land into two lots. The allotment containing the house was sold to Ellen Osborne, while an
allotment at the corner of Inkerman Street was transferred to her husband John James Osborne. John and
Ellen lived at the former Amsterdam, by then renamed as Talana and in 1905 they engaged builder H.
Osborne to build a new house on this property, which is the present house at 89 Westbury Street (LV,
BP).
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Figure I: Extract of MMBW Detail Plan No. | 422 showing Amsterdam in 1897, prior to the construction of Talana

Ellen Osborne diedin 1911 and in 1912 her husband sold what is now 89 Westbury Street to Norman
Baillieu (LV).

In 1914, A. Cookson, builder constructed additions that contained two additional bedrooms, a scullery with
access to the original kitchen, and a small pantry for then owner Mrs. G. Baillieu (BP). This is the projecting
wing on the south side. It was detailed to match the front elevations of the house (Figure 2).

Figure 2: Extract of original building plans showing the additions to Talana in 1914

In 1920 the owner and occupier of the house, which retained the name Talana, was John Barrett, an
auctioneer (LV).

Land Victoria certificates of title (LV): Vol. 1402 Fol. 230; Vol. 2966 Fol. 067
Melbourne & Metropolitan Board of Works (MMBW) Detail Plan No. 1422, dated 1897
Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH) Version 1, July 2020

St Kilda Council building permit (BP): 322, 23 August 1905 (‘B. villa Westbury Street’); 2457, 9 September
1914 (additions)

Sands & McDougall Directory (SM) 1905, 1910, 1920
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Talana is an unusual substantial Federation rendered villa with a complex hip and gable slate tiled roof. The
original section, constructed in 1905, is asymmetrical in plan with a separate return bullnose cast iron
verandah within projecting gabled bays to the front and south side, and the 1914 additions have extended
the house on the south side, which features another projecting gabled bay at the front.

Talana is distinguished by the by the ornate detailing of pedimented ends to the three projecting bays. The
two front facing gables are the most complex having a pediment over the projecting window bay set against
a larger pediment over the gable end wall. The tympana have incised decoration and are supported visually
on pilasters with fluted volutes, which frame tall timber windows with leadlight toplights, moulded
architraves and imposts and rendered bracketed sills. The side facing gable has similar treatment to the
pediment but lacks the pilasters and other details to the windows. Other notable details are the
pedimented treatment with cast iron screens at the corner of the verandah, and the tall chimneys with
pedimented caps.

Talana is in good condition and has good external integrity. Along the front boundary is an original or early
cast iron fence on a bluestone base. At the north end, part of this has been removed to createa driveway
opening.

No information.

This place has been assessed using with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia ICOMOS
Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013 applying the Hercon criteria in
accordance with PPN : Applying the heritage overlay.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay with external paint controls. Rename as Talana in the HO schedule entry.

David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing

heritage citations (Part 2), 2022

Andrew Ward & Associates, City of Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998
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Other images
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Place name:
Other names:

Address:
Category:

Style:

Constructed:

Designer:

Amendment:

Comment:

House

70 Dickens Street, Elwood
Residential: House
Interwar: Moderne

1939

A. Halley

C206

Revised citation

Citation No:
28

Heritage Precinct: Not applicable
Heritage Overlay: HO105
Graded as: Significant

Victorian Heritage Register: No

The house designed constructed by A. Halley master builder in 1939 for Rudolph & Clarissa Dettmer, at 70
Dickens Street, Elwood is significant. The low brick front fence contributes to the significance of the place.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

The house at 70 Dickens Street, Elwood is of local aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.

The house is of aesthetic significance as a house designed in the Streamlined Moderne style with
characteristic form and detailing including the curved wall corner incorporating a window and the flat
curved porch hood (and curved terrazzo floor), and the emphasis on horizontality in the use of contrasting
bands of cement render with dark bricks and the horizontal glazing bars in the windows. The port hole
window is also a characteristic motif. The setting is complemented by the original low brick frontfence.

(Criterion E)
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6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.3 Suburban bungalows)

Private development in the City of Port Phillip began from the time of the first sales of Crown land in the
1840s and 1850s. The gradual development of infrastructure, including roads, public transport networks
and utilities, paved the way for increasing development of private land. Private subdivision within the broad
framework set out by Hoddle’s survey saw neighbourhoods in the City of Port Phillip grow into populated,
thriving communities (TEH).

Following the economic depression of the 1890s, there was concern that inner Melbourne was becoming
overcrowded. Terrace houses fell out of favour, as they were perceived as being cold and dark with limited
garden space. Instead, detached bungalows became the most popular form of housing from the
Federation/Edwardian period onward (TEH).

This concept of a ‘garden suburb’ (as distinct from consciously-planned model Garden City estates),
comprising a reasonably spacious single-family dwelling in a secluded garden setting, became the ideal
expression of urban living in the early twentieth century. Facilitated by improvements to public transport
networks, particularly the electrification of the tram and railway networks, this housing defines the suburbs
that developed during this era, including much of Middle Park, St Kilda East, Elwood and Ripponlea (TEH).

Significant population growth after World War | created a demand for housing, leading to the subdivision
(or re-subdivision) of the remaining pockets of vacant or underdeveloped land in the City of Port Phillip.
This included vacant land previously thought to be unsuitable for housing, such as in Fishermans Bend, as
well as the re-development of the remaining mansion estates. Apart from the mansion estate subdivisions,
there were two major interwar subdivisions at either end of the City of Port Phillip: The ‘Garden City’
estates in Port Melbourne and the Brunnings Estate subdivision in Ripponlea (TEH).

Dickens Street extended west as far as Mitford Street in 1866. From Mitford Street it became a fair
weather track across the northern stretches of the Elwood Swamp. By 1879, the street extended to the
Bay, however the area remained relatively undeveloped until the twentieth century.

In 1915, Charles Herschell, a commercial traveller, owned a six roomed wood house on the north side of
Dickens Street between Marine Parade and Baker Street. The street number at the time was 76. The house
was subsequently owned by Emily Vincent who sold it to Rudolf (a pastrycook) and Clarissa Dettmer in
1938. By then, the street number had been changed to 70. The Dettmers demolished the house and in
1939 engaged A. Halley, master builder of Bentleigh, to design and construct a brick house on the site. The
house contained two bedrooms and a ‘sleep out’ at the rear, and separate lounge and dining rooms and a
central kitchen. Halley also designed and constructed a garage in the rear yard, and the brick front fence.

The Dettmers continued as owner/occupants in 1960 at which time the house was described as "brick, five
rooms, population 4, NAV 325 pounds".
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Extract of original building plans (City of Port Phillip)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH) Version 1, July 2020
St Kilda Council building permit (BP) no. 10212, 28 March 1939
Sands & McDougall Directories (SM) 1935-1940

The house at 70 Dickens Street, Elwood is an interwar brick bungalow with a hipped tile roof. The house
shows the influence of the Streamline Moderne style in its ‘waterfall front’ treatment with a curved wall
corner incorporating a window and the flat curved porch hood (and curved terrazzo floor), and the
emphasis on horizontality in the use of contrasting bands of cement render with dark bricks and the
horizontal glazing bars in the windows. The port hole window is also a characteristic motif. The house is
complemented by the original low front fence constructed from the same bricks as the house.

The house is in good condition and appears has good integrity (additions at the rear are concealed from
view). The driveway opening to the front fence has been widened and the original wrought iron metal gates
removed.

No information.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.
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2022: Retain in the Heritage Overlay with external paint controls.

David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing
heritage citations (Part 2), 2022

Andrew Ward & Associates, City of Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998
Robert Peck von Hartel Trethowan, St Kilda 20th century architectural study, Volume 3, 1992
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Place name: Ulverston

Other names: House

Address: 23 Hotham Grove, Ripponlea
Category: Residential: House

Style: Victorian: Italianate

Constructed: 1887
Designer: Unknown
Amendment: TBA

Comment: Revised citation

Citation No:
31

Heritage Precinct: Not applicable
Heritage Overlay: HOI149
Graded as: Significant

Victorian Heritage Register: No

Ulverston, the rendered brick, double storey, Italianate-style villa built in 1887 for Alfred Ramsden at 23

Hotham Grove, Ripponlea is significant.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

Ulverston at 23 Hotham Grove, Ripponlea is of local historical significance to the City of Port Phillip.

Ulverston is of historical significance as an example of the speculative housing development that occurred
during the Land Boom in Melbourne in the late nineteenth century. In contrast to many other parts of Port
Phillip, this speculative development was relatively limited in Ripponlea and Ulverston is one of the few

surviving examples. (Criteria A & B)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians
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5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.1 Mansions and grand villas)

Private development in the City of Port Phillip began from the time of the first sales of Crown land in the
1840s and 1850s. The gradual development of infrastructure, including roads, public transport networks
and utilities, paved the way for increasing development of private land. Private subdivision within the broad
framework set out by Hoddle’s survey saw neighbourhoods in the City of Port Phillip grow into populated,
thriving communities (TEH).

Mansion estates — large, detached homes on generous allotments — defined early, permanent housing in
Elwood and St Kilda, in the mid-nineteenth century. Although the oldest surviving houses in Elwood — such
as Vautier House, built in the mid-1850s — are terrace houses, it was mansions on large allotments that
came to characterise the neighbourhood in its early years. The estates were in four distinct clusters: St
Kilda Hill; the semi-rural estates occupying the high ground on the south side of Dandenong Road from the
Nepean Road (now St Kilda Road) to Orrong Road; those surrounding the St Kilda Botanical Gardens and
along Brighton Road; and the remote ‘sea-side’ estates along Ormond Esplanade. Kearney’s 1855 map of
the area shows the contrast between dense residential development in St Kilda, and the large mansion
estates to the east of the Nepean Road including Charnwood and Marlton, south of Carlisle Street (then
known as Beach Road), and on both sides of Brighton Road, including Erindale and Chiverton, and
Bramshaw, Osborne House and Wiltonia further south (TEH).

Apart from the mansion estates, most of the development in Port Phillip prior to 1880 was confined to the
early township reserves. However, the boom era of the 1880s saw intense land speculation across
Melbourne, with large estates and the original crown allotments carved up into much smaller allotments for
residential development that filled in the gaps shown on that plan (TEH).

During the peak of Melbourne’s building boom in the 1880s, almost all the remaining land in Port Phillip
(except for the Elwood Swamp and the Fishermans Bend area) was subdivided and offered for sale.
Prosperity saw land speculation intensify across the suburbs during that period in areas such as Elwood,
Balaclava, Ripponlea, and St Kilda East that were remote from transportand services. When one of
Elwood’s oldest estates, Chiverton, was subdivided in 1885, it created 85 allotments. Despite the eager
subdivision of land and colourful advertising, however, the actual building of homes in these remote
subdivisions was slow. With the onset of the 1890s economic depression, many estates failed and remained
undeveloped for a decade or more. Maps of Elwood in the late 1890s, for example, show that residential
development was still sparse, and the beachside estates had failed spectacularly, with only a few houses on
the Elwood Esplanade and Elwood Hill estates. Hood Street and Bluff Avenue remained entirely
undeveloped at the turn of the century (TEH).

At Crown land sales, |.M. Holloway purchased portions 259, 268 and 269 which consisted of about | |
acres of the wedge of land where Brighton Road and Hotham Street met. Holloway, of Northampton
Buildings in Acland Street, subsequently had the area surveyed for a housing estate by surveyor, Sydney W.
Smith. Each allotment had two frontages or the benefit of a magnificent Right-of-Way, |5ft wide. Hotham
Grove at the time was named Susan Street. With some amendments, the sale of land later went ahead.

John Reynolds, a gentleman of Windsor, purchased all of Susan Street. On the north side at the point
where the street dog legged, Alfred Ramsden boughtlots 12 and 13A-F and in 1887, built a six roomed
brick house on lot 13C. The house had a Net Annual Value of 65 pounds. In that year, the street name
changed to Hotham Grove. Ramsden may have been the bricklayer/developer of Richmond who is known
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to have arrived in Melbourne in 1885 and built "villas, stores and cottages in Armadale and Richmond, and
many more in the City" (see Sutherland A., "Victoria and its Metropolis Past and Present" (1888), v.2,
p-651).

By 1891, the house and land were being leased to Peter Brady, a livery stable keeper. The number and
nature of outbuildings (including two stables buildings along the north and west boundaries) shown on early
MMBWV plans suggest Brady ran his business from the site. Brady, who progressed to the rank of cab
proprietor, continued to lease the house in 1900, however by then, ownership had passed to the Victorian
Permanent Building Society. The house had been extended to ten rooms and the NAV was 50 pounds.
Two lots on the south of the property had by then been sold. The name of the house on the 1905 MMBW
planis 'Ulverston'.

St. Kilda Rate Books: 1887-91, 1889-1900. VPRS 2335, PROV.

Melbourne & Metropolitan Board of Works (MMBW) Detail Plan no. 1465, dated 1905
Parish Plan of Prahran, Borough of St. Kilda. SLV, Map Section, 820 bje

J.E.S. Vardy, Plan of the Borough of St. Kilda, c.1873, South/14.

"Plan of Subdivision of Portions 259, 268 and 269 Parish of Prahran", undated. SLV, Map Section, Vale
Collection, Book 4A, P.172

Ulverston is a substantial late Victorian Italianate asymmetrical stuccoed villa with two storeyed cast iron
lace verandah and faceted window bay to the projecting wing. The hipped slate tiled roof has bracketed
eaves and there are rendered chimneys with cornices and vermiculated cement spandrels over the lower
level arched windows to the bay. The front doorway is arched and has associated stained glass work to the
sidelights and highlights.

Ulverston is in good condition and has a relatively high degree of external intactness.

No information.

This place has been assessed using with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia ICOMOS
Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, applying the Hercon criteria in
accordance with PPN : Applying the heritage overlay.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay with external paint controls.

David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing
heritage citations (Part 2), 2022
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Andrew Ward & Associates, City of Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998
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Place name: Houses Citation No:
Other names: - 35

Address: 290 Inkerman Street & 71 Heritage Precinct: Not applicable

Hotham Street, St Kilda East
Heritage Overlay: HO163

Category: Residential: House
Graded as: Significant
Style: Federation/Edwardian:
Queen Anne Victorian Heritage Register: No

Constructed: 1913
Designer: Albert Lambert
Amendment: C206

Comment: Revised citation

The attached Federation houses designed and constructed by Albert Lambertin 1913 at 290 Inkerman
Street and 71 Hotham Street, St Kilda East are significant.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

The houses at 290 Inkerman Street and 7| Hotham Street, St Kilda East are of local aesthetic significance to
the City of Port Phillip.

They are aesthetically significant as Federation houses in a prominent corner location with typical form and
detailing including the dominant terracotta tiled hip and gable roof with gablets, ridge cresting and finials,
and bracketed eaves, projecting half-timbered gables, paired timber sash windows with leadlight highlights
and porthole windows, verandahs with arched ladder framed friezes with wavy frets and turned timber
posts and tiled floors, and panelled front doors with sidelights and highlights. Of note is how the projecting
verandah gable with a rising sun motif above a box bay window addresses the corner location and creates a
strong diagonal axis, which is a defining feature of the Federation style. (Criterion E)
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6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.3 Suburban bungalows)

Private development in the City of Port Phillip began from the time of the first sales of Crown land in the
1840s and 1850s. The gradual development of infrastructure, including roads, public transport networks
and utilities, paved the way for increasing development of private land. Private subdivision within the broad
framework set out by Hoddle’s survey saw neighbourhoods in the City of Port Phillip grow into populated,
thriving communities (TEH).

During the peak of Melbourne’s building boom in the 1880s, almost all the remaining land in Port Phillip
(except for the Elwood Swamp and the Fishermans Bend area) was subdivided and offered for sale.
Prosperity saw land speculation intensify across the suburbs during that period in areas such as Elwood,
Balaclava, Ripponlea, St Kilda East that were remote from transport and services. When one of Elwood’s
oldest estates, Chiverton, was subdivided in 1885, it created 85 allotments. Despite the eager subdivision of
land and colourful advertising, however, the actual building of homes in these remote subdivisions was slow.
With the onset of the 1890s economic depression, many estates failed and remained undeveloped fora
decade or more (TEH).

There was almost no increase in St Kilda’s population in the decade from 1891 to 1901. However, as
development recovered in the early twentieth century the number of residents in St Kilda almost doubled
between 1901 and 1921 rising from 20,500 to 38,500 as land was highly sought-after by a new generation of
homebuilders seeking smaller detached dwellings, duplexes or flats.

Most of the development that occurred during the Federation/Edwardian period occurred on subdivisions
laid out during the 1880s boom period, as well as in the continuing subdivision of mansion estates in St
Kilda, Elwood, Balaclava and Ripponlea. The exception is the low-lying parts of Elwood, which were
subdivided and development following completion of the Elwood Swamp reclamation projectin 1910
(TEH).

At Crown land sales S.J.T. Von Geyer purchased portion |57B which extended from the north west corner
of Inkerman and Hotham Streets and comprised about 4.5 acres. Albert Lambert, a contractor of Inkerman
Street, purchased the corner block of Hotham and Inkerman Streets c.1910. The land had a frontage of 66
feet to Hotham Streetand a Net Annual Value of |5 pounds.

Lambert subdivided the land to form two blocks, one facing Hotham Street and the other Inkerman Street.
He built a brick house on each block in 1913. The Inkerman Street house became Lambert's residence. It
had seven rooms and a NAV of 60 pounds. At the time, the house had the street number 380. The Hotham
Street house had five rooms and was leased by Lambert to Leslie Watt.

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH) Version 1, July 2020
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St. Kilda Rate Books: 1910-16. VPRS 8816/Pl, PROV.
MMBW litho plan no.47, dated 1935

Parish Plan of Prahran, Borough of St. Kilda. SVL 820 bje.
Sands & McDougall Directories (SM), 1920, 1930

An attached pair of Federation period houses in bi-chrome brick with dominant terracotta tiled hip and
gable roof, gablets, ridge cresting and finials, and bracketed eaves. The chimneys are relatively plain and
have simple square tops with rendered crests. The east elevation features projecting half-timbered gables
above paired timber sash windows with leadlight highlights. There is another pair of these windows in the
south elevation. The verandahs have arched ladder framed friezes with wavy frets and turned timber posts
and tiled floors and the front doors are panelled with sidelights and highlights. Characteristic of the period,
the corner verandah has a projecting gable with a rising sun motif in the gable end above a corner box bay
window creating a strong diagonal axis. The porthole windows are also a characteristic detail.

The houses are in good condition and has a relatively high degree of external intactness. The colour
scheme is sympathetic to the period. The timber picketfences are also sympathetic, but not original.

No information.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay with external paint controls.

David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing
heritage citations (Part 2), 2022

Andrew Ward & Associates, City of Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998
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Place name: Birnam

Other names: Flats
Address: I 5 Mitford Street,
St Kilda
Category: Residential: Flats
Style: Federation/Edwardian:
Arts & Crafts

Constructed: 1918
Designer: W_.A. Tombs
Amendment: C206

Comment: Revised citation

Citation No:
4]

Heritage Precinct: St Kilda Botanical
Gardens & Environs

Heritage Overlay: HO537
Graded as: Significant

Victorian Heritage Register: No

Birnam, the Arts & Crafts style flats designed by W.A. Tombsin 1917 and constructedin 1918 at |5
Mitford Street, St Kilda, is significant. The brick front fence also contributes to the significance of the place.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

Birnam at |5 Mitford Street, St Kilda is of local historic, representative, and aesthetic significance to the

City of Port Phillip.

Birnam is historically significant as an early block of flats in St Kilda, preceding by several years the huge
growth in flat development in this suburb that occurred in the interwar period. The location of the flats on
Mitford Street, which from 1906 was the route of the electric tramway from St Kilda to Brighton,
demonstrates how the development of flats was strongly influenced by the development of public transport

in Melbourne. (Criterion A)
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Birnam is of representative significance as an early block of flats, which demonstrates the development of
flat design in Melbourne. Of note is the planning of the access to the first-floor flats through semi-enclosed
and open stairwells that are carefully integrated into the design, and the provision of external balconies
with direct access to all flats. (Criterion D)

Birnam is aesthetically significant as a picturesque example of an Arts & Crafts style apartment block
exploiting motifs including the repeated use of arch in openings or inverted to form balustrades, and further
re-iterated in the curved shingled balcony. Other distinctive details are the shingled gable end and the
projecting bay window on the south side with a shingled ‘skirt’, the use of rough cast in conjunction with
face brickwork, the tapered rendered chimneys, and the nameplate with the apartment name ‘Birnam’ in
raised cement below incised squares to the rendered balustrade. The significance of the flats is enhanced by
the high degree of intactness, which includes the original brick front fence. (Criterion E)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.5 Higher-density housing)

The early twentieth century saw a marked decline in the viability of large mansions across Melbourne’s
suburbs in general, but it was particularly felt in the more affluent inner southern suburbs such as St Kilda
and Brighton, where land was highly sought-after by a new generation of homebuilders seeking smaller
detached dwellings, duplexes or flats. The trend toward higher density living in St Kilda began with the
conversion of mansions and terrace houses into boarding houses in the early 1900s, and continued with the
first purpose-built flats that appeared at the beginning of World War |. A 1919 newspaper article noted:

It was held to be no longer necessary to labour with a house and all the domestic drudgery that entailed
when by borrowing Continental ideas, people who could afford it could live in flats... Land has become so
valuable the villa of the Victorian days, in a crowded thoroughfare, no longer shows anything like an adequate
return of interest on the land’s present capital value. It is more profitable to pull the house erected thereon
down, and to erect flats. When the flat became popular in England the experiment was made in St Kilda,
and it did not take long to discover there was a genuine demand for flats (Prahran Telegraph, 18 October
1919, p.4)

Higher-density housing in the form of boarding houses paved the way to flat development. Flats first
appeared in Melbourne around 1906 and slowly spread to the suburbs. They followed a strong pattern of
development, appearing close to transportroutes, particularly along or within walking distance of tram
routes, to allow easy travel to the city. With their proximity to the beach and parklands, good public
transport networks and seaside character, the suburbs of St Kilda and Elwood were especially popular
locations for flats. Flats became a dominant characteristic of St Kilda and Elwood, and still make up a high
percentage of dwellings in those areas. They include some of the earliest surviving flats in Melbourne, some
of the best examples of architectural styles and types of flats, and as a group demonstrate the increasing
popularity of the lifestyle of flat living from the early twentieth century (TEH).

There was huge growth in flat developmentin St Kilda and Elwood in the 1920 and 1930s, attracting
migrants, single people, and people of diverse sexuality. In 1920 there were 527 purpose-built flats in 92
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blocks in St Kilda municipality. By 1925 this had increased to 884 flats in 164 blocks, including large
complexes such as the Ardoch flats in Dandenong Road. By 1935, despite a slowing of development due to
the Great Depression, there were more than 2,800 flats in over 500 blocks. A further 2,000 flats were
added by 1940; however, the onset of World War |l slowed development. Nonetheless, by 1947 St Kilda
contained 5,500 purpose-built flats, a quarter of all flats in Melbourne (TEH).

The area surrounding the St Kilda Botanical Gardens, particularly the streets with direct views over the
gardens, became a popular location for flats and some of the first flats in St Kilda were constructed here
toward the end of World War |. These included Clarendon, designed by Joseph Plottel in 1915 at 26-28
Blessington Street, and two blocks by Howard Lawson at 44 (Clairvaux) and 46 Blessington Street,
constructedin 1917.

By the end of the nineteenth century, Mitford Street between Barkly and Dickens streets was partially
developed and contained several villas (MMBW). However, the economic depression of the 1890s halted
development for over a decade and development only recommenced following the opening in 1906 of the
electric tramway from St Kilda Station to Elwood and Brighton Beach via Mitford Street and Broadway.
Development was slow at first but improvements to the route including progressive duplicationfrom 1913
stimulated development and encouraged the building of new houses and flats, many of which replaced the
older houses.

In 1916, Clara and Miriam Polack purchased land on the west side of Mitford Street between Blessington
and Dickens Streets, from the executors of J. Manson. The land had a frontage of 41 feet and a Net Annual
Value of £14. The following year, A. Murie of Barkly Street, St. Kilda, acquired the land and in 1918 engaged
W.A. Tombs to design a two-storey block of four brick flats, which was named Birnam. The builder was
Thomas Donald & Co.

Figure I: Elevation from the original building plans with architect’s signature at right and builder’s signature above

Original building plans show each flat had two bedrooms with a separate sitting room (at the front opening
through double doors to a balcony) and a living room. The flats on the south side had two bedrooms and
those on the north had one, and there was a ‘washhouse’ at the rear within a basement level. The plans
also include a design for the front fence.

The first occupants were Frederick De Valle, (gentleman), Ralph Isaacs, (dentist), Alex Murie, (chemist) and
Edward Wilson, (gentleman).
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In 1919, Llewellyn Robinson of Ascot Vale purchased the property. Robinson lived on the premises. He
continued as owner/occupant in 1935 and the other three flats continued to be let.

Birnam was one of the first block of flats in Mitford Street. The first was the duplex designed by Schreiber
& Jorgenson at 7| Mitford Street, while ].J. Meagher designed another duplex just off Mitford at |3 Southey
Street in 1918. The building of flats gathered pace during the interwar period and by 1940 more than 30
blocks had been erected in Mitford Street, with a further eight in Southey Street (BP).

Little is known about the architect W.A. Tombs, who was active during the Edwardian and interwar
periods and appears to have been based in Geelong, where he was the honorary architect to the Geelong
Progress Association. In the early 1910s he was practicing in partnership as Tombs & Durran. This is one of
three flat developments in St Kilda designed by Tombs. The others are:

e The Randflats at 29 Marine Parade (corner of Blessington Street), designed in 1917 (see Citation
2052).

e The conversion of the double storey residence and stables to flats at 14-20 Victoria Streetin 1918
(Citation 949).

O’Hanlon, Seamus, ‘Home together, Home apart: Boarding house, hostel and flat life in Melbourne c.1900-
1940’, PhD Thesis, History Department, Monash University

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH) Version 1, July 2020

St Kilda Council building permits (BP) nos. 3534, 4 March 1918

St. Kilda Rate Books: 1915-21, 1925-26, 1935-36. VPRS 8816/P1, PROV
Sands & McDougall Directories (SM) 1920, 1925, 1930

Sawyer, Terry, (1982) ‘Residential flats in Melbourne: the development of a building type to 1950’, Honours
thesis, Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning, The University of Melbourne

Birnam is a picturesque two storeyed apartment block in the Arts & Crafts style, comprised of four flats,
two on each level. Asymmetrical in plan, the hipped tile roof has a projecting gable with deep bracketed
eaves, and there is a flat roof with exposed rafter tails over the adjoining balcony. Access to the upper flats
is via open staircases on the north and south sides, which are entered by semi-enclosed openings to either
side of the ground floor balconies, and lead to first floor landings above the ground floor porch entries to
the ground floor flats, which have arched openings. The timber entry doors have windows, and a sidelight
and toplights, and each flat has access to a balcony via paired multi-pane doors with multi-pane toplights.
Windows are timber sash with the top sash divided into three panes in singles or pairs and arched or
square heads.

The building uses Arts & Crafts motifs and materials including the arch, inverted to in the detail of ground
floor balustrades, and further re-iterated in the curved shingled balcony. Other characteristic details are the
shingled gable end, the use of rough cast in conjunction with face brickwork, the tapered rendered
chimneys, and the nameplate with the apartment name ‘Birnam’ in raised cement below incised squares to
the rendered balustrade. The projecting bay window with a shingled ‘skirt’ at the first floor on the south
side is another distinctive feature.

The building is in good condition and has a relatively high degree of external intactness. One of the upper
level balconies has been glazed in. The brick front fence with twin gate openings appears to be same as the
fence shown in the original building plans, although the gates have been replaced.
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The Canterbury, built in two stagesin 1914 and 1919, at 236 Canterbury Road, St Kilda is generally
acknowledged to be the first purpose-built residential flats in Port Phillip, and one of the earliest in
Melbourne. While the Majestic Mansions in Fitzroy Street was completed two years earlier, not all of the
residences in that building were fully self-contained. Stylistically, early flats in Port Phillip broadly fit into one
of two types: Arts & Crafts, and Freestyle.

The Arts & Crafts style is characterized by features including the use of contrasting textures and materials
on facades (such as facebrick, roughcast render, timber shingles and brackets to gables); entrance porches
beneath the main roof supported on heavy battered piers or paired timber posts or columns resting on low
piers; simple, geometric decoration created by projecting bricks or small voids (for example, hit and miss
brick walls); box windows (with timber frames that project from the wall, resting on timber or brick
corbels) and semi-circular windows and openings.

Birnam is a picturesque example of an Arts & Crafts style apartment block exploiting motifs characteristic
of the period including the repeated use of arch in one balcony opening, inverted to form balustrades, and
further re-iterated in the curved shingled balcony. The shingled gable end with a louvred vent is also
characteristic as is the use of rough cast in conjunction with face brickwork, the tapered chimneys and the
nameplate with the apartment name ‘Birnam’ in raised cement below incised squares to the balcony
balustrade.

The design and planning of Birnam also demonstrates early approaches to flat design in Melbourne,
particularly in the planning of the access to the flats through integrated stairwells and the provision of
private balconies to all flats. In relation to access, many early flat developments were created as the
conversion of an existing house or houses, and the easiest way to provide access to first floor flats was to
build an external stair. This design feature was used on some early flats as it had the advantage of being
entirely independent of the internal plan of the flat, but it also had the considerable disadvantage of offering
no protection from the weather. Consequently, external staircases became associated with poor quality
flats and so the approach taken with some early flats was to make the stairwell an integrated part of the
design and as inconspicuous as possible (Sawyer 1982:55). This is demonstrated at Birnam, where the
staircases have been carefully considered and, while open, are entered by semi-enclosed stairwells that are
integrated into the front elevation. The careful integration of stairwells can also be seen at other early flats
that are either fully enclosed such as The Canterbury (1914, Citation 74) and the Wimmera (1917, Citation
914), or open (Clairvaux 1917, Citation 425). At Clarendon (1915, Citation 295) the fully enclosed
staircase is used in conjunction with open access galleries.

The approach to the stairwells at Birnam by Tombs may have been informed by his experience with The
Rand, a block of flats he designed in early 1917 at the corner of Marine Parade and Blessington Street, St
Kilda. These were designed with a marble staircase on the outside, which was described as ‘the first case of
the kind under the building regulations’ by the city surveyor. The staircase was criticised by one Councillor
as ‘an attempt to diminish the open space by putting outside the building a staircase which should be inside’.
After some debate it appears the staircase was eventually permitted (The Prahran Telegraph, 17 March 1917,
p.5 ‘House of Tombs’).

The provision of private balconies to all flats at Birnam is also a notable feature. According to Sawyer
(1992:13-4) the shortage of houses and the desire for smaller, more manageable homes had been a factor
in the development of flats, but a common criticism of early flat developments was the poor relationship of
the building to its external space, a lack of privacy and the unsuitability of flats for families. In many early flat
developments, the site coverage was very high, and the open space left over was not integrated with the
building and of little practical use. In 1922 architect James H. Wardrop, a proponent of flat development
argued that aggregation of open spaces in flat developments would provide ‘... a decent breathing space’
when compared with the ‘mean yard space’ available to the conventional small cottage (Sawyer 1982:83).

Despite this, very few early flat developments provided dedicated open space for each unit. While there
were exceptions (for example, the Wimmera flats each have a dedicated balcony), most early blocks did

Page5



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: 41

not, and it was not until the post-war period that flats were more commonly provided with their own
balconies or private open space.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay with external paint controls.

David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing
heritage citations (Part 2), 2022
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Place name:
Other names:

Address:

Category:

Style:

Constructed:

Designer:

Amendment:

Comment:

House

311 Orrong Road, St Kilda
East

Residential: House

Interwar: American Bungalow
1920

Lewis Levy

C206

Revised citation

Citation No:
46

Heritage Precinct: None
Heritage Overlay: HO223
Graded as: Significant

Victorian Heritage Register: No

The house designed by Lewis Levy in 1920 at 31| Orrong Road, St Kilda East is significant. The front fence
also contributes to the significance of the place.

Alterations and additions to the house are not significant.

The house at 31| Orrong Road, St Kilda East is of local aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.

It is significant as a fine and well-detailed example of an Arts and Crafts influenced Californian Bungalow
with roughcast walls and a terracotta tiled roof with a vented gablet. It is distinguished by its tapered river
stone pillars, angled chimney at the main gable apex flanked by slotted gable end vents, flat roofed porch
extended across the face of the gable end, a fretted valance and double hung windows with glazing bars in
the upper sashes strongly suggestive of Japanese influence. The significance of the place is enhanced by the
high degree of integrity, and it is complemented by an original rendered front fence with capped piers and
scalloped balustrades. (Criterion E)



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: 46

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.3 Suburban bungalows)

Private development in the City of Port Phillip began from the time of the first sales of Crown land in the
1840s and 1850s. The gradual development of infrastructure, including roads, public transport networks
and utilities, paved the way for increasing development of private land. Private subdivision within the broad
framework set out by Hoddle’s survey saw neighbourhoods in the City of Port Phillip grow into populated,
thriving communities.

Mansion estates — large detached homes on generous allotments — defined early, permanent housing in
Elwood and St Kilda, in the mid-nineteenth century. Although the oldest surviving houses in Elwood — such
as Vautier House, built in the mid-1850s — are terrace houses, it was mansions on large allotments that
came to characterise the neighbourhood in its early years. The estates were in four distinct clusters: St
Kilda Hill; the semi-rural estates occupying the high ground on the south side of Dandenong Road from the
Nepean Road (now St Kilda Road) to Orrong Road; those surrounding the St Kilda Botanical Gardens and
along Brighton Road; and the remote ‘sea-side’ estates along Ormond Esplanade. Kearney’s 1855 map of
the area shows the contrast between dense residential development in St Kilda, and the large mansion
estates to the east of the Nepean Road including Charnwood and Marlton, south of Carlisle Street (then
known as Beach Road), and on both sides of Brighton Road, including Erindale and Chiverton, and
Bramshaw, Osborne House and Wiltonia further south.

As demand for housing grew, mansion estate subdivisions commenced as early as the 1870s when part of
the Charnwood Estate in St Kilda was subdivided to create Charnwood Crescentand Charnwood Grove,
where detached villas were erected. The original mansion often survived the first two rounds of
subdivision, only to be demolished by the interwar or post-war periods. Those that were retained on much
smaller blocks of land were rarely used as single dwellings. Instead, many were converted into boarding
houses or flats and this often ensured their survival. Examples include Eildon and Marlton in St Kilda and
Rotherfield, Tiuna and Thalassa in Elwood. Others that were demolished are remembered in street names
such as Charnwood Avenue, Cintra Avenue, and St Leonards Avenue.

Significant population growth after World War | created a demand for housing, leading to the subdivision
(or re-subdivision) of the remaining pockets of vacant or underdeveloped land in the City of Port Phillip.
This included vacant land previously thought to be unsuitable for housing, such as in Fishermans Bend, as
well as the re-development of the remaining mansion estates. Apart from the mansion estate subdivisions,
there were two major interwar subdivisions at either end of the City of Port Phillip: The Garden City
estates in Port Melbourne and the Brunnings Estate subdivision in Ripponlea.

In the late nineteenth century, the land on the west side of Orrong Road between Alma Road and
Inkerman Street was occupied by three large mansion estates: Fernacres (Fern Acres) in the north, Great
Hill (which faced Pine Hill Grove, now the southern section of Lansdowne Road) and Keroongola, which
occupied a ten-acre site at the northwest corner of Inkerman Street (MMBW). Fernacres was a five-acre
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property between Lansdowne and Orrong roads, which was owned by Judge, Sir Edward Holroyd. It
contained a brick mansion of 16 rooms designed by prominent architect Lloyd Tayler set in landscaped
grounds.

In the early twentieth century, all three estates were progressively subdivided to create the street network
that exists today as well as new allotments facing to the main roads. Suburban development of the area
commenced during the 1920s and continued into the post-war period.

This property was created by the c.1915-18 subdivision of Fernacres resulting in the formation of Holroyd
and Dean Avenues and the creation of building lots between these two avenues on the west side of Orrong
Road. Lot 44, with a frontage of 51 feet, was purchased by |.C. Machin in 1917. Machin sold the land to
Lewis Levy in 1918. Levy in turn sold it to Mrs. Lilian Rubensin 1919. At the time, the land was vacant and
had a Net Annual Value of I5 pounds. It was, however, Levy who obtained the building permit for the six-
roomed brick house that was built for Mrs Rubens in 1920. Levy, who was an architect and builder, likely
designed and constructed the house (BP, RB).

Mrs. Ruben initially leased to Douglas Reid, a gentleman. However, by 1926, Oswald Benjamin, a public
accountant, had acquired the property for his residence. It was described as brick, six rooms, NAV 90
pounds, population 4. The street number at the time was 60 (RB).

By 1936, the property had again changed hands. Mrs. Mary Aujard was the owner and Reginald Aujard, an
accountant, was listed as the occupant. By that time, the street number was 311 and the house was
described as having seven rooms and a NAV of 100 pounds (RB).

Apperly, R, Irving, P & Reynolds, P., A pictorial guide to identifying Australian architecture. Styles and terms
from[788 to the present, 1994

Melbourne & Metropolitan Board of Works (MMBW Plan No. 1418, dated 1901

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH) Version 1, July 2020

St Kilda Council building permits (BP) nos. 3926, 6 August 1919; 4113, 25 March 1920

St. Kilda Rate Books (RB) 1915-21, 1925-26, 1935-36. VPRS 8816/PI, PROV.

Sands & McDougall Directory (SM) 1925, 1930

This is a picturesque Arts and Crafts influenced Californian Bungalow with a low pitch transverse
terracotta-tile gable roof and a projecting gable. It is distinguished by its tapered river stone pillars, angled
chimney at the main gable apex, flat roofed porch extended across the face of the gable end, fretted timber
valance and double hung windows with glazing bars in the upper sashes strongly suggestive of Japanese
influence. The vented gablet, rough cast walls and slotted gable end vents are contributory stylistic
elements. The house is complemented by an original rendered front fence with capped piers and scalloped
balustrades.

The house has a high degree of external integrity. The iron balustrade and gates to the front fence are later
additions.

This is fine and well-detailed Californian Bungalow demonstrating both Arts and Crafts and Japanese
influence in a distinctive way. It is very similar to the house at 217 Alma Road, St. Kilda East, which was
constructed in 1918-19 (see PPHR citation 22).
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This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay with external paint controls.

David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing
heritage citations (Part 2), 2022

Andrew Ward & Associates, City of Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998
Robert Peck von Hartel Trethowan, St Kilda 20th century architectural study, Volume 3, 1992
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Place name: Acland Court Citation No:

Other names: Shops and flats 114
Address: 91-93 Acland Street, St Kilda Heritage Precinct: Village Belle
Commercial
Category: Commercial: Shop
Heritage Overlay: HO538
Style: Interwar: Spanish Mission

Graded as: Significant
Constructed: 1935

Victorian Heritage Register: No
Designer: Leslie J.W. Reed

Amendment: C206

Comment: New citation

Acland Court, designed by Leslie ].W. Reed and constructed in 1935, at 91-93 Acland Street, St Kilda is
significant. The Spanish Mission-style facade and original shopfront to no.91 and residential entry contribute
to the significance of the place.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

Acland Court at 91-93 Acland Street, St Kilda is of local aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.

Acland Court is of aesthetic significance as an example of a commercial building with Spanish Mission-style
features and details including the deep projecting balcony with twisted columns, corbelled openings and
balustrades with recessed brick panels, the ‘ox-bow’ pediment, and the paired narrow arched head multi-
pane windows with a twisted colonette. The original shopfront to no.91 including the residential entry with
brass framed windows with a curved corner, recessed tiled stallboards, terrazzo floors to the ingos,
pressed metal soffits, the glazed residential entry door with fanlight, and the finely detailed multi-coloured
leadlight toplight is a fine example of its type. (Criterion E)

The leadlight glazed hood above the residential entry emblazoned with the building name is a rare and
distinctive feature with the only known comparison being the glazed hood at the former Brinsmead
Pharmacy in Ripponlea. (Criteria B & E)



City of Port Phillip Heritage Review Citation No: |14

5. Building Victoria’s industries and workforce: 5.6 Entertaining and socialising

6. Commerce, trade, and work: 6.2 Markets, shops, and retail

The Village Belle commercial centre developed around, and took its name from, the Village Belle Hotel,
which was established in Barkly Street opposite the Acland Streetintersectionin c.1855. In the nineteenth
century Acland Street was a residential area and contained mansions in large grounds and substantial villas
and terraced houses. Beginning in the first decade of the twentieth century shops began to replace the
nineteenth century residential buildings. For example, following the sale of Taroona, which occupied the
largest property on the north side, permits were issued for two rows of six shops each in 1918 and 1919.

Development at the south end of Acland Street near Barkly Street in the 1910s and in the 1920s spread to
the north end near Carlisle Street. A major catalyst for change was the redevelopment of the former cable
tram car sheds on the south side in 1926, which were replaced with 10 two-storey shops at nos. 95-105
and 107-115. The growing importance of the centre was marked in the following year with the formation of
the Village Belle Traders Association, which held its first ‘shopping week’ to promote the area. Further
development followed in the 1930s and many of the new buildings were architect-designed. This included
the new Coles Store, designed in 1938 by Harry A. Norris and built as part of a major redevelopment of a
former roller skating rink and theatre at the north corner of Barkly Street. By the end of the 1930s the
retail transformation of Acland Street was almost complete.

The development of the centre was associated with population growth in the surrounding areas due to the
boom in flat building in the 1920s and 1930s.

Acland Court was designed in 1935 by architect Leslie ].WW. Reed for the owner S. Pringinale. ].W. Ingram
was the builder, and the elaborate shopfronts were manufactured by Duff shopfitters (BP).

In 1940 the tenants of the shops were the ‘Misses Rodda, ladies drapers’ (91) and ‘Madame Colette, ladies’
hairdresser’ (93) (SM)

Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH) Version 1, July 2020
St. Kilda Council building permit (BP): 8833, 19 March 1935
Sands & McDougall Melbourne Directory (SM) 1940

Acland Court is a two-storey interwar commercial building that shows the influence of the Spanish Mission
style comprising two ground floor shops with flats above. The walls are rendered with tapestry bricks used
as details and the roof is concealed by the parapet. Notable details include:
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e The parapet, which features an ‘ox-bow’ rendered pediment with three vertical brick lines flanked by
recessed brick panels.

e The deep projecting balcony beneath the parapet, which has a tiled hip roof, twisted columns, and a
rendered balustrade with recessed brick panels. The wall openings to the balconies have corbelling.

e The paired narrow arched head multi-pane windows with a twisted colonette.

e The original shopfront to no.91 with brass framed windows (with a curved corner to the residential
entry), recessed tiled stallboards, an ingo with a terrazzo floor, and a finely detailed multi-coloured
leadlight toplight. To the left of the shopfrontis the residential entrance which features a glazed
leadlight hood emblazoned with ‘Acland Court’. It has a pressed metal soffit, a timber door with three
tall glass panes below a compressed fanlight and a terrazzo floor. The original shopfront to the right has
a curved corner.

The building is in good condition and has relatively good integrity. The main external change to the fagade
has been the replacement of the shopfront to no.93.

Most of the interwar buildings in the Spanish Mission style in Port Phillip are residential either houses or
flats. This is one of just three commercial examples, the others being the Grosvenor Hotel (Citation 301)
and Strathmore, 89 Acland Street, St Kilda, which is a similar development of shops with flats above.
Strathmore was designed and built in 1931 by designer/builder J.H. Johnson and is one of several Spanish
Mission style buildings he built in St Kilda and Elwood during the interwar period.

Like Acland Court, Strathmore retains original shopfronts with leadlight glazing and a projecting first floor
balcony with a hipped tile roof and Spanish Mission details such as arched openings with twisted columns.
However, the windows at Strathmore are more conventional boxed timber sash rather than the distinctive
arched head windows with twisted colonettes at Acland Court.

The leadlight glazed hood above the residential entry is a rare and distinctive feature with the only known
comparison being the hood at the former Brinsmead Pharmacy, 71-73 Glen Eira Road, Ripponlea, which is
included on the Victorian Heritage Register (H725).

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

2022: Retain as a Significant place with external paint controls within the Village Belle Commercial heritage
precinct.

1998: Include in the schedule to the Heritage Overlay Table in the Port Phillip Planning Scheme.

David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing

heritage citations (Part 2), 2022

Andrew Ward & Associates, City of Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998
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Original shopfront and residential entry
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Place name: Duplex Citation No:

Other names: Attached houses 192

Address: 245 & 245A Barkly Street, St Heritage Precinct: St Kilda Botanical
Kilda Gardens & Environs

Category: Residential: Duplex Heritage Overlay: HO537

Style: Federation/Edwardian: Graded as: Significant
Arts & Crafts

Victorian Heritage Register: No
Constructed: 1914

Designer: Richardson & Wood
Amendment: C206

Comment: Revised citation

The Arts & Crafts style duplex at 245 & 245A Barkly Street, St Kilda designed by Richardson & Wood and
built by H. Bellionin 1914 for Mrs Amies is significant.

The front fence is sympathetic, but not original.

Alterations and additions are not significant.

The duplex at 245 & 245A Barkly Street, St Kilda is of local aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.
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The duplex is significant as a representative example of a two-storey semi-detached duplex that sits at the
cusp of the transition toward duplex flats and demonstrates the contribution of Richardson & Wood to the
development of multi-dwelling building types in the early twentieth century. Internally, the efficient layout
neatly resolves many of the problems inherentin an essentially 19th century narrow allotment size and
building form and is one of several buildings by the architects that demonstrate their exploration of
different approaches to multi-dwelling developments including the ‘bungalow court’ flats at 96 Grey Street
of 1920, and the more conventional Belmontflats (1923). (Criterion D)

The duplex is a fine and exemplary example of the Arts and Crafts style with characteristic natural
materials that have been used with striking simplicity and boldness, to produce one of St Kilda’s most
distinctive pieces of architecture. Of especial note is the fagade, which has a prominent gable-front roof
dominated by a central, massive, plain red brick chimney. The significance of the building today is enhanced
by its high degree of integrity, including the original unpainted render and other original materials (face red
brick, weatherboards, and terracotta roof tile) and details including the verandah, windows and bracketed
hoods, arched porches and entry doors. The colour scheme is sympathetic and the front fence, while not
original, in its materiality and detail complements the setting of the houses. (Criterion E)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.2 Shaping the suburbs (5.2.2 Private development), 5.3 Diverse
Housing (5.3.3 Suburban bungalows)

Private development in the City of Port Phillip began from the time of the first sales of Crown land in the
1840s and 1850s. The gradual development of infrastructure, including roads, public transport networks
and utilities, paved the way for increasing development of private land. Private subdivision within the broad
framework set out by Hoddle’s survey saw neighbourhoods in the City of Port Phillip grow into populated,
thriving communities.

During the peak of Melbourne’s building boom in the 1880s, almost all the remaining land in Port Phillip
(with the exception of the Elwood Swamp and the Fishermans Bend area) was subdivided and offered for
sale. Prosperity saw land speculation intensify across the suburbs during that period in areas such as
Elwood, Balaclava, Ripponlea, St Kilda East that were remote from transportand services. When one of
Elwood’s oldest estates, Chiverton, was subdivided in 1885, it created 85 allotments. Despite the eager
subdivision of land and colourful advertising, however, the actual building of homes in these remote
subdivisions was slow. With the onset of the |890s economic depression, many estates failed and remained
undeveloped for a decade or more. Maps of Elwood in the late 1890s, for example, show that residential
development was still sparse, and the beachside estates had failed spectacularly, with only a few houses on
the Elwood Esplanade and Elwood Hill estates. Hood Street and Bluff Avenue remained entirely
undeveloped at the turn of the century.

There was almost no increase in St Kilda’s population in the decade from 1891 to 1901. However, as
development recovered in the early twentieth century the number of residents in St Kilda almost doubled
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between 1901 and 1921 rising from 20,500 to 38,500 as land was highly sought-after by a new generation of
homebuilders seeking smaller detached dwellings, duplexes or flats.

Most of the development during the Federation/Edwardian period was on subdivisions laid out during the
1880s boom period, as well as in the continuing subdivision of mansion estates in St Kilda, Elwood,
Balaclava, and Ripponlea. The exception is the low-lying parts of Elwood, which were subdivided and
development following completion of the Elwood Swamp reclamation project in 1910.

The west side of Barkly Street immediately to the south of Blessington Street remained vacant until the
early twentieth century (MMBW). In late 1900 the land was subdivided into 64 building allotments and
offered for sale as the Baker Estate. It was promoted as being within ‘4 minutes walk of the St Kilda Trams’
(SLV) and soon would have access to the tramway from St Kilda Station to Brighton Beach, which opened
in 1905 and ran along Barkly and Mitford streets. The area was swiftly developed and almost no vacant lots
remained by 1915 (SM).

Lot 6 in the Baker Estate was sold to a Mrs. Cora Amies and in 1914 she engaged Richardson & Wood,
architects to design a pair of attached houses, which were constructed by H. Bellion. Mrs. Amies lived in
the adjoining house to the south at no.247 (BP, SM).

Original building plans show that each dwelling consisted of three main rooms on the ground floor: the
sitting room, dining room and kitchen; and two bedrooms on the first floor. Between the sitting and dining
rooms, leading off from the skewed side entry porch, is a small entry hall with an open well staircase.
Upstairs the landing opens onto the bedrooms on either side and a small bathroom neatly perched above
the porch, with its skewed window visible from the street. At the front a ground floor verandah was
accessed through the sitting room's bay window. At the rear a woodshed, W.C. and laundry block attached
to the back of the kitchen (BP).

The partnership of Richardson & Wood was formed in 1912. Frank G. Richardson had been in practice
since 1894 and in 1911 he was involved with several large projects with the larger firm of Twentyman &
Askew, which included shops and a picture theatre in High Street, Northcote. Herbert Wood, who was
born and raised in London, arrived in Melbourne in 1887 and entered into practice with George McMullen.
He later became manager of the architectural department of Rocke and Company, but when this firm was
absorbed into the Wunderlich Group he left to commence practice with Richardson. Richardson and
Wood appear to have had a practice of a general rather than specialised nature, although they were
involved in the design of about twenty picture theatres and three town halls. They also undertook many
residential commissions. The partnership ended in 1929 with Wood’s death. Richardson continued in
practice alone, but little is known of his work in the following years. One of his last known commissions
was in 1937 for a funeral parlour in St Kilda Road, South Melbourne (Lewis & Aitken 1992: 78-9).

In Port Phillip, Richardson & Wood designed several houses and flats in St Kilda and Elwood in the 1910s
and 1920s, as well as the Parish Hall for Christ Church in Acland Street, St Kilda. One of their first known
commissions was this pair of houses at 245 & 245A Barkly Street, St Kilda builtin 1914.1n 1919 a permit
was issued for three brick shops in Barkly Street, but this does not appear to have been built. Next was a
‘bungalow court’ development of four flats at 96 Grey Street built in 1920, which was followed in 1923 by
the Belmont flats at 86 Alma Road, and finally in 1927 by a mixed-use development comprising two shops
and residences with two flats above at 93 & 95 Chapel Street.

Apperly, Richard, Robert Irving & Peter Reynolds, A pictorial guide to identifying Australian architecture. Styles
and terms from 1788 to the present, 1989

Melbourne & Metropolitan Board of Works (MMBW) Detail Plan no. 1380, dated 1897
Nigel Lewis Richard Aitken P/L, City of Malvern Heritage Study Appendix |: Architects of Malvern, June 1992
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Port Phillip Thematic Environmental History (TEH) Version 1, July 2020

St Kilda Council building permit (BP) no. 2235, 28 March 1914

Sands & McDougall Directories (SM), 1915, 1920

State Library of Victoria (SLV), ‘The Baker Estate (Blessington, Barkly, Dickens and Baker Streets), 1900’

This is a gable-fronted two storey duplex pair in the Arts & Crafts style, which is symmetrical in plan.
Typical of the style, the fagade is dominated by a central, massive, plain red brick chimney, which has
terracotta pots, while the ground floor is entirely of face red brick, the first floor is unpainted roughcast,
and the gable is weatherboard above the eaves line. Entry is at the side via a porch with an arched opening
set into the angled side wall. The timber front door has a multi-pane window, and the first-floor windows
are paired multi-pane casements with bracketed hoods to those in the front elevation. At the front ground
floor there is a three-sided bay window with multi-pane casements and a door, which provides access to
the front verandah, which has simple timber posts and brackets and cream and red tiles in a diamond
pattern. The main and verandah roofs are tiled in terra cotta. The colour scheme is sympathetic.

The building is in good condition and has a very high degree of external integrity.

In 1992 the front fence and gates were described as ‘may also be original’. These have been replaced by
present fence and gates in a closely matching style. It is a simple closed top timber picket fence with simple
ladder frame. The simple main posts have pyramidal tops.

The Federation Arts & Crafts style in Australia drew on precedents established by nineteenth century Arts
& Crafts movement in England (and in the United States) as demonstrated through the work of important
architects such as C.F.A. Voysey. Buildings make free use of traditional (usually English) vernacular motifs to
achieve an ‘unassuming, homely, well-established character’ (Apperly et al, 1989:140). The style is
characterized by ‘earthy’ natural colours, textures and materials such as face brick, roughcast render,
timber shingles and stonework. The roof is a dominant element, usually steeply pitched with prominent and
often bracketed eaves. Tall tapering chimneys battered wall buttresses and bay windows are also
characteristic elements of the style.

There are many examples of Arts & Crafts style flats in St Kilda, several of which were designed by the
prominent designer/builder Howard R. Lawson such as Wimmera (1917) and Clairvaux (1917). Biltmore
(1922-23), which is included on the Victorian Heritage Register, is another fine Arts & Crafts design with
Oriental influences.

The buildings in Port Phillip by Richardson & Wood are all in the Arts & Crafts style. Belmont
demonstrates Richardson & Wood’s skill with the style: included on the Victorian Heritage Register, the
citation describes the flats as ‘an extraordinary and essentially intact interpretation of the English Arts &
Crafts tradition’ that are ‘contemporary with the American exploration of this tradition and shows the
influence of the developing California Bungalow style’. The Christ Church Parish Hall is also a fine and intact
Arts & Crafts style hall.

This duplex is another example of the skill of Richardson & Wood in the use of the Arts & Crafts style
where characteristic Arts & Crafts elements have been used with striking simplicity and boldness, to
produce one of St Kilda’s most distinctive pieces of architecture. The significance of the building today is
enhanced by its high degree of integrity, including the original unpainted render.
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Following the economic depression of the 1890s, there was concern that inner Melbourne was becoming
overcrowded. Terrace houses fell out of favour, as they were perceived as being cold and dark with limited
garden space, and detached bungalows became the most common form of housing from the
Federation/Edwardian period onward. Until the emergence of flats semi-detached dwellings or ‘duplexes’
emerged as a popular option to maximise the development potential of land. Most examples were single
storey with the houses side by side, but the type gradually evolved to two storey examples, eventually to
one dwelling above the other, which were among the earliest purpose-built flat types. The earliest known
example of this type is at 20 Gurner Street, St Kilda, designed in 1913 by |.J. Meagher. Other early
examples include Clairvaux at 44 Blessington Street, St Kilda by Howard Lawson (1917) and |3 Southey
Street, Elwood (1917) also designed by Meagher.

This duplex is significant as representative example of a two-storey semi-detached duplex that sits at the
cusp of the transition toward duplex flats and demonstrates the contribution of Richardson & Wood to the
development of multi-dwelling building types in the early twentieth century. Internally, the efficient layout
neatly resolves many of the problems inherentin an essentially 19th century narrow allotment size and
building form and is one of several buildings by the architects that demonstrate their exploration of
different approaches to multi-dwelling developments including the ‘bungalow court’ flats at 96 Grey Street
of 1920, and the more conventional Belmontflats (1923).

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

Retain in the Heritage Overlay with external paint controls.

David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing
heritage citations (Part 2), 2022

Andrew Ward & Associates, City of Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998
Robert Peck von Hartel Trethowan, St Kilda 20th century architectural study, Volume 3, 1992
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Place name:

Other names:

Address:

Category:

Style:

Constructed:

Designer:

Amendment:

Comment:

Hofwyl School & Carmel Court

Queen’s College, Queen’s Court Flats

188 Barkly Street, St Kilda

Education: School
Residential: Flats
Commercial & retail: Shops

Victorian: Picturesque Gothic
Interwar: Moderne

1865-66, c.1885, 1941

Crouch & Wilson (1865-66),
G.). & B. Sutherland (1941)

C206

Revised citation

Citation No:
293

Heritage Precinct: Village Belle
Commercial

Heritage Overlay: HO538
Graded as: Significant

Victorian Heritage Register: No

The former Hofwyl School, later Queen’s College, designed by Crouch & Wilson in 1865 with later
nineteenth century additions, and Carmel Court, designed by G.J. & B. Sutherland in 1941, at 188 Barkly
Street, St Kilda are significant.

Alterations and additions made after 1945 are not significant.

The former Hofwyl School and Carmel Courtat 188 Barkly Street, St Kilda are of local historic,

representative, and aesthetic significance to the City of Port Phillip.

The former Hofwyl School is of historic significance as the oldest purpose-built private school in Port
Phillip. It is associated with the establishment of educational facilities to serve the wealthy families that
moved to St Kilda in the 1860s and 1870s and established its reputation as one of the most elite and
desirable residential areas in Melbourne. (Criterion A). The significance of the former Hofwyl School is
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enhanced by its rarity. Many private schools were established in private houses or buildings associated with
churches and this is one of only two surviving purpose-built examples in Port Phillip. (Criterion B)

The former Hofwyl School is significant as a substantial bluestone school in the Tudor/Gothic style and
reflects a desire to invoke the prestige of traditional English colleges following the precedent established by
other early private or church schools such as Melbourne Grammar. It is also notable for the early use of
cream bricks as dressings. (Criterion D)

The former Hofwyl School is of aesthetic significance as a bluestone building in the Picturesque Gothic style
with characteristic details such as ornate bargeboards with finials to the side gablets, lancets/pointed head
window and openings, and highly modelled chimneys. (Criterion E)

Carmel Court is of representative significance as a mixed-use development comprising shops at ground
floor with flats above, a building type that became increasingly popular in St Kilda during the interwar
period. It is notable for the high degree of integrity, which includes all the original shopfronts and pressed
metal soffits to the street awning, The shopfronts have aesthetic significance for unusual details such as the
angled corner window frames and the coloured tiles, which create bold and distinctive patterning. (Criteria
D &E)

The former Hofwyl School is historically significant for its associations with the historian, archivist, author
and teacher James Bonwick. (Criterion H)

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state: 6.3 Shaping the suburbs, 6.7 Making homes for Victorians
8. Building community life: 8.2 Educating people

5. Buildings and cultural landscapes: 5.1 Early dwellings, 5.3 Diverse housing
8. Community life: 8.2 Educating

The development of schools in the City of Port Phillip following European arrival was closely interwoven
with the development of churches. In the early years of European settlement, children were educated
either through private tuition in the form of governesses hired by families that could afford it, or at schools
established by private individuals or religious institutions.

By 1842, the first regulations for schools were issued by the Colonial Secretary’s Office in Sydney, stating
that schools could receive government aid in the form of one penny per child, per day. The number of
schools increased in the Port Phillip District under this scheme, and by 1848 two separate school boards
were established to assist with the inspection of schools: a General Education Board in charge of national
schools, and a Denominational School Board to oversee the church schools.696

The increased population in the City of Port Phillip following the discovery of gold led to an increase in the
number of schools. Christ Church St Kilda in Acland Street had just started running a school when gold
was first discovered in Victoria, and it was suddenly without a teacher. A notice appeared on the door:
‘This school is closed in consequence of the master having gone to the diggings’.

Church schools proliferated in early South Melbourne. By 1859, there was a Wesleyan, Presbyterian and
United Presbyterian school on Emerald Hill, as well as a national school. Members of the Sandridge
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Wesleyan community were the first religious organisation in Port Melbourne to raise the funds necessary
to build a school, with support from the government. It was erected on the corner of Graham and Nott
Street in 1854. An advertisement for the new ‘commodious school-room’ stated that students would be
instructed in reading, writing, arithmetic, geography, English grammar, history and singing.

St Kilda’s desirability as a residential area meant that it developed a particularly large number of private
schools. By 1857 private schools in operation in St Kilda included three in Barkly Street, one in Robe Street
and another in High Street. Noted teacher and writer James Bonwick established the Hofwyl School, a non-

denominational boys’ school later renamed Queen’s College, in a large bluestone building on Barkly Street
in 1866.

By 1891 St Kilda and Hawthorn contained nearly thirty private schools between them, the highest
proportion per head of population in Melbourne (Peel 1999:47). Most, however, were relatively short-lived
and some were closed during the economic depression of the 1890s when enrolments in private schools
fell dramatically. Further closures followed the introduction of the Education Act in 1910, which saw the
opening of new State secondary schools and imposed new costly regulations upon private schools, leading
to the number of independent schools falling from 945 in 1898 to almost half that number in 1912 (Peel
1999:60).

James Bonwick (who had been Denominational Schools Board Inspector for Victoria from 1856-59) opened
his Boys’ School at St Kilda in 1863. Known as Carlton House, it was situated at the corner of Acland and
Robe streets (The Argus, 26 November 1919, p.8). The school had an enrolment of over |50 boys and was
very prosperous, which resulted in the need for larger premises. Mr Bonwick acquired a two-acre site on
the east side of Barkly Street, where he erected a six-room brick residence in 1865 (RB).

In December 1865 Mr. Bonwick announced that he was leaving Carlton House and was opening the
‘Hofwyl School with a limited number of boarders and day pupils at his newly erected premises in Barkly-
street south, St Kilda’ on Wednesday |7 January 1866. (The Argus, 22 December 1865, p.3)

The school was named after the teaching system, which was founded on that of Pestalozzi’, as developed at
Hofwyl in Switzerland ‘regarding the moral training and practical application of youth’. Bonwick had
previously established a school of the same name in Hobart (Gippsland Guardian, 11 June 1868, p.4).

In August 1865, architects Crouch & Wilson invited tenders for a ‘residence’ in Barkly Street, St Kilda for
James Bonwick. A perspective view prepared by Crouch & Wilson in November 1865 (Figure I) confirms
this was the new bluestone schoolroom, which was recorded in the rate book for the following year, as a
[0-room stone building (NLA, RB).

Figure 1: Perspective view prepared by Crouch & Wilson (Source: National Library of Australia)
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By 1870 the school was being managed by James’ son, William P. Bonwick. In July 1871 William and his wife
opened a Hofwyl School in Hawthorn and by August of that year offered the lease of the premises at St
Kilda (South Bourke Standard, 7 July 1871, p.3; The Argus, 19 August 1871, p.3). The school re-opened in
January 1872 under new principal Alexander Gillespie (The Argus, 30 December 1871, p.7).

Figure 2: Extract of Vardy plan showing the school (red arrow) and residence (green arrow)

In late 1878 Mr. RS. Bradley came to Melbourne from Stawell, having sold the Grammar School he had
established there. He leased Hofwyl House, before purchasing it and changing the name to Queen’s
College. When Bradley took over the school there were 40 students on the roll, and by 1898 (when
Bradley was still principal) this had increased to 120 and additions had been made to the building, which by
then numbered |16 rooms (The Age, 16 December 1898, p.9; RB). Bradley retired in 1905.

Figure 3: Extract of MMBW Detail Plan 1374, showing the schoolin 1897. Note the additions to the original building when
compared with the Vardy Plan, additional ‘School Room’ and another building to the right of the original building.
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Queen’s College remained open until 1922, when it was relocated to the Day School at Christ Church, St
Kilda, and in 1923 the old school building was converted to the Queen’s Court flats (BP; The Prahran
Telegraph, 13 October 1922, p.6 ‘Bonwick’s School’). The original building was retained, rendered balconies
with arched openings replaced the front timber verandah and bluestone porch, and the side and rear walls
were rendered (Figure 4). Seven tenants were listed in the 1925 directory (SM).

Figure 4: Queen’s Court flats c. 1930 (Source: Port Philip City Collection)

In 1941, a three-storey building containing five shops on the ground level with flats above was constructed
in front of the Queen’s Court flats for Messrs. Baron and Brilliant. G.J. & B. Sutherland of 396 Collins Street
were the architects. This resulted in the loss of the balconies added in 1922, which were replaced with a
brick stairwell connecting the former Hofwyl School with the new building.

In 1998 the complex was renovated and upgraded. Conservation works carried out to the former Hofwyl
School included the removal of render to reveal the original bluestone and brick walls, re-slating of the roof
and repairs/restoration of some windows. Alterations and additions were made at the rear, and steel
balconies constructed along the rear (east) elevation of the 1941 building overlooking the former Hofwyl
School.

James Bonwick (1817-1906) is remembered as one of the ‘literary pioneers’ of Australia. After emigrating
with his wife to Tasmania from England in 184| he accepted a post on the teaching staff of the Normal
School in Hobart. He began to write textbooks for Australian students and his first book ‘Geography for
the use of Australian youth’ was published in Hobart in 1845. His books numbered more than 60 and dealt
with a variety of subjects: ‘Port Phillip settlement’, published in 1883, was recognized as a valuable
contribution to the history of Victoria (The Age, 30 March 1840, p.9).

Crouch & Wilson, established in 1857 by the partnership of Tasmanian-born Thomas J. Crouch and Ralph
Wilson (who had recently emigrated from London) was a prominent and distinguished architectural firmin
Melbourne during the nineteenth century. The firm designed numerous residential, commercial and
community buildings, including many Presbyterian and Wesleyan churches, several of which are now
included on the Victorian Heritage Register. Some of their notable commissions include the St Kilda
Wesleyan Methodist Church (1857-58, H818), Longerenong Homestead (1862, H290), the Victorian Deaf
& Dumb Institution (1866-71, H2122), Prahran Town Hall (1860-78, H203), Welsh Church & Hall (1871,
H536), and Malvern Town Hall (1886-1890, H2288) (VHD).
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The firm also designed several buildings for Melbourne’s Jewish community including three residences in St
Kilda: Toldara, 40 Alma Road (1868-69, Citation 2385), Rondebosch, 25-27 Chapel Street (1868, H754),
and Wilgah at 6 Burnett Street (1864, H760, H761), as well as Ensor in East Melbourne for Joseph Levy
(1875, H860), Ardee in East Melbourne for Lawrence Benjamin (1881, H859), the first St Kilda Hebrew
Congregation Synagogue (1872, demolished) and the East Melbourne Synagogue (1877, H495) (VHD).

T.J. Crouch lived in St Kilda and was a member of the local Wesleyan Methodist Church. Crouch & Wilson
had a business association with the St Kilda builder and developer, Thomas Newton. Newton constructed
the house at 12 Waterloo Crescent, St Kilda (HO275) where Crouch lived for several years from 1866
until the early 1870s.

Gordon J. Sutherland was elected associate of the Royal Victorian Institute of Architectsin 1917 and the
following year won a competition for the design of a new Architectural Atelier building at Melbourne
University, which he carried out in conjunction with University architects, Bates, Peebles & Smart. He acted
as an assistant lecturer in architecture at Melbourne University in 1934 and in 1938, he was appointed by
the Royal Victorian Institute of Architects to the Board of Architectural Education committee of examiners.
Sutherland also contributed several articles to popular home and building journals and his designs were
published in Real Property Annual, The Argus and Australian Home Building. He became a Fellow of the RVIA in
1935 and from about 1937, Gordon worked in partnership with his younger brother Bruce Sutherland
(AAIl, Heritage Victoria).

His architectural work predominmantly consisted of residential buildings in a range of styles, including Arts &
Crafts, Mediterranean and Spanish Revival, and, by the mid to late 1930s, Moderne. In Port Phillip
Sutherland designed several houses and flats in the 1920s and 1930s. His residential work of the early 1920s
such as Clovelly flats, 5| Robe Street (1923) shows the influence of the Arts & Crafts style, which is also
evident at Inverleith Court, 14A Acland Street (1926); however, the latter building also shows a transition
toward the Mediterranean and Spanish Mission styles that he would favour through the late 1920s and early
1930s. This can be seen at Inverleith Mansions, | | Eildon Road, St Kilda designed two years after Inverleith
Court, which includes a distinctive cross-braced ‘X’ motif in the parapet that featured in several of his
buildings of this period. In Port Phillip it was first used at Neville Court, |5 Hennessy Avenue, Elwood
(1927) and it appeared in other Sutherland buildings across Victoria including the Argo Hotel, South Yarra
(1927) and the Kaniva Shire Hall (1929). His work of the later 1930s, in partnership with his brother Bruce,
was predominantly in the Moderne style, one example being Carmel Court, the flats and shops at 188
Barkly Street, St Kilda (1941).

The Sandringham Masonic Hall, designed at the height of Gordon’s career in 1931, is a rare example of the
Egyptian Revival style and is included on the Victorian Heritage Register.

Cooper, John Butler, The history of St Kilda. From its first settlement to a city and after, 1840to 1930. Volume
[, 1931

Melbourne & Metropolitan Board of Works (MMBW) Detail Plan 1374, dated 1897

National Library of Australia, ‘Perspective view Mr Bonwick’s new residence, Barkly St, St Kilda [picture]/
Crouch & Wilson’, 10 November 1865, ID 282375

Peel, Victoria, St Michael's Grammar School. A study in educational change, 1999

‘Plan of the Borough of St Kilda Surveyed and Complied under the direction of the Borough Council by
J.E.S. Vardy’, 1873 (Vardy Plan)

Port Phillip Heritage Review (PPHR) Volume |, Version |17, September 2015

St Kilda Council building permits (BP): 5231, 22 March 1923 (Queen’s Courtadditions); 10841, | | June
1941 (Carmel Court).

St Kilda rate books (RB): February 1865 (no listing); January 1866 (no. in rate 914, 915) 1867 (920, 921),
1868 (955, 956); March 1870 (989, 990), 1883 (1328); 1894 (1774)
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Victoria. Surveyor-General (1855) Melbourne and its suburbs [cartographic material] compiled by James
Kearney, draughtsman; engraved by David Tulloch and James R. Brown (referred to as the ‘Kearney Plan’)

Figure 5 shows the approximate stages of building based on a comparison of the Vardy and MMBWV plans
with more recent building plans and aerial photographs. The key stages are:

e The 1865 bluestone and brick former Hofwyl School designed by Crouch & Wilson (Green)
e Late nineteenth century additions (Yellow)
e The 1941 shops and flats (Carmel Court) (Orange)

The other buildings in Figure 4 are late twentieth century and are of no significance.

Figure 5: Stages of building

The former Hofwyl School is a two-storey building in the Picturesque Gothic style, which is constructed of
random coursed bluestone with cream brick dressings, with a slate roof. As originally constructed, it was
symmetrical in plan with gabled bays on either side of the central entry. At the front, the roofs now have a
jerkinhead profile and there are twin gablets to the side elevations. The gables are decorated with ornate
bargeboards with finials to the side gablets. The windows are lancets/pointed heads to the first floor and
have square heads to the ground floor with both styles grouped in a tripartite arrangement to the front
bays. The chimneys are of brick and bluestone and taper to a fully cream brick shaft with shaped, rendered
tops. The entry door to the building in the east elevation has a pointed head, with another pointed head
door within the entry. Both have leadlight glass, which may date to the 1920s renovation.

Behind the bluestone section is a narrower wing with rendered walls and a separate hipped roof (partially
in slate), which may form part of the 1865 building, but is now much altered. Behind this are two more
sections with separate hipped roofs, which appear to date from the late nineteenth century, but are also
much altered. Behind this there are late twentieth century additions, and a freestandinglate twentieth
century building at the rear of the property.

Carmel Court is a three-storey building comprised of five ground floor shops with flats above in the
interwar Streamline Moderne style. The symmetrical facade is constructed of cream brick and has a solid
parapet with a low square pediment that is capped with a row of dog-tooth brickwork. At the centre are
protruding bricks, which once supported a flagpole, and at either end are what appear to be original
rainheads and downpipes, emphasizing the symmetry. The timber framed windows are contained within a
slightly projecting bay between a rendered hood, a broad rendered band with expressed horizontal lines
across the middle and another rendered band below. The strong horizontality of this feature is further
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emphasized by the incised ‘speed lights’ set into the brick between and beside the windows, which have
horizontal glazing bars. Of note are the original shopfronts. Unusually, given the symmetry of the building,
the entry to the flats is placed slightly off centre resulting in two shops to the north of the entry and three
to the south. The entry has metal gates with ‘Carmel Court’. The shops all retain metal framed shopfronts
with angled outside corners, and ingos with angled reveals and tiled floors. The highlight windows above
have reeded glass. The shopfronts are surrounded by ceramic tiles in orange, light blue and black. The
orange tiles create an octagonal border around the shopfronts, and a solid band between them, and are
surrounded by light blue tiles with black tiles at the base.

The original brick residence constructed by Bonwick remains on the property to the south (190 Barkly
Street). It is constructed in rendered brickwork on a stone plinth and other details include paired eaves
brackets. However, the fagade of the building has been obliterated by the shops constructed during the
interwar period.

The former Hofwyl School is significant for its rarity. Substantial, purpose-built, private school buildings
built in the first decades of European settlementin Victoria are very rare and this is the earliest surviving
example in Port Phillip (Previous heritage assessments have suggested this could be the only private school
building of the period extant in Victoria). The only other purpose-built private school in Port Phillip is the
former Priory Ladies’ School at 61 Alma Road, St Kilda East, which was designed by EG Kilburn in 1890
(Citation 289). The construction of the school in bluestone in the Tudor/Gothic style reflects a desire by
the founder to invoke the prestige of traditional English colleges following the precedent established by
leading schools such as Melbourne Grammar.

The former Hofwyl School is a rare example of a bluestone building south of the Yarra. Such buildings,
except for churches, are uncommon on account of the transport problems involved in getting the stone
(which was sourced from places to the north and west of Melbourne) to the site. This is also a very early
use of cream brick. Brickmaker John Glew, of Brunswick, developed production of cream bricks from the
early 1860s, which were first used as dressings for bluestone buildings, and then in polychromatic
brickwork.

Carmel Court is a representative example of an interwar mixed-use development comprising shops with
flats above. This type of development became increasingly popular in St Kilda during the interwar period
and Carmel Court is notable as a substantial and highly intact example, which retains all the original
shopfronts. In many other comparable examples such as Boncap, 49 Fitzroy Street, St Kilda (Citation 1477)
and Edmaro, 31 Fitzroy Street, St Kilda (Citation 1474), the shopfronts have been modified or replaced.

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the Australia
ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (The Burra Charter) 2013, using the Hercon
criteria.

2021: Retain as a Significant place within the Village Belle Commercial precinct.

1998: Include in the schedule to the Heritage Overlay Table in the Port Phillip Planning Scheme.
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David Helms, HO7 Elwood St Kilda Balaclava Ripponlea Precinct heritage review Stage 2: Review of existing

heritage citations (Part 2), 2022

Andrew Ward & Associates, City of Port Phillip Heritage Review, 1998
David Bick, St Kilda Conservation Study Area 2, 1985
Robert Peck von Hartel Trethowan, St Kilda 20th century architectural study, Volume 3, 1992

Carmel Court — top left, street elevation; top right, entry to flats with wrought iron sign; bottom left original pressed metal soffit;
bottom right: original metal-framed shopfronts with ingos and tiled surrounds.
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Place name: Clarendon

Other names: Flats
Address: 26-28 Blessington Street,
St Kilda

Category: Residential: Flats

Style: Federation/Edwardian:
Arts & Crafts; Interwar

Constructed: 1915, 1935
Designer: Joseph Plottel
Amendment: C206

Comment: Revised citation

Citation No:
295

Heritage Precinct: St Kilda Botani